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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

[x] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended January 3, 2015

or
[ 1 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 1-5480

Textron Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its arart

Delaware 05-031546¢
(State or other jurisdiction « (I.R.S. Employe
incorporation or organizatioi Identification No.)

40 Westminster Street, Providence, R 02903

(Address of principal executive office (Zip code)

Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area C¢de1) 421-2800
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(IhefAct:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registere
Common Stocl— par value $0.12 New York Stock Exchang

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(¢gh@”Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vkelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40%dbéturities Act. Yesv’  No__
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act. Yes  No_v

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant é filed all reports required to be filed by Secti3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4L88rin¢
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter petiatithe registrant was required to file such reg)pand (2) has been subject to such filing nesents fc
the past 90 days. Yesv  No____

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ibsnitted electronically and posted on its corpokeb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to bt
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Régul&-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shrgperiod that the registrant was require
submit and post such files). Yes”  No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of RegulatiorkSs not contained herein, and will not be contdin®e the best «
registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or imfisation statements incorporated by reference ihIRanf this Form 10-K or any amendment to thisrfol0-

K[ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-axxelerated filer or a smaller reporting compa®g¢
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelezd filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rul&b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer [v ] Accelerated filer [ ]

Non-accelerated filer [ ] Smaller reporting company _[ ]
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Adtds__ No_ v

The aggregate market value of the registrant's ComBtock held by noaffiliates at June 28, 2014 was approximately $1illn based on the New Ya
Stock Exchange closing price for such shares drdéta. The registrant has no non-voting commoritgqu

At February 7, 2015, 276,834,630 shares of ComntockSvere outstanding.

Documents Incorporated by Reference

Part 11l of this Report incorporates informatioorr certain portions of the registrant’s DefinitiReoxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Sharebdddo be
held on April 22, 2015.
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PART |
Item 1. Business

Textron Inc. is a multindustry company that leverages its global netwafrkaircraft, defense, industrial and finance busses to provic
customers with innovative products and servicesirsdahe world. We have approximately 34,000 emgésyworldwide. Textron Inc. w
founded in 1923 and reincorporated in Delaware wn 31, 1967. Unless otherwise indicated, referertoe“Textron Inc.,” the “Company,”
“we,” “our” and “us” in this Annual Report on FortD-K refer to Textron Inc. and its consolidatedsdlaries.

On March 14, 2014, we completed the acquisitiorBeéch Holdings, LLC, which included Beechcraft Guogiion and other subsidiar
(collectively “Beechcraft”). We combined Beechéenafth our legacy Cessna segment to form the Texftaiation segment.

We conduct our business through five operating sesn Textron Aviation, Bell, Textron Systems amalustrial, which represent ¢
manufacturing businesses, and Finance, which reptesur finance business. A description of tharmss of each of our segments is set
below. Our business segments include operaticatsatte unincorporated divisions of Textron Inc. atiders that are separately incorpor
subsidiaries. Financial information by businesgnsent and geographic area appears in Note 15 t€dnsolidated Financial Statements
pages 72 through 73 of this Annual Report on FobAK1 The following description of our business shibllle read in conjunction wi
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operationsfi pages 19 through 36 of this Annual Repol
Form 10-K. Information included in this Annual Repon Form 10-K refers to our continuing busineaseless otherwise indicated.

Textron Aviation Segment

Textron Aviation is a leader in general aviatioexfron Aviation manufactures, sells and servicesdBeraft and Cessna aircraft, and sen
the Hawker brand of business jets. The segmentwaprincipal product lines: aircraft sales anceaftarket. Aircraft sales include busir
jets, turboprop aircraft, piston aircraft, and taity trainer and defense aircraft. Aftermarketudes parts sales, and maintenance, inspe
and repair services. Revenues in the Textron frisgegment accounted for approximately 33%, 23#%25% of our total revenues in 20
2013 and 2012, respectively. Revenues for TexAngation’s principal lines of business were as dolk:

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012

Aircraft sales $ 3182 $ 1868 $ 2,318
Aftermarket 1,386 916 793
Total revenue $ 4568 $ 2,784 $ 3,111

The family of jets currently produced by Textroni&ton includes the Mustang, Citation M2, Citati@3+, Citation CJ4, Citation XLS
Citation Sovereign+ and the recently certified Gita X+, the fastest civilian jet in the world. &ddition, Textron Aviation is developing
Citation Latitude, a midsize business jet expettednter into service in 2015, as well as the lajgation Longitude expected to enter |
service in 2017.

Textron Aviation’s turboprop aircraft include thedtselling business turboprop family in the world, tieg Air, which offers the King Al
C90GTXx, with recently announced performance enharats, the King Air 250, available with a new pagdaipgrade and the King Air 3£
The world’s besselling utility turboprop, the Cessna Caravan,dediin the United States primarily for overnighpesss package shipme
and for personal transportation. InternationabusfeCaravans include air taxi service, humanitefiights, tourism and freight transport.

Textron Aviation’s singleengine piston aircraft include the Baron, Bonai®&g,hawk SP, Turbo Stationair and the high perforceahiTx. Thi
Turbo Skylane JT-A, Textron Aviation’s first JetfAeled piston aircraft is expected to be certified begin delivering in 2015.

Textron Aviation also offers the T-6 trainer and-ATight attack military aircraft. During 2014, Teean Aviation received new orders from
U.S. Government, Mexico and New Zealand for T-@raifit. More than 25 countries now operate thé dircraft as a part of their milite
training fleet.

The Textron Aviation family of aircraft is suppadtdy a global network of 21 service centers operate Textron Aviation, two of which a
codocated with Bell Helicopter, along with 401 autized independent service centers located in 49tdesrthroughout the world. Textr
Aviation-owned service centers provide custometh @dl-hour service and maintenance. Textron
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Aviation provides its customers with around-theeklparts support and also offers ServiceDiref®Citation, King Air and Hawker aircral
ServiceDirect®delivers service capabilities directly to custonmrations with a mobile service unit fleet in thaitéd States, Canada ¢
Europe.

Textron Aviation markets its products worldwidedbgh its own sales force, as well as through a otwf authorized independent s
representatives. Textron Aviation has several aditgygs domestically and internationally in variongrket segments. Textron Aviatian’
aircraft compete with other aircraft that vary ines speed, range, capacity and handling charatitarion the basis of price, product quality
reliability, direct operating costs, product sugpord reputation.

Bell Segment

Bell Helicopteris one of the leading suppliers of military and eoencial helicopters, tiltrotor aircraft, and reldtgpare parts and services in
world. Revenues for Bell accounted for approxitya®l%, 37% and 35% of our total revenues in 202@13 and 2012, respective
Revenues by Bell's principal lines of business wasdollows:

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Military:
V-22 Progran $ 1771 $ 1755 $ 1,611
Other Military 860 959 940
Commercia 1,614 1,797 1,723
Total revenue $ 4245 $ 4511 $ 4,274

Bell supplies advanced military helicopters andpgupto the U.S. Government and to military custmsneutside the United States. Bell’
primary U.S. Government programs are the V-22otittr aircraft and the H-helicopters. Bell is one of the leading suppglief helicopters 1
the U.S. Government and, in association with TheiBgp Company (Boeing), the only supplier of miljtdiftrotor aircraft. Tiltrotor aircraft a
designed to provide the benefits of both helicaptend fixedwing aircraft. Through its strategic alliance wiBoeing, Bell produces a
supports the V-22 tiltrotor aircraft for the U.Sefmartment of Defense (DoD). The U.S. Marine Caotgk helicopter program includes a uti
model, the UH-1Y, and an advanced attack modelAthel Z, which have 84% parts commonality betweemth

Through its commercial business, Bell is a leadingplier of commercially certified helicopters aswpport to corporate, offshore petrole
exploration and development, utility, charter, peli fire, rescue, emergency medical helicopter aipes and foreign governments. |
produces a variety of commercial aircraft types|uding light single- and twin-engine helicopterslanedium twinengine helicopters, alo
with other related products. The helicopters auttyeoffered by Bell for commercial applicationinde the 20614, 407, 407GX, 412EP/EI
429 and Huey II. The new 505 Jet Ranger X, a digitt-single helicopter, achieved its first fligint late 2014. In addition, Bell continues
develop the 525 Relentless, its first super mediommercial helicopter, and first flight is expecte®015.

For both its military programs and its commerciedqucts, Bell provides posiale support and service for an installed basgpfaximatel
13,000 helicopters through a network of eight Bglerated service centers, four supply centers aed D00 independent service cen
located in 34 countries. Collectively, these sersites offer a complete range of logistics supjracluding parts, support equipment, techr
data, training devices, pilot and maintenance itngincomponent repair and overhaul, engine repairaverhaul, aircraft modifications, airci
customizing, accessory manufacturing, contractdnteaance, field service and product support ergging.

Bell competes against a number of competitors tjinout the world for its helicopter business anchdsts and support business. Compet
is based primarily on price, product quality ankhiglity, product support, performance and repiotat
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Textron Systems Segment

Textron Systemsproduct lines consist of unmanned aircraft systamarine and land systems, weapons and sensordaionutraining an
other defense and aviation mission support prodartsservices. Textron Systems is a supplieraadtfense, aerospace and general av
markets, and represents approximately 12%, 14%il4fd of Textrons revenues in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivelys Jegment sells
products to U.S. Government customers and to cus®putside the U.S. through foreign military sapensored by the U.S. Government
directly through commercial sales channels. Tex8gstems competes on the basis of technologyramimerformance, price, product que
and reliability, product support and reputatiorevBnues by Textron Systems’ product lines werelksas:

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Unmanned Systen $ 797 $ 666 $ 694
Weapons and Sensc 264 311 285
Marine and Land Systen 158 392 443
Simulation, Training and Othi 405 296 315
Total revenue $ 1624 $ 1665 $ 1,737

Unmanned Systems

Unmanned Systems consists of the Unmanned SystecthSapport Solutions businesses. The Unmanned@gsbusiness has desigr
manufactured and fielded combat-proven unmannectadtrsystems for more than 25 years, including th8. Army’s premier tactici
unmanned aircraft system, the Shadow. This busimesnmanned aircraft and interoperable command antiat technologies provide critic
situational awareness and actionable intelligenceusers worldwide. Our Support Solutions busimessides logistical support for varic
unmanned systems as well as training and suppiy sleavices to government and commercial customeridwide.

Weapons and Sensors
The Weapons and Sensors business consists oi$itite-art smart weapons; airborne and grobased sensors and surveillance systems
protection systems for the defense and aerospdaustiies. It primarily sells its products to intational allies through foreign military sales.

Marine and Land Systen

The Marine and Land Systems business is a worldele@n the design, production and support of armhorehicles, turrets and rela
subsystems as well as advanced marine craft. odumes a family of extremely mobile, highly proteetvehicles for the U.S. Army a
international allies, and is developing the U.Svi{s next generation air cushion vehicle.

Simulation, Training and Other

Simulation, Training and Other includes five busgms: TRU Simulation + Training, Lycoming, ElecimSystems, Advanced Informat
Solutions and Geospatial Solutions. TRU SimulatioriTraining designs, develops, manufactures, irsstalhd provides maintenance
advanced flight training courseware and deviceduding full flight simulators, for both rotary- drfixed-wing aircraft for commercial airline
aircraft original equipment manufacturers (OEM&ghtt training centers and training organizationsridwide. Through its training cente
TRU Simulation + Training provides initial tygeting and recurrency training for pilots. Lycomisigecializes in the engineering, manufac
service and support of piston aircraft enginestlfier general aviation and remotely piloted aircraftrkets. Electronic Systems provides |
technology test equipment and electronic warfasedad training solutions. Advanced Informationu$ions and Geospatial Solutions proy
intelligence software solutions for U.S. and intgional defense, intelligence and law enforcementraunities.

Industrial Segment
Our Industrial segment designs and manufacturesiaty of products under three principal producéd. Industrial segment revenues we
follows:

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Fuel Systems and Functional Compont $ 1975 $ 1853 $ 1,842
Specialized Vehicles and Equipmt 868 713 660
Tools and Test Equipme 495 446 398
Total revenue $ 333 $ 3,012 $ 2,900
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Fuel Systems and Functional Compon

Our Fuel Systems and Functional Components prdihects operated by our Kautex business unit, wiécheadquartered in Bonn, Germa
Kautex is a leading developer and manufactured@fdmolded plastic fuel systems for cars, lightcks, allterrain vehicles, windshield a
headlamp washer systems for automobiles and sademdtalytic reduction systems used to reduce éonis$rom diesel engines. Kautex se
the global automobile market, with operating faig near its major customers around the world.t&awlso produces cast iron enc
camshafts and develops and produces plastic baitidscontainers for food, household, laboratory imadistrial uses. Revenues of Kat
accounted for approximately 14%, 15% and 15% oftotal revenues in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respewgtivel

Our automotive products have several major congrstivorldwide, some of which are affiliated withret®@EMs that comprise our targe
customer base. Competition typically is based oniaber of factors including price, technology, ieowmental performance, product que
and reliability, prior experience and available mf@cturing capacity.

Specialized Vehicles and Equipment

Our Specialized Vehicles and Equipment product limgdudes the products designed, manufactured afdl Iy our Textron Specializ
Vehicles and Jacobsen businesses. Textron Spedalighicles, which includes E-Z-GO, Bad Boy Buggsesi Cushman, and the recently
acquired TUG Technologies and Douglas Equipmeninbases, designs, manufactures and sells golf offrspad utility vehicles, ligt
transportation vehicles and aviation ground suppgtipment. Although Textron Specialized Vehiclesdést known for its electrieehicle
technology, it also manufactures and sells modeteeped by internal combustion engines. Textronciieed Vehiclesdiversified custome
base includes golf courses and resorts, governmgencies and municipalities, consumers, and comahesind industrial users such
factories, warehouses, airports, planned communitianting preserves and educational and corpaatguses. Sales are made throu
combination of factory direct resources and a netved independent distributors and dealers worléwiBlextron Specialized Vehicles has
major competitors for golf cars and several oth@mnpetitors for offroad and light transportation vehicles and for #raground suppa
equipment. Competition is based primarily on prim@duct quality and reliability, product suppartd reputation.

Jacobsen designs, manufactures and sells profasgimf-maintenance equipment, as well as speedliwrfcare vehicles. Brand nan
include Ransomes, Jacobsen, Cushman and Dixie @hoppich was acquired in 2014. Jacobsettstomers include golf courses, re
communities, sporting venues, municipalities antd$gaping professionals. Products are sold prynérrough a worldwide network
distributors and dealers, as well as factory dirdatobsen has two major competitors for professiamf-maintenance equipment and sev
other major competitors for specialized todre products. Competition is based primarily oicey product features, product quality
reliability and product support.

Tools and Test Equipment

The Tools and Test Equipment product line inclusiesiucts sold by businesses that design and maotggoowered equipment, electrical
and measurement instruments, mechanical and hydtaals, cable connectors, fiber optic assembliesierground and aerial transmission
distribution products and power utility producthi€be businesses also encompass the Greenlee, deré&mhmunications, Greenlee Util
HD Electric, Klauke, Sherman & Reilly, Rothenbergard Endura brand names, and their products ack préecipally in the constructio
maintenance, telecommunications, data communicgtielectrical, utility and plumbing industries. éiihproducts are distributed throug
global network of sales representatives and digioifs and are also sold directly to home improveametailers and OEMs. The busines
operate 13 plants across four countries with alrb68 of their combined revenue coming from outglie United States. These busine
face competition from numerous manufacturers basedarily on price, delivery lead time, product tityaand reliability.

Finance Segment

Our Finance segment, or the Finance group, is ay@wial finance business that consists of Textromarkcial Corporation (TFC) and
consolidated subsidiaries. The Finance segmenigesvinancing primarily to purchasers of new anekgvned Textron Aviation aircraft a
Bell helicopters. The majority of new finance re@diles are croslserder transactions for aircraft sold outside & thS. New originations
the U.S. are primarily for purchasers who had dify in accessing other sources of financing fog purchase of Textromanufacture
products. In 2014, 2013 and 2012, our Financempaid our Manufacturing group $215 million, $248lion and $309 million, respectivel
related to the sale of Textron-manufactured pragitecthird parties that were financed by the Firagroup.

The commercial finance business traditionally isr&axely competitive. Our Finance segment is suliigatompetition from various types
financing institutions, including banks, leasingmgmnies, commercial finance companies and finammErations of equipment vendo
Competition within the commercial finance indugbrymarily is focused on price, term, structure aedvice.
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Our Finance segment’s largest business risk isctiikectability of its finance receivable portfolioSee “Finance Portfolio Qualityln
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€aindition and Results of Operationsh page 28 for information about the Fine
segment’s credit performance.

Backlog
Our backlog at the end of 2014 and 2013 is summedizlow:

January 3, December 28
(In millions) 2015 2013
Bell $ 5,524 $ 6,450
Textron System 2,790 2,803
Textron Aviation 1,365 1,018
Total backloc $ 9,679 % 10,271

Approximately 52% of our total backlog at JanuayR@15 represents orders that are not expected fitida in 2015.

At the end of 2014, approximately 66% of our tdiatklog was with the U.S. Government, which incthdaly funded amounts as the L
Government is obligated only up to the amount offfag formally appropriated for a contract. Bel2014 backlog included $2.0 billion rels
to a multi-year procurement contract with the WSvernment for the purchase of V-22 tiltrotor adftr

U.S. Government Contracts

In 2014, approximately 28% of our consolidated neses were generated by or resulted from contraithstie U.S. Government. This busin
is subject to competition, changes in procuremeaticies and regulations, the continuing availapilif funding, which is dependent ug
congressional appropriations, national and intéwnat priorities for defense spending, world evemtsd the size and timing of program:
which we may participate.

Our contracts with the U.S. Government generally ioa terminated by the U.S. Government for convereeor if we default in whole or
part by failing to perform under the terms of tipplécable contract. If the U.S. Government terrtésaa contract for convenience, we norn
will be entitled to payment for the cost of contramrk performed before the effective date of teration, including, if applicable, reasone
profit on such work, as well as reasonable termonatosts. If, however, the U.S. Government teatea a contract for default, gener:
(a) we will be paid the contract price for comptetsupplies delivered and accepted and servicesereddan agreedpon amount fc
manufacturing materials delivered and acceptedfandhe protection and preservation of propertyd @am amount for partially complet
products accepted by the U.S. Government; (b) tf8&2 Government may not be liable for our costs wétspect to unaccepted items and
be entitled to repayment of advance payments angr@ss payments related to the terminated portbtise contract; (c) the U.S. Governrr
may not be liable for assets we own and utiliz@ravide services under the “fee-for-serviagntracts; and (d) we may be liable for ex
costs incurred by the U.S. Government in procudndelivered items from another source.

Research and Development
Information regarding our research and developragpénditures is contained in Note 1 to the Conatdid Financial Statements on page £
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Patents and Trademarks

We own, or are licensed under, numerous patentaigiiout the world relating to products, serviced arethods of manufacturing. Pate
developed while under contract with the U.S. Goment may be subject to use by the U.S. Governm\it.also own or license act
trademark registrations and pending trademark egipdins in the U.S. and in various foreign coustide regions, as well as trade names
service marks. While our intellectual property tigin the aggregate are important to the operatfasur business, we do not believe that
existing patent, license, trademark or other iatdllal property right is of such importance thatlitss or termination would have a matt
adverse effect on our business taken as a wholae % these trademarks, trade names and servidesraeg used in this Annual Report
Form 10-K and other reports, including: Aeronaaitidccessories; AAl; acAlert; Ascent; Aerosonde; AHB; Ambush; Arc Horizor
AVCOAT; Bad Boy Buggies; Baron; BattleHawk; Beeddity Beechcraft T6: Bell; Bell Helicopter; Bonanza; Bravo; Cadill@age; Carava
Caravan Amphibian; Caravan 675; Cessna; Cessna G&8sna 400; Cessna Corvalis TTX; Cessna TurboaB&ylJTA; Cessna Turk
Skyhawk JTA; Citation; CITATION ALPINE EDITION; Citation Encre+; Citation Latitude; Citation Longitude; CitatioM2; Citatior
Sovereign; Citation X; Citation X+; Citation XLS€J1+; CJ2+; CJ3; CJ3+. CJ4; Clairity; CLAW; Comman@orvalis; Cushman; DataScc
Dixie Chopper; Eclipse; Excel; Extreme; ExtremeMETAL; E-Z-GO; Fury; GTS1930 Saber, G3 Tugger; GatorEye; Gator Grips; GLO
MISSION SUPPORT; Grand Caravan; Greenleel;HHDE; Hawker; Huey; Huey II; iCommand; IE2; Instt; Integrated Command Su
Jacobsen; Jet Ranger X; Kautex; King Air; King B80GTx; King Air
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250; King Air 350; Kiowa Warrior; Klauke; LF; Lycoimg; M1117 ASV; McCauley; Mechtronix; Millenworksylission Critical Suppo
(MCS): MissionLink (IVHM); Mustang; Next GeneratioBarbon Canister; Next Generation Fuel System; NGBGFS; Odyssey; On
Mission; OPINICUS; Overwatch; PDCue; Power Advastadrofit; ProParts; Ransomes; REALCue; REALFeel; Rec&élentles:
Rothenberger LLC; R®; RXV; Scorpion; Sensor Fuzed Weapon; ServiceDjr8tiadow; Shadow Knight; Shadow Master; SkyBOC
Skycatcher; Skyhawk; Skyhawk SP; Skylane; SkyPLS8yereign; Speed Punch; Spider; Stationair; ST 434per Cargomaster; Su
Medium; SuperCobra; SYMTX; TDCue; Textron; Textréwiation; Textron Defense Systems; Textron Finah&@arporation; Textro
Marine & Land Systems; Textron Systems; TRUESETUTHRmulation + Training; TUG; Turbo Skylane; TurBtationair; UH-1Y; VWatct
Connect; VALOR; V-22 Osprey; \280; 2FIVE; 206; 407; 407GT; 407GX; 412, 429, 5635 and 525 Relentless. These marks and
related trademark designs and logotypes (and i@ar&gtof the foregoing) are trademarks, trade naameservice marks of Textron Inc.,
subsidiaries, affiliates or joint ventures.

Environmental Considerations

Our operations are subject to numerous laws andatgns designed to protect the environment. d@mpe with these laws and expenditt
for environmental control facilities has not hadnaterial effect on our capital expenditures, eaysinr competitive position. Additior
information regarding environmental matters is eored in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financialestants on page 71 of this Annual Re
on Form 10-K.

We do not believe that existing or pending climatange legislation, regulation, or internationahtres or accords are reasonably likely to
a material effect in the foreseeable future onlmsginess or markets nor on our results of operstioapital expenditures or financial posit
We will continue to monitor emerging developmenmtstis area.

Employees
At January 3, 2015, we had approximately 34,000leyees.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following table sets forth certain informatiooncerning our executive officers as of February2Za.5.

Name Age Current Position with Textron Inc.

Scott C. Donnelly 53 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off

Frank T. Conno 55 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Cheryl H. Johnso 54 Executive Vice President, Human Resoul

E. Robert Lupon: 55 Executive Vice President, General Counsel, Segretad Chief Compliance Office

Mr. Donnelly joined Textron in June 2008 as Exeati/ice President and Chief Operating Officer arasywromoted to President and C
Operating Officer in January 2009. He was appointettie Board of Directors in October 2009 and bez&hief Executive Officer of Textr
in December 2009, at which time the Chief Opera€ficer position was eliminated. In July 2010,.Ndonnelly was appointed Chairmar
the Board of Directors effective September 1, 20F0eviously, Mr. Donnelly was the President andOC& General Electric Compary’
Aviation business unit, a position he had heldsifaly 2005. GE Aviation business unit is a $16 billion makecommercial and military j
engines and components, as well as integratedatligitectric power and mechanical systems for aftciPrior to July 2005, Mr. Donne
served as Senior Vice President of GE Global Rebeane of the world largest and most diversified industrial reseangjanizations wit
facilities in the U.S., India, China and Germany &eld various other management positions sinceéngiGeneral Electric in 1989.

Mr. Connor joined Textron in August 2009 as ExeeaitVice President and Chief Financial Officer. Foegly, Mr. Connor was head
Telecom Investment Banking at Goldman, Sachs & ®@mf2003 to 2008. Prior to that position, he serasdChief Operating Officer
Telecom, Technology and Media Investment Bankingsatdman, Sachs from 1998 to 2003. Mr. Connor jditlee Corporate Finan
Department of Goldman, Sachs in 1986 and becamrieeaPRresident in 1990 and a Managing Director 9619

Ms. Johnson was named Executive Vice President,dduResources in July 2012. Ms. Johnson joinedrdexh 1996 and has held varit
human resources leadership positions across Téstlarsinesses, including Senior Human Resources\@ssiPartner for Greenlee and \
President of Human Resources for EsD, a position she held from 2006 until joining IBeal 2009. At Bell, she most recently server
Director of Talent and Organizational DevelopmeRtior to Textron, Ms. Johnson held roles in humasources, marketing and sales,
finance disciplines at several organizations, idiclg IBM and Hamilton Sundstrand, a United Techgas Company.

Mr. Lupone joined Textron in February 2012 as ExieeuVice President, General Counsel, Secretary @htf Compliance Officel
Previously, he was senior vice president and génetmsel of Siemens Corporation (U.S.) since 1889 general
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counsel of Siemens AG for the Americas since 20B8or to joining Siemens in 1992, Mr. Lupone wacevpresident and general counse
Price Communications Corporation.

Available Information

We make available free of charge on our InternebWie (www.textron.com) our Annual Report on FdraK, Quarterly Reports ¢
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on FornK&nd amendments to those reports filed or furmighesuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Seieg
Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably pratgicter we electronically file such material witbr furnish it to, the Securities &
Exchange Commission.

Forward-Looking Information

Certain statements in this Annual Report on ForaiKldhd other oral and written statements made Hyams time to time are “forward¢boking
statements” within the meaning of the Private SéegrLitigation Reform Act of 1995. These forwdmbking statements, which may desc
strategies, goals, outlook or other ruetorical matters, or project revenues, incomiyrns or other financial measures, often includeds
such as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “interidiplan,” “estimate,” “guidance,” “project,” “targe’” “potential,” “will,” “should,” “could,”
“likely” or “may” and similar expressions intendéd identify forwardlooking statements. These statements are only gifea$ and involv
known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and othetdir's that may cause our actual results to diffeterially from those expressed or imp
by such forward-looking statements. Given theseettainties, you should not place undue reliancehmse forwardeoking statement
Forward-looking statements speak only as of the datwhich they are made, and we undertake noaifdigto update or revise any forward
looking statements. In addition to those fact@sadibed herein under “RISK FACTORSiong the factors that could cause actual req
differ materially from past and projected futursults are the following:

* Interruptions in the U.S. Government's ability tofl its activities and/or pay its obligations;

. Changing priorities or reductions in the U.S. Goweent defense budget, including those related titanyi operations in foreic
countries;

*  Our ability to perform as anticipated and to cohtaasts under contracts with the U.S. Government;

* The U.S. Government’s ability to unilaterally madir terminate its contracts with us for the U.®v&nments convenience or f
our failure to perform, to change applicable precuent and accounting policies, or, under certatuaistances, to withhold paym
or suspend or debar us as a contractor eligibledeive future contract awards;

. Changes in foreign military funding priorities oudget constraints and determinations, or changegouernment regulations
policies on the export and import of military armhamercial products;

«  Volatility in the global economy or changes in vewide political conditions that adversely impactdad for our products;

e Volatility in interest rates or foreign exchangées

. Risks related to our international business, inidlgdstablishing and maintaining facilities in ltoas around the world and relyi
on joint venture partners, subcontractors, supplieepresentatives, consultants and other busipagsers in connection wi
international business, including in emerging madaintries;

e Our Finance segment’s ability to maintain portfaiedit quality or to realize full value of recebles;

»  Performance issues with key suppliers or subcotatrsic

» Legislative or regulatory actions, both domestid &oreign, impacting our operations or demand forroducts;

»  Our ability to control costs and successfully inmpént various cost-reduction activities;

. The efficacy of research and development investmamtdevelop new products or unanticipated expeimsesnnection with tt
launching of significant new products or programs;

»  The timing of our new product launches or certiiimas of our new aircraft products;

*  Our ability to keep pace with our competitors ie thtroduction of new products and upgrades wittiuiees and technologies des
by our customers;

»  Pension plan assumptions and future contributions;

»  Continued demand softness or volatility in the negskn which we do business;

« Difficulty or unanticipated expenses in connectiath integrating acquired businesses; and

e The risk that anticipated synergies and opportesiéis a result of acquisitions will not be realipedhe risk that acquisitions do
perform as planned, including, for example, thk tiet acquired businesses will not achieve revemaeprofit projections.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business, financial condition and results afrafions are subject to various risks, includingsthdiscussed below, which may affeci
value of our securities. The risks discussed belmvhose that we believe currently are the mgsifsiant to our business.

We have customer concentration with the U.S. Government; reduction in U.S. Government defense spending may adver sely affect our results
of operations and financial condition.

During 2014, we derived approximately 28% of owereues from sales to a variety of U.S. Governmatities. Our revenues from the L
Government largely result from contracts awardecugounder various U.S. Government deferedated programs. The funding of th
programs is subject to congressional appropriatienisions and the U.S. Government budget processhwhcludes enacting relevi
legislation, such as appropriations bills and adsan the debt ceiling. Although multipyear contracts may be planned in connection
major procurements, Congress generally approprifateds on a fiscal year basis even though a prograay continue for several ye:
Consequently, programs often are only partiallydioh initially, and additional funds are committedlyo as Congress makes furt
appropriations. If we incur costs in excess offfanommitted on a contract, we are at risk for rembursement of those costs until additi
funds are appropriated. The reduction, terminatiomlelay in the timing of funding for U.S. Goveraent programs for which we currer
provide or propose to provide products or servioay result in a loss of anticipated future reverthes could materially and adversely img
our results of operations and financial conditiBignificant changes in national and internatiom@brties for defense spending could img
the funding, or the timing of funding, of our pragns, which could negatively impact our results pémations and financial condition.

Under the Budget Control Act of 2011, the U.S. Gameent committed to significantly reduce the fedlgleficit over ten years. As a res
longterm funding for various programs in which we papate, as well as future purchasing decisions lnylbS. Government custome
could be reduced, delayed or cancelled. In additioese cuts could adversely affect the viabilityhe suppliers and subcontractors unde!
programs. There are many variables in how thesediuduts could be implemented that make it diffidol determine specific impac
however, we expect that sequestration, as currentlyided for under the Budget Control Act, wouddult in lower revenues, profits and ¢
flows for our company. Such circumstances may atsult in an impairment of our goodwill and intangi assets. Because our |
Government contracts generally require us to costito perform even if the U.S. Government is undblenake timely payments; if, 1
example, the debt ceiling is not raised, and, essalt, our customer does not pay us on a timedysbave would need to finance our contin
performance of the impacted contracts from ourrotegources. An extended delay in the timely payrbgrthe U.S. Government could re:
in a material adverse effect on our cash flowsylte®f operations and financial condition.

U.S. Government contracts may be terminated at any time and may contain other unfavorable provisions.

The U.S. Government typically can terminate or riyodiny of its contracts with us either for its cemence or if we default by failing
perform under the terms of the applicable contréwtthe event of termination for the U.S. Govermi'g& convenience, contractors are gene
protected by provisions covering reimbursementcfusts incurred on the contracts and profit on thasts but not the anticipated profit 1
would have been earned had the contract been ctedplé\ termination arising out of our default failure to perform could expose us
liability, including but not limited to, liabilityfor reqprocurement costs in excess of the total origioatm@ct amount, net of the value of w
performed and accepted by the customer under titeamd. Such an event could also have an advéfieset en our ability to compete for futt
contracts and orders. If any of our contracts areninated by the U.S. Government whether for comrere or default, our backlog
anticipated revenues would be reduced by the eggdectlue of the remaining work under such contragte also enter into “fee for service”
contracts with the U.S. Government where we retaimership of, and consequently the risk of lossairgraft and equipment supplied
perform under these contracts. Termination oféhrmmtracts could materially and adversely impactresults of operations. On contracts
which we are teamed with others and are not theedontractor, the U.S. Government could termiagbeime contract under which we al
subcontractor, irrespective of the quality of omwducts and services as a subcontractor. In addith the event that the U.S. Governme
unable to make timely payments, failure to contigoetract performance places the contractor atafstermination for default. Any su
event could result in a material adverse effeabwncash flows, results of operations and finanoadition.

Asa U.S. Government contractor, we are subject to procurement rules and regulations.

We must comply with and are affected by laws amlilegions relating to the formation, administratemd performance of U.S. Governrr
contracts. These laws and regulations, among dliegs, require certification and disclosure of @kt and pricing data in connection v
contract negotiation, define allowable and unallbl@acosts and otherwise govern our right to reimmborent under certain cdsased U.S
Government contracts, and restrict the use aneémiisstion of classified information and the exptiota of certain products and technical d
Our U.S. Government contracts contain provisiora #llow the U.S. Government to unilaterally suspen debar us from receiving n
contracts for a period of time, reduce the valuexi$ting contracts, issue modifications to a cactirand control and potentially prohibit
export of our products, services and
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associated materials. A number of our U.S. Goventraontracts contain provisions that require uniéie disclosure to the Inspector Ger
of the agency that is our customer if we have tiledividence that we have violated U.S. criminaislanvolving fraud, conflict of interest,
bribery; the U.S. civil False Claims Act; or receiva significant overpayment under a U.S. Govertroentract. Failure to properly and tim
make disclosures under these provisions may risaltermination for default or cause, suspensiatia debarment, and potential fines.

Asa U.S. Government contractor, our businesses and systems are subject to audit and review by the Defense Contract Audit Agency (DCAA)
and the Defense Contract Management Agency (DCMA).

We operate in a highly regulated environment ardrautinely audited and reviewed by the U.S. Gomemit and its agencies such as D(
and DCMA. These agencies review our performanceuaadntracts, our cost structure and our compliavitte laws and regulations applica
to U.S. Government contractors. The systems thatsabject to review include, but are not limited dar accounting, estimating, mate
management and accounting, earned value managepouecihasing and government property systems. Huadit uncovers improper or illeg
activities we may be subject to civil and crimimmnalties and administrative sanctions that majudec the termination of our contrac
forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, $inend, under certain circumstances, suspensidatmrment from future contracts for a pe
of time. Whether or not illegal activities are gal, the U.S. Government also has the ability tyedese or withhold certain payments whi
deems systems subject to its review to be inadequ@ihese laws and regulations affect how we canbusiness with our governm
customers and, in some instances, impose addeslaostur business.

Cost overrunson U.S. Government contracts could subject usto losses or adversely affect our future business.

Under fixedprice contracts, as a general rule, we receivaea fprice irrespective of the actual costs we inand, consequently, any cost
excess of the fixed price are absorbed by us. Glgmimunderlying assumptions, circumstances omastis used in developing the pricing
such contracts may adversely affect our resultgpefations. Additionally, U.S. Government procurabylicies increasingly favor fixegrice
incentive-based fee arrangements rather than itaditfixedprice contracts; these fee arrangements could imegjatmpact our profitability
Other current U.S. Government policies could negétiimpact our working capital and cash flow. Eaample, the government has expre
a preference for requiring progress payments rathemn performance based payments on new fprese contracts, which if implement
delays our ability to recover a significant amoahtosts incurred on a contract and thus affeastithing of our cash flows. Under time
materials contracts, we are paid for labor at rniatgt hourly billing rates and for certain expendésder costeimbursement contracts that
subject to a contracteiling amount, we are reimbursed for allowabletsasd paid a fee, which may be fixed or perfornedmased, howevt
if our costs exceed the contract ceiling or areaflotvable under the provisions of the contracapplicable regulations, we may not be ab
obtain reimbursement for all such costs. Under égoé of contract, if we are unable to control sdaturred in performing under the contr
our cash flows, results of operations and financtaddition could be adversely affected. Cost ovesralso may adversely affect our abilit
sustain existing programs and obtain future coha@rds.

Demand for our aircraft productsis cyclical and could adversely affect our financial results.

Demand for business jets, turbo props and commdreleopters has been cyclical and difficult todoast. Therefore, future demand for ti
products could be significantly and unexpectedss lthan anticipated and/or less than previous gelgdiveries. Similarly, there is uncertai
as to when or whether our existing commercial bagiobr aircraft products will convert to revenuesthe conversion depends on produc
capacity, customer needs and credit availabilityar@@es in economic conditions may cause custorneegjtiest that firm orders be resched
or cancelled. Reduced demand for our aircraft petedar delays or cancellations of orders couldltéswa material adverse effect on our ¢
flows, results of operations and financial conditio

We may make acquisitions that increase the risks of our business.

We may enter into acquisitions in an effort to exgpaur business and enhance shareholder value.ighiops involve risks and uncertaint
that could result in our not achieving expecteddfien Such risks include difficulties in integrag newly acquired businesses and opera
in an efficient and costffective manner; challenges in achieving expesteategic objectives, cost savings and other bemndfie risk that tt
acquired businesses’ markets do not evolve asipatiid and that the acquired businespestucts and technologies do not prove to be -
needed to be successful in those markets; theh@lour due diligence reviews of the acquired iess do not identify or adequately asse:
of the material issues which impact valuation & Husiness or that may result in costs or liab#iiin excess of what we anticipated; the
that we pay a purchase price that exceeds whdtithiee results of operations would have merited;rikk that the acquired business may
significant internal control deficiencies or expasto regulatory sanctions; and the potential afdsey customers, suppliers and employet
the acquired businesses. In addition, unanticibatelays or difficulties in effecting acquisitiomsay prevent the consummation of
acquisition or divert the attention of our managetrend resources from our existing operations.

If our Finance segment is unable to maintain portfolio credit quality, our financial performance could be adversely affected .
A key determinant of the financial performance of &inance segment is the quality of loans, leaseisother assets in its portfolio. Portfi
quality may be adversely affected by several fagtimcluding finance receivable underwriting proaess,
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collateral value, geographic or industry concerdres, and the effect of general economic conditibmsaddition, a majority of the ne
originations in our finance receivable portfoliceacross-border transactions for aircraft sold detwf the U.S. Crodserder transactiol
present additional challenges and risks in realizipon collateral in the event of borrower defawijich may result in difficulty or delay
collecting on the related finance receivablesouf Finance segment has difficulty successfullyeming its finance receivable portfolio,
cash flow, results of operations and financial é¢ond could be adversely affected.

We may need to obtain financing in the future; such financing may not be available to us on satisfactory terms, if at all.

We may periodically need to obtain financing inertb meet our debt obligations as they come ausypport our operations and/or to
acquisitions. Our access to the debt capital marketl the cost of borrowings are affected by a rumbfactors including market conditic
and the strength of our credit ratings. If we cdrofiiain adequate sources of credit on favorabtageor at all, our business, operating res
and financial condition could be adversely affected

Failure to perform by our subcontractors or suppliers could adversely affect our performance.

We rely on other companies to provide raw materiakzjor components and subsystems for our prod8atscontractors also perform serv
that we provide to our customers in certain circiamses. We depend on these suppliers and subciomgréc meet our contractual obligati
to our customers and conduct our operations. Ollityatb meet our obligations to our customers nimy adversely affected if suppliers
subcontractors do not provide the agreed-upon mgpt perform the agreagon services in compliance with customer requirgsiand in
timely and coseffective manner. Likewise, the quality of our puots may be adversely impacted if companies to wheendelegal
manufacture of major components or subsystems diorpooducts, or from whom we acquire such items,ndb provide components
subsystems which meet required specifications anfbpn to our and our customeestpectations. Our suppliers may be less likely thsut
be able to quickly recover from natural disasterd ather events beyond their control and may bgestko additional risks such as finan
problems that limit their ability to conduct theiperations. The risk of these adverse effects neagrbater in circumstances where we rel
only one or two subcontractors or suppliers fomgipular raw material, product or service. In matar, in the aircraft industry, most ven
parts are certified by the regulatory agenciesa$ @f the overall Type Certificate for the aird¢rbking produced by the manufacturer.
vendor does not or cannot supply its parts, then ritanufactures production line may be stopped until the manufact can desig
manufacture and certify a similar part itself oentify and certify another similar vendsmart, resulting in significant delays in the cdetipn
of aircraft. Such events may adversely affect @gnarfcial results, damage our reputation and redatigps with our customers, and resu
regulatory actions and/or litigation.

Our business could be negatively impacted by information technology disruptions and security threats.

Our information technology (IT) and related systeans critical to the smooth operation of our businand essential to our ability to perfi
day to day operations. From time to time, we updatd/or replace IT systems used by our busineg§desimplementation of new systems
present temporary disruptions of business acti/iéie existing processes are transitioned to thesystems, resulting in productivity isst
including delays in production, shipments or othasiness operations. In addition, we outsourctaicesupport functions, including cert
global IT infrastructure services, to thipdity service providers. Any disruption of suchsmutrced processes or functions also could h
material adverse impact on our operations. Intaddias a U.S. defense contractor, we face cesedarity threats, including threats to ou
infrastructure, unlawful attempts to gain acceseup proprietary or classified information and #ieto the physical security of our facilil
and employees, as do our customers, supplierspsetractors and joint venture partners. Cybersgctinreats, such as malicious softw
attempts to gain unauthorized access to our camtiime classified or otherwise proprietary inforimoat or that of our employees or custom
as well as other security breaches, are persistentjnue to evolve and require highly skilled I&sources. While we have experier
cybersecurity attacks, we have not suffered anyern@tlosses relating to such attacks, and we bel@mur threat detection and mitigat
processes and procedures are robust. Due to theirey nature of these security threats, the pdggilof future material incidents cannot
completely mitigated. An IT system failure, issuetated to implementation of new IT systems or bheaf data security, whether of
systems or the systems of our service providergtoar third parties who may have access to our fdathusiness purposes, could disrupt
operations, cause the loss of business informaironompromise confidential information. Such anideat also could require significi
management attention and resources and increastx] and could adversely affect our competitivessour results of operations.

Developing new products and technologies entails significant risks and uncertainties.

To continue to grow our revenues and segment pnBt must successfully develop new products andni@ogies or modify our existil
products and technologies for our current and &utwarkets. Our future performance depends, in partpur ability to identify emergit
technological trends and customer requirementstamigvelop and maintain competitive products amdices. Delays or cost overruns in
development and acceptance of new products, aficatiopn of new aircraft and other products, coalflect our results of operations. Th
delays could be caused by unanticipated technalbdiardles, production changes to meet customeradds) unanticipated difficulties
obtaining required regulatory certifications of naircraft or other products, coordination with jougnture partners or failure on the part of
suppliers to deliver components as agreed. Wecalsltal be adversely affected if our research aneldgwment investments are less succe
than expected or if we do not adequately
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protect the intellectual property developed throtlgtse efforts. Likewise, new products and techgiebcould generate unanticipated safe
other concerns resulting in expanded product ligbiisks, potential product recalls and other datpry issues that could have an adv
impact on us. Furthermore, because of the lengthgarch and development cycle involved in bringiegain of our products to market,
cannot predict the economic conditions that willsexvhen any new product is complete. A reductiorcapital spending in the aerospac
defense industries could have a significant efecthe demand for new products and technologiegrudevelopment, which could have
adverse effect on our financial condition and ressaf operations. In addition, the market for owduct offerings may not develop or conti
to expand as we currently anticipate. Furthermare cannot be sure that our competitors will notedey competing technologies which ¢
superior market acceptance compared to our prodécggnificant failure in our new product devetoent efforts or the failure of our produ
or services to achieve market acceptance relativeit competitorsproducts or services could have an adverse effeouo financial conditio
and results of operations.

We are subject to therisks of doing businessin foreign countries.

Conducting business internationally, including Ue@ports, exposes us to additional risks than ifcaweducted our business solely within
U.S. We maintain manufacturing facilities, servianters, supply centers and other facilities woididwincluding in various emerging mar
countries. We also have entered into, and exgecbmtinue to enter into, joint venture arrangerséntemerging market countries, som
which may require capital investment, guarantieothrer commitments. We expect that our internatidsusiness and our investmen
emerging market countries will continue to incredisks related to international operations inclirdport, export and other trade restrictic
changing U.S. and foreign procurement policies pradtices; restrictions on technology transferfidifties in protecting intellectual proper
increasing complexity of employment and environragrtealth and safety regulations; foreign investintaws; exchange controls; repatria
of earnings or cash settlement challenges, congetitom foreign and multinational firms with honm®untry advantages; economic

government instability, acts of terrorism and rethsafety concerns. The impact of any one or robtaese or other factors could adver
affect our business, financial condition or opermgtiesults.

Additionally, some international government custesnequire contractors to agree to specificamntry purchases, manufacturing agreen
or financial support arrangements, known as offsetsa condition for a contract award. The corgrgenerally extend over several years
may include penalties if we fail to perform in amtance with the offset requirements which are wgibicsubjective. We also are expose
risks associated with using foreign representati@ed consultants for international sales and ojemmtand teaming with internatiol
subcontractors and suppliers in connection witkerimational programs. In many foreign countries.tipalarly in those with developir
economies, it is common to engage in businessipeactat are prohibited by laws and regulatioriegble to us, such as the Foreign Cor
Practices Act. Although we maintain policies andgadures designed to facilitate compliance witls¢hlaws, a violation of such laws by .
of our international representatives, consultgoisf ventures, business partners, subcontractossigpliers, even if prohibited by our polic
could have an adverse effect on our business guudat&on.

We are subject to increasing compliance risks that could adversely affect our operating results.

As a global business, we are subject to laws agdlagons in the U.S. and other countries in whiah operate. Our increased focus
international sales and global operations requimgsorting and exporting goods and technology, sah&hich have military applicatio
subjecting them to more stringent imperport controls across international borders orgular basis. For example, we sometimes init
must obtain licenses and authorizations from variouS. Government agencies before we are perntitesgll certain of our aerospace
defense products outside the U.S. Both U.S. aredlgnrdaws and regulations applicable to us have reeasing in scope and complexity.
example, both U.S. and foreign governments andrgovent agencies regulate the aviation industry,thag may impose new regulations v
additional aircraft security or other requiremeatsrestrictions, including, for example, restrictioand/or fees related to carbon emis:
levels. Changes in environmental laws and reguiafioncluding those enacted in response to clirdaéeage concerns and other actions kr
as “green initiatives,’tould lead to the necessity for new or additiomaestment in product designs or manufacturing meee and cou
increase environmental compliance expendituresydig costs to defend regulatory reviews. New lwarging laws and regulations or rel:
interpretation and policies could increase ouro$tdoing business, affect how we conduct our atpars, adversely impact demand for
products, and/or limit our ability to sell our prads and services. Compliance with laws and reiguigtof increasing scope and complexi
even more challenging in our current business enwient in which reducing our operating costs igroftecessary to remain competitive
addition, a violation of U.S. and/or foreign lawg dne of our employees or business partners cawest us or our employees to civil
criminal penalties, including material monetaryefin or other adverse actions, such as denial afringp export privileges and/or debarmer
a government contractor which could damage ourtegjomn and have an adverse effect on our business.

We are subject to legal proceedings and other claims.
We are subject to legal proceedings and other slairising out of the conduct of our business, idiclg proceedings and claims relating
commercial and financial transactions; governmentrects; alleged lack of compliance with appliealaws and
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regulations; production partners; product liabjlipatent and trademark infringement; employmenpuiss; and environmental, safety

health matters. Due to the nature of our manufagjubusiness, we may be subject to liability clgiarising from accidents involving ¢
products, including claims for serious personaliiigis or death caused by weather or by pilot, droreuser error. In the case of litigat
matters for which reserves have not been estallisheause the loss is not deemed probable, iagorably possible that such claims coul
decided against us and could require us to pay desnar make other expenditures in amounts that@treresently estimable. In addition,
cannot be certain that our reserves are adequdté¢hah our insurance coverage will be sufficientcawver one or more substantial clai
Furthermore, we may not be able to obtain insuraoeerage at acceptable levels and costs in theefutLitigation is inherently unpredictat
and we could incur judgments, receive adverseratlih awards or enter into settlements for curocerfuture claims that could adversely af
our financial position or our results of operatiom&ny particular period.

Intellectual property infringement claims of others and the inability to protect our intellectual property rights could harm our business and
our customers.

Intellectual property infringement claims may bseaged by third parties against us or our custonferg related indemnification payments
legal costs we may be obliged to pay on behalfusflusinesses, our customers or other third pactesd be costly. In addition, we own
rights to many patents, trademarks, brand namede tnames and trade secrets that are important tousiness. The inability to enforce th
intellectual property rights may have an adveréecebn our results of operations. Additionallyy autellectual property could be at risk dut
various cybersecurity threats.

Certain of our products are subject to laws regulating consumer products and could be subject to repurchase or recall as a result of safety
issues.

As a distributor of consumer products in the UcBrtain of our products also are subject to thesGorer Product Safety Act, which empov
the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission (CR&E¥clude from the market products that are fountle unsafe or hazardous. Ur
certain circumstances, the CPSC could require uspair, replace or refund the purchase price ef @anmore of our products, or potenti
even discontinue entire product lines, or we maymnarily do so, but within strictures recommendsdthe CPSC. The CPSC also can im
fines or penalties on a manufacturer for mompliance with its requirements. Furthermore,ufailto timely notify the CPSC of a poten
safety hazard can result in significant fines beisgessed against us. Any repurchases or recadigr gfroducts or an imposition of fines
penalties could be costly to us and could damagerdputation or the value of our brands. Additigndlaws regulating certain consur
products exist in some states, as well as in atbentries in which we sell our products, and mastrictive laws and regulations may
adopted in the future.

The increasing costs of certain employee and retiree benefits could adversely affect our results.

Our earnings and cash flow may be adversely impdayethe amount of income or expense we expenécaard for employee benefit pla
This is particularly true for our defined benefénsion plans, where required contributions to thalaes and related expenses are drive
among other things, our assumptions of the expeldegterm rate of return on plan assets, the discoutet nsed for future payme
obligations and the rates of future cost growthdifidnally, as part of our annual evaluation of g¢beplans, significant changes in
assumptions, due to changes in economic, legisland/or demographic experience or circumstanaeshanges in our actual investm
returns could negatively impact the funded stafuzuo plans requiring us to substantially increagepension liability with a resulting decre
in shareholders2quity. Also, changes in pension legislation argltations could increase the cost associated withdefined benefit pensi
plans.

In addition, medical costs are rising at a ratéefathan the general inflation rate. Continued roa&dcost inflation in excess of the gen
inflation rate would increase the risk that we widit be able to mitigate the rising costs of mddiemefits. Moreover, we expect that som
the requirements of the new comprehensive heaktHear will increase our future costs. Increasethéocosts of pension and medical ben
could have an adverse effect on our results ofaijmers.

Our business could be adversely affected by strikes or work stoppages and other labor issues.

Approximately 7,100, or 28%, of our U.S. employese unionized, and many of our nonS. employees are represented by orga
councils. As a result, we may experience work sages, which could negatively impact our abilitymanufacture our products on a tin
basis, resulting in strain on our relationshipshvatir customers and a loss of revenues. The pres#nmions also may limit our flexibility
responding to competitive pressures in the mar&egplin addition, the workforces of many of ourigrs and customers are represente
labor unions. Work stoppages or strikes at thetplahour key suppliers could disrupt our manufeioty processes; similar actions at the pl
of our customers could result in delayed or canteteers for our products. Any of these eventsdadiversely affect our results of operatic

Currency, raw material price and interest rate fluctuations may adversely affect our results.
We are exposed to a variety of market risks, inolgdhe effects of changes in foreign currency exde rates, raw material prices and ints
rates. Currency variations also contribute to vemms in sales of products and services in impacted
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jurisdictions. Accordingly, fluctuations in foreigeurrency rates could adversely affect our profiitgbin future periods. We monitor a
manage these exposures as an integral part of varalbrisk management program. In some cases, wehpse derivatives or enter i
contracts to insulate our results of operationmftbese fluctuations. Nevertheless, changes irenayrexchange rates, raw material prices
interest rates can have substantial adverse effaatsir results of operations.

We may be unable to effectively mitigate pricing pressures.

In some markets, particularly where we deliver comgnt products and services to OEMs, we face oggoustomer demands for pr
reductions, which sometimes are contractually eléid. However, if we are unable to effectively gate future pricing pressures thro
technological advances or by lowering our cost blasmugh improved operating and supply chain efficies, our results of operations coul
adversely affected.

Unanticipated changesin our tax rates or exposure to additional income tax liabilities could affect our profitability.

We are subject to income taxes in both the U.S.vamdus nond.S. jurisdictions, and our domestic and internadidax liabilities are subje
to the allocation of income among these differemisgictions. Our effective tax rate could be adedy affected by changes in the mi
earnings in countries with differing statutory tates, changes in the valuation of deferred tagtassd liabilities, changes to unrecognize:
benefits or changes in tax laws, which could affaat profitability. In particular, the carrying wed of deferred tax assets is dependent o
ability to generate future taxable income, as &slthanges to applicable statutory tax rates.dditian, the amount of income taxes we pz
subject to audits in various jurisdictions, and @enial assessment by a tax authority could affaciprofitability.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

On January 3, 2015, we operated a total of 56 placated throughout the U.S. and 54 plants outbidd).S. We own 59 plants and least
remainder for a total manufacturing space of apprately 23.4 million square feet. We consider pineductive capacity of the plants oper:
by each of our business segments to be adequatealdty own or lease offices, warehouses, serviteeiseand other space at various locat
In general, our facilities are in good conditiore @onsidered to be adequate for the uses to vihahare being put and are substantial
regular use.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On October 7, 2014, the Federal Aviation Administra of the U.S. Department of Transportation (DQ@§3ued a Notice of Proposed C
Penalty to McCauley Propeller Systems, a Divisibessna Aircraft Company, for alleged violatioidD®T’'s hazardous materials shipmrr
regulations in connection with the shipment of mgsioduct by air from McCauleg’Columbus, GA facility. The DOT has proposedl
penalty of $238,000, and Cessna Aircraft Comparmyigently negotiating the disposition of the matte

We also are subject to actual and threatened prgakedings and other claims arising out of thedaohof our business, including proceed
and claims relating to commercial and financiahgactions; government contracts; alleged lack ohplmnce with applicable laws a
regulations; production partners; product liabjlipatent and trademark infringement; employmenpuiss; and environmental, health
safety matters. Some of these legal proceedings ctaims seek damages, fines or penalties in sofstaeamounts or remediation
environmental contamination. As a government @mitr, we are subject to audits, reviews and inyasons to determine whether 1
operations are being conducted in accordance vpficable regulatory requirements. Under fede@mlegnment procurement regulatic
certain claims brought by the U.S. Government caaglilt in our suspension or debarment from U.Ste@oment contracting for a period
time. On the basis of information presently audgawe do not believe that existing proceedings @aims will have a material effect on
financial position or results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable
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PART Il

Iltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
The principal market on which our common stockréléd is the New York Stock Exchange under the syfibXT.” At January 3, 201

there were approximately 10,700 record holders eftfbn common stock. The high and low sales prm@sshare of our common stock
reported on the New York Stock Exchange and theleihds paid per share are provided in the followaige:

2014 2013
Dividends Dividends
High Low per Share High Low per Share
First quartel $ 40.1¢ $ 34.2¢ $ 0.0z $ 31.3( $ 23.9¢ $ 0.0z
Second quarte 40.9:¢ 36.9¢ 0.0z 30.22 24.8i 0.0z
Third quartel 39.0¢ 35.5¢4 0.0z 29.81 25.3¢ 0.0z
Fourth quarte 44.2: 32.2¢ 0.0z 37.4: 26.1% 0.0z

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities
The following provides information about our foudbarter 2014 repurchases of equity securitiesatetregistered pursuant to Section 1
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended:

Average Price Maximum

Total Paid per Share Total Number of  Number of Share:

Number of Shares Purchased ¢ that may yet be

Shares (excluding part of Publicly Purchased unde

Period (shares in thousand: Purchased (1) commissions Announced Plan (1) the Plar

September 28, 20+ November 1, 201 228§ 35.9( 22¢ 16,39¢

November 2, 201- November 29, 201 — — — —

November 30, 201- January 3, 201 32C 39.6¢ 32(C 16,07¢
Total 548§ 38.11 54E

(1) These shares were purchased pursuant to a qlgimorizing the repurchase of up to 25 million stspf Textron common stock that
been announced on January 23, 2013. This plan baspiration date.

In February 2014, we entered into an Accelerateaté&SRepurchase agreement (ASR) with a counterpadyepurchased 4.3 million share
our outstanding common stock from the counterpéotyan initial estimated purchase price of $150liomnl Final settlement of the AS
occurred in December 2014 and resulted in a finatage price of $38.90 per share.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the total return ocuaulative basis at the end of each year of $1@@sited in our common stock
December 31, 2009 with the Standard & PedB&P) 500 Stock Index, the S&P 500 Aerospace debse (A&D) Index and the S&P 5
Industrials Index, all of which include Textron.dkalues calculated assume dividend reinvestment.

In 2014, we changed from the S&P Industrial Congloates Index to the S&P 500 Industrials Index, Whie believe is a better compar:i
for the performance of our business. We have peavithe S&P Industrial Conglomerates Index in thegpbrbelow for comparison purpo
only.

5230
w—Textron
S&P 500 ...-/':
200
S&P 500 ALD
s 5 4 P 500 Industrials 5130
S&P 500 Industrial Conglomerates W
S100 ===
200¢ 201(C 2011 201z 201z 201¢
Textron Inc. $ 100.0( $ 126.1° $ 99.0¢ $ 133.2¢ $ 198.1¢ $ 227.7°
S&P 500 100.0( 115.0¢ 117.4¢ 136.3( 180.4¢ 205.1(
S&P 500 A&D 100.0(¢ 115.1: 121.1¢ 138.8¢ 215.0¢ 239.9(
S&P 500 Industrial: 100.0( 115.7: 122.0: 140.0: 184.3! 206.9¢
S&P 500 Industrial Conglomerat 100.0( 118.7( 119.5: 143.1¢ 201.9: 203.6¢
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

( Dollars in millions, except per share amou) 201< 201 2012 2011 201(
Revenues
Textron Aviation $ 4568 $ 2,78 $ 3111 $ 299 $ 2,567
Bell 4,24¢ 4,511 4,274 3,52¢ 3,241
Textron System 1,62¢ 1,66t 1,73 1,87: 1,97¢
Industrial 3,33¢ 3,01z 2,90( 2,78t 2,52¢
Finance 10z 132 21E 10z 21¢
Total revenues $ 1387¢ $ 12,10« $ 12,237 $ 11,27¢ $ 10,52¢
Segment profit
Textron Aviation (a' $ 234 $ 48 $ 82 $ 6C $ (29
Bell 52¢ 578 63¢ 521 427
Textron System 15C 147 132 141 23C
Industrial 28C 242 21t 20z 162
Finance (b’ 21 49 64 (333 (237)
Total segment profit 1,21¢ 963 1,132 591 553
Corporate expenses and other, (161) (16€) (14¢) (119 (137)
Interest expense, net for Manufacturing gr (14¢) (129 (1439 (240 (140
Acquisition and restructuring costs (52 — — — —
Special charges (t — — — — (290
Income tax (expense) bene (24¢) (17€) (260 (95) 6
Income from continuing operations $ 605 $ 49¢  $ 581 $ 24z $ 92
Per share of common stocl
Income from continuing operatio— basic $ 217 $ 17t % 207 $ 087 $ 0.3
Income from continuing operatio— diluted $ 218 $ 17t % 197 $ 07¢ $ 0.3C
Dividends declare $ 008 $ 008 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Book value at yei-end $ 154t §$ 15524 $ 11.0¢ $ 9.8¢ $ 10.7¢
Common stock price: Hig $ 442 $ 374 $ 2918 $ 2887 $ 253(
Low $ 3228 $ 2394 $ 1837 $ 146¢€ $ 15.8¢
Yeal-end $ 4217 $ 3661 $ 24.1: $ 184¢ $ 23.6¢
Common shares outstandin¢(In thousands
Basic averag 279,40¢ 279,29¢ 280,18 277,68 274,45
Diluted averagt 281,79( 284,42¢ 294,66: 307,25! 302,55!
Yeal-end 276,58: 282,05¢ 271,26: 278,87. 275,73
Financial position
Total asset $ 14,608 $ 12,94« $ 13,03 $ 13,61 $ 15,28:
Manufacturing group del $ 2811 $ 1931 $ 2301 $ 2458 $ 2,302
Finance group del $ 106 $ 1,25¢ $ 168¢ $ 1974 $ 3,66(
Shareholder equity $ 4272 $ 438 $ 2991 $ 2,748 $ 297
Manufacturing group de-to-capital (net of cast 33% 15% 24% 37% 32%
Manufacturing group de-to-capital 40% 31% 44% 47% 44%
Investment data
Capital expenditure $ 42¢ 3 444 % 48C $ 42 % 27C
Depreciatior $ 38 % 34 $ 33€ 3 34z % 334

(&) In 2014, segment profit includes amortization o8 $Gillion related to fair value stepp adjustments of Beechcraft acquired inventorad during the
period.

(b) For 2011, segment profit includes a $186 millioitidh mark-to-market adjustment for finance receivables in thdf Gtortgage portfolio that wel
transferred to the held for sale classification.

(c) Acquisition and restructuring costs are relatedhe acquisition of Beech Holdings, LLC, the pam@hBeechcraft Corporation, which was complete
March 14, 2014.

(d) Special charges include restructuring charges d¥ #8llion, primarily related to severance and assepairment charges, and a $91 million noast
pre-tax charge to reclassify a foreign exchangs ffosm equity as a result of substantially liquidgta Finance segment entity.
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Item 7. Manage m ent’s Discussion and Analysis ofikancial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview and Consolidated Results of Operations

Our revenues increased 15% in 2014 reflecting tleeess of our strategy of investing in new prodacis complementary acquisitions. Sev
highlights of the year include the following:

. Invested $694 million in research and developmetiviies demonstrating our continued commitmenéexpand our current prodi

lines across our businesses.

Invested $1.6 billion in strategic acquisitionsragavith $429 million in capital expenditures.

. Delivered strong cash flow performance as manufagjuoperating cash flows from continuing operasioncreased 67% to $:
billion.

»  Grew segment profit by 26% to $1.2 billion.

* Raised diluted earnings per share from continujpperations by 23%.

On March 14, 2014, we completed the acquisitioBeéch Holdings, LLC, which included Beechcraft Gogiion and other subsidiari
(collectively “Beechcraft”)this business and the legacy Cessna segment wergireed to form a new segment named Textron Aviatie
also made seven acquisitions in the Industrial Bexdron Systems segments, which complemented adupts and services. The result
these acquisitions are included in Textsordonsolidated financial statements only for theiggesubsequent to the completion of €
acquisition and do not reflect a full year of ofienas.

An analysis of our consolidated operating resutsat forth below. A more detailed analysis of segmentsbperating results is provided
the Segment Analysis section on pages 21 to 28.

Revenues

(Dollars in millions) 201¢ 2012 2012
Revenue: $ 13,87¢ $ 12,10« $ 12,237
% change compared with prior peri 15% (1) %

Revenues increased $1.8 billion, 15%, in 2014, ameghwith 2013, as increases in the Textron Avieéind Industrial segments were parti
offset by lower revenues in the Bell, Textron Sgsteand Finance segments. The net revenue indredsded the following factors:

. Higher Textron Aviation revenues of $1.8 billiorrimarily due to a $1.5 billion impact from the Béecaft acquisition and a $2

million increase in volume, largely related to @ia jets.

Higher Industrial segment revenues of $326 milliprignarily due to $181 million in higher volumerdgely in the Fuel Systems &

Functional Components product line, and a $142aniimpact from acquisitions.

. Lower Bell revenues of $266 million, largely dueads183 million decrease in commercial revenudgatifig lower sales activi
across the commercial helicopter market, and $98omin lower other military volume, largely rekd to the Ht program reflectin
lower aircraft deliveries and production support.

. Lower Textron Systems revenues of $41 million, @nity due to lower volume of $233 million in the kiige and Land Syster
product line, reflecting lower vehicle deliverigmrtially offset by higher volume of $130 million the Unmanned Systems proc
line and a $62 million impact from acquisitions.

. Lower Finance revenues of $29 million, primarilyridutable to gains on the disposition of finaneeaivables held for sale dur
2013.

Revenues decreased $133 million, 1%, in 2013, coedpwith 2012, as decreases in the Textron Aviatlinance and Textron Syste
segments were partially offset by higher revenndbé Bell and Industrial segments. The net regatacrease included the following factors:

»  Lower Textron Aviation revenues of $327 millionjmparily due to lower Citation jet volume of $384lliein and CitationAir volum
of $114 million, partially offset by higher aftermkat volume of $65 million and higher pre-owneccaaft volume of $53 million.
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. Lower Finance revenues of $83 million, primarilyrigutable to an unfavorable impact of $46 millibom lower average finan
receivables and a decrease of $25 million in regemalated to the resolution of a Timeshare accou2®12.

e Lower Textron Systems revenues of $72 million, édyglue to lower volume of $51 million in the Magimnd Land Systems prod
line and lower volume of $28 million in the Unmadr®ystems product line.

e Higher Bell revenues of $237 million, largely due hiigher volume of $163 million in our military pgrams, primarily reflectin
higher V-22 deliveries and aftermarket volume, &id million of higher commercial revenues, largélye to higher aircraft volume.

»  Higher Industrial segment revenues of $112 milliprmarily due to higher volume of $58 million atite impact from acquisitions
$46 million.

Cost of Sales and Selling and Administrative Expeigs

(Dollars in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Operating expenst $ 12,782 $ 11,257 $ 11,184
Cost of sale: 11,421 10,131 10,019
% change compared with prior perit 13% 1%

Gross margin as a percentage of Manufacturing reres 17.1% 15.4% 16.7%
Selling and administrative expen: 1,361 1,126 1,165
% change compared with prior perit 21% (3)%

Manufacturing cost of sales and selling and adriiatise expenses together comprise our operatimpgreses. Cost of sales increased
billion, 13%, in 2014, compared with 2013, largelye to the impact of acquired businesses, prim&gégchcraft. In 2014, gross margin
percentage of manufacturing revenues increaseda3i8 points largely due to improved leverage tegufrom higher revenues primarily
Textron Aviation.

Selling and administrative expense increased $28®m 21%, in 2014, compared with 2013, largedyated to businesses acquired in the
year and compensation expense. These increasespartially offset by $28 million in severance &ostcurred in 2013 in connection wit
voluntary separation program at Textron Aviation.

Manufacturing cost of sales increased $112 millit¥, in 2013, compared with 2012, primarily duehigher volume at Bell and the imp
from businesses acquired in 2013, partially offsgtlower sales at Textron Aviation and Textron 8yst. In 2013, gross margin a
percentage of manufacturing revenues decreaselds3® points primarily due to unfavorable perforoeat Bell, largely due to manufactur
inefficiencies associated with labor disruptionsuténg from negotiations with bargained employaesl with the implementation of a n
enterprise resource planning system in the firartgu of 2013, as well as lower Citation jet andafionAir volume at Textron Aviation.

Selling and administrative expenses decreased $#B®m 3%, in 2013 compared with 2012, largely dieea reduction in administrati
expenses of $26 million and lower provision forrdasses of $20 million at the Finance segmenth lpoimarily associated with the non-
captive business. Selling and administrative expeves also impacted by $28 million in severanceasciosurred in 2013 at Textron Aviati
which were largely offset by a $27 million chargerfi an unfavorable arbitration award in 2012 attfigxAviation.

Acquisition and Restructuring Costs

In connection with the integration of Beechcrafg mitiated a restructuring program in our Textiwiation segment in the first quarter
2014 to align the Cessna and Beechcraft businessésce operating redundancies and maximize efittés. During 2014, we recorc
charges of $41 million related to these restrunturactivities that were included in the Acquisitiand restructuring costs line on

Consolidated Statements of Operations. In additianincurred transaction costs of $11 million 612 related to the acquisition that were
included in the Acquisition and restructuring cdste. We expect to incur additional restructurgusts in 2015, but do not expect these co:
be material.
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Interest Expense

(Dollars in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Interest expens $ 191 % 173 $ 212
% change compared with prior perit 10% (18)%

Interest expense on the Consolidated Statemenpefafions includes interest for both the Manufastuand Finance borrowing groups v
interest related to intercompany borrowings elirreda Consolidated interest expense increased $li®m10%, in 2014, compared w
2013, primarily due to a $31 million impact related financing the Beechcraft acquisition, partiatiffset by $9 million of lower intere
expense due to the maturity of our convertible sigtehe second quarter of 2013. In 2013, conat#idl interest expense decreased $39 mi
18%, compared with 2012, primarily due to lowerrage debt outstanding.

Income Tax Expense

Our effective tax rate was 29.1% in 2014, 26.198003 and 30.9% in 2012. This rate generally diffeom the U.S. federal statutory tax |
of 35% due to certain earnings from operation®mertax jurisdictions throughout the world, as wellths research credit. The jurisdicti
with favorable tax rates that have the most sigaift effective tax rate impact in the periods pmése include Canada, Germany, Belgium
China. We have not provided for U.S. taxes fosthearnings because we plan to reinvest all okteasnings indefinitely outside of the U.S.

In 2013, our effective tax rate was reduced by axprately 4.0% due to the tax benefit recognizedrughe retroactive reinstatement
extension of the Federal Research and DevelopneaenCredit for the period from January 1, 2012 te@sber 31, 2013. In 2014, this cn
was extended through the end of 2014, resultiregirb% reduction in our effective tax rate.

For a full reconciliation of our effective tax rate the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% Ble¢e 12 to the Consolidated Finan
Statements.

Segment Analysis

We operate in, and report financial information, fiile following five business segments: Textronahiain, which consists of the legacy Ce:
segment combined with the recendlgquired Beechcraft business, Bell, Textron Systémasistrial and Finance. Segment profit is
important measure used for evaluating performandefer decisiomrmaking purposes. Segment profit for the manufaugusegments exclud
interest expense, certain corporate expenses apdsémn and restructuring costs related to thed®eraft acquisition. The measuremen
the Finance segment includes interest income apenme along with intercompany interest income apaese.

In our discussion of comparative results for thenifacturing group, changes in revenues and segprefit typically are expressed for ¢
commercial business in terms of volume, pricingeiign exchange and acquisitions. Additionally,radies in segment profit may be expre:
in terms of mix, inflation and cost performance.lioe changes in revenues represent increases/desrigathe number of units deliverec
services provided. Pricing represents changesitnpuicing. Foreign exchange is the change rempltrom translating foreiglenominate
amounts into U.S. dollars at exchange rates thatd#ferent from the prior period. Acquisitionsfees to the revenues generated f
businesses that were acquired within the previ@uma@nths. For segment profit, mix represents aghalue to the composition of prodt
and/or services sold at different profit margirigflation represents higher material, wages, bésnefiension or other costs. Perform:
reflects an increase or decrease in research amelogenent, depreciation, selling and administratogsts, warranty, product liabili
quality/scrap, labor efficiency, overhead, prodira profitability, start-up, ramp up and castuction initiatives or other manufacturing inp

Approximately 28% of our 2014 revenues were derifredn contracts with the U.S. Government. For sagments that have signific
contracts with the U.S. Government, we typicallyprss changes in segment profit related to thergavent business in terms of volul
changes in program performance or changes in aniix. Changes in volume that are discussed insaks typically drive correspond
changes in our segment profit based on the prafé for a particular contract. Changes in prograrfogpmance typically relate to prc
recognition associated with revisions to totalraated costs at completion that reflect improvedeteriorated operating performance or a\
fee rates. Changes in contract mix refers to chamgeperating margin due to a change in the rkadatolume of contracts with higher or lo
fee rates such that the overall average margirfoathe segment changes.
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Textron Aviation

% Change

(Dollars in millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
Revenue! $ 4568 $ 2,784 $ 3,111 64% (11)%
Operating expense 4,334 2,832 3,029 53% (N%
Segment profit (loss 234 (48) 82 — —
Profit margin 5.1% 1.7% 2.6%
Backlog $ 1365 $ 1,018 $ 1,062 34% (4%
Textron Aviation Revenues and Operating Expenses
Factors contributing to the 2014 year-over-yeaenae change are provided below:

2014 versu
(In millions) 201
Acquisitions $  1,48(
Volume 263
Pricing 41
Total change $ 1,78/

Textron Aviations revenues increased by $1.8 billion, 64%, in 2@bipared with 2013, primarily due to the impacttioé Beechcra
acquisition of $1.5 billion and higher volume ofé®million. The increase in volume was primarie tresult of higher Citation jet volume
$344 million, partially offset by lower CitationAwolume of $78 million related to exiting our framial share business. We delivered
Citation jets and 113 King Air turboprops in 20témpared with 139 Citation jets in 2013. Durind20the portion of the segmesitevenue
derived from aftermarket sales and services reptede80% of its total revenues, compared with 38%2013.

Textron Aviations operating expenses increased by $1.5 billion,,58%014, compared with 2013, primarily due to itheremental operatit
costs related to the Beechcraft acquisition, agtidii net volume as described above. Textron Aviagioperating expenses exclude acquis
and restructuring costs incurred across the segateatresult of the Beechcraft integration, whidh reported separately and are discuss
the Acquisition and Restructuring Costs sectiorvabo

Factors contributing to the 2013 year-over-yeaenae change are provided below:

2013 versu
(In millions) 2012
Volume $ (379
Acquisitions 33
Other 13
Total change $ (329

In 2013, Textron Aviatiors revenues decreased $327 million, 11%, compartd20i12, primarily due to lower Citation jet voluré $38¢
million and lower CitationAir volume of $114 millig largely related to the windewn of our fractional share business. These dsesewer
partially offset by higher aftermarket volume of5$@iillion, largely due to increased service demamdi higher pr@wned aircraft volume
$53 million. We delivered 139 Citation jets in Z)Tompared with 181 jets in 2012. During 2018, plortion of Textron Aviatiors revenue
derived from aftermarket sales and services ine&s 33%, compared with 25% in 2012, due to higlirmarket volume and the impac
lower Citation jet revenues.

Textron Aviations operating expenses decreased $197 million, 72013, compared with 2012, primarily due to lowelwne as discuss
above. The volumeelated decrease in operating expenses was pamitlet by $37 million of operating costs incurred service cente
acquired at the beginning of 2013 and $33 milliénindation, largely due to higher pension expewn$es17 million. Operating expenses
2013 were also impacted by $28 million in severarwsts incurred during the first half of the yemrcbnnection with a voluntary separa
program offered to qualifying salaried employeed arreduction of certain direct production posisialue to an adjustment of our produc
schedule. Operating expenses in 2012 included ariion charge from an unfavorable arbitrationaa
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Textron Aviation Segment Profit (Loss)
Factors contributing to 2014 year-over-year segmetfit (loss) change are provided below:

2014 versu
(In millions) 201
Performance and oth $ 117
Volume 8¢
Pricing and inflatior 48
2013 Voluntary Separation Progr: 28
Total change $ 282

Textron Aviation segment profit increased $282 imnllin 2014, compared with 2013, primarily due toiacrease in Performance and ot
higher volume as described above, favorable prieind inflation and $28 million in severance costsuired in 2013. During the sect
quarter of 2014, the cost structures of Beechartadit Cessna were significantly integrated, andrasut, Performance and other reflects thi
profit impact of Beechcraft, including the benddit the integrated cost structure. Performance @heér also includes amortization of ¢
million in 2014, related to fair value step-up adjuents of acquired inventories sold during théoglst

Factors contributing to 2013 year-over-year segmerfit (loss) change are provided below:

2013 versu
(In millions) 2012
Volume $ (99
Inflation, net of pricing (22)
Other (10)
Total change $ (130

Textron Aviations segment profit decreased $130 million in 2013npared with 2012, primarily due to a $99 millionpatt from lowe
volume as described above and $21 million in ifdlgtnet of pricing, largely due to higher pensexpense of $17 million. Segment profit \
also impacted by $28 million in severance costsirirerd in 2013, largely offset by a $27 million aparfrom an unfavorable arbitration aw
incurred in 2012.

Textron Aviation Backlog
Textron Aviations backlog increased $347 million, 34%, in 2014 dadreased $44 million, 4%, in 2013. The increas20it4 included tt
Beechcraft acquisition.

Bell
% Change

(Dollars in millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
Revenues

V-22 program $ 1,771 $ 1,755 $ 1,611 1% 9%

Other military 860 959 940 (10)% 2%

Commercia 1,614 1,797 1,723 (10)% 4%
Total revenue 4,245 4,511 4,274 (6)% 6%
Operating expenst 3,716 3,938 3,635 (6)% 8%
Segment profi 529 573 639 (8)% (10)%
Profit margin 12.5% 12.7% 15.0%
Backlog $ 5524 $ 6,450 $ 7,469 (14)% (14)%

Bell’'s major U.S. Government programs at this teme the V-22 tiltrotor aircraft and the H-1 helitepplatforms, which are both in the
production stage and represent a significant poioBell’'s revenues from the U.S. Government.
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Bell Revenues and Operating Expenses
Factors contributing to the 2014 year-over-yeaenae change are provided below:

2014 versu
(In millions) 201
Volume and mix $ (300
Other 34
Total change $ (266

Bell's revenues decreased $266 million, 6%, in 2@bnpared with 2013, primarily due to the follogifactors:

*  $183 million decrease in commercial revenues, lgrgdated to lower volume reflecting lower salegivty across the commerc
helicopter market. Bell delivered 178 commercigdraft in 2014, compared with 213 commercial aftin 2013.

. $99 million decrease in other military volume, pairfy related to the H- program, largely reflecting lower aircraft delisas ani
production support. Lower volume was partiallysetf by $41 million recorded in the second quart&t0d 4, related to the settlem
of the SDD phase of the ARH program, which was teated in October 2008. Bell delivered 241Hkircraft in 2014, compared w
25 aircraft in 2013.

e $16 million increase in \22 program revenues, reflecting higher product stpgolume of $115 million. This increase wagykly
offset by lower aircraft deliveries, as we delivitBY V-22 aircraft in 2014 compared to 41 V-22 miftin 2013.

Bell's operating expenses decreased $222 million, 62014, compared with 2013, primarily due to the Iowet volume as discussed abc
In addition, Bell experienced favorable profit astjuents on its lon¢germ contracts, primarily driven by cost reductamivities in 2014 as we
as unfavorable performance in 2013 as discussedvbel

Factors contributing to the 2013 year-over-yeaenae change are provided below:

2013 versu
(In millions) 2012
Volume $ 19z
Other 44
Total change $ 237

Bell's revenues increased $237 million, 6% in 20d@npared with 2012, due to the following factors:

. $144 million increase in V-22 program volume laygdue to higher aircraft deliveries, as we delidedd V22 aircraft in 201!
compared with 39 aircraft in 2012. In addition, itaily aftermarket volume was higher by $35 millioeflecting increased support
fielded aircraft.

*  $74 million increase in commercial revenues, largkle to higher aircraft volume, as we delivere@ aikcraft in 2013, compared
188 aircraft in 2012. This increase was partiafiget by lower commercial aftermarket revenue$s0 million, largely due to low
volume, which in part, resulted from the converdio@a new enterprise resource planning systemeiitst quarter of 2013.

*  $19 million increase in other military volume, esfting higher H-1 deliveries. We delivered 25LHircraft in 2013, compared w
24 H-1 aircraft in 2012.

Bell's operating expenses increased $303 million, 8%20i8, respectively, compared with 2012, largelg ¢ higher volume as descril
above and $68 million in unfavorable performanchiclv included $27 million in lower favorable proéitjustments on its longrm contract:
The unfavorable performance was largely due to rizewring inefficiencies associated with labor djgions resulting from negotiations w
bargained employees and with the implementatioa néw enterprise resource planning system in tisé duarter of 2013. On October
2013, Bell reached a new fiyear collective bargaining agreement with the Uhifutomobile, Aerospace and Agricultural Implen
Workers of America (UAW) and UAW Local 218 whichpresents these employees.
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Bell Segment Profit
Factors contributing to 2014 year-over-year segmerfit change are provided below:

2014 versu
(In millions) 201
Volume and Mix $ (72
Performancs 23
Other 5
Total change $ (44

Bell's segment profit decreased $44 million, 8%, in 2@&bnpared with 2013. The impact of volume and mas largely driven by low
commercial volume and an unfavorable mix of comunaéraircraft deliveries, partially offset by a $ifillion favorable program pro
adjustment related to the ARH program described:@bibavorable performance primarily reflected oostaeduction activities in 2014 as v
as unfavorable performance in 2013 as describedeabo

Factors contributing to 2013 year-over-year segmeurfit change are provided below:

2013 versu
(In millions) 2012
Performanct $ (68)
Volume and mix (20)
Other 12
Total change $ (66)

Bell's segment profit decreased $66 million, 10%, inR0&spectively, compared with 2012, primarily doeunfavorable performance
described above. Segment profit was also impanexh unfavorable mix of commercial aircraft defies.

Bell Backlog
Backlog decreased $926 million, 14%, at Bell du20d.4, primarily due to V-22 aircraft deliveries,éxcess of orders. In 2013, Belbacklo
decreased $1.0 billion, 14%, primarily due to daligs on the V-22 and H-1 programs that exceedeersr

Textron Systems

% Change

(Dollars in millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
Revenue: $ 1624 $ 1665 $ 1,737 2)% (4)%
Operating expense 1,474 1,518 1,605 3)% (5)%
Segment profi 150 147 132 2% 11%
Profit margin 9.2% 8.8% 7.6%
Backlog $ 2,790 $ 2,803 $ 2,919 — (4)%
Textron Systems Revenues and Operating Expenses
Factors contributing to the 2014 year-over-yeaenee change are provided below:

2014 versu
(In millions) 201
Volume $ (106;
Acquisitions 62
Other 3
Total change $ (41

Revenues at Textron Systems decreased $41 millfdn,in 2014, compared with 2013, primarily duedwér volume in the Marine and Le
Systems product line of $233 million, reflectingvier vehicle deliveries, partially offset by higheslume in the Unmanned Systems pro
line of $130 million and a $62 million impact laigerelated to the acquisition of two flight simutat and training businesses
December 2013.
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Textron Systemsbperating expenses decreased $44 million, 3%, i 26ompared with 2013, primarily due to lower yokias describy
above, as well as the impact of a $15 million chargcorded in 2013 related to the feedervice program described below. Opere
expenses also included the impact of costs retatadquisitions.

Factors contributing to the 2013 year-over-yeaenee change are provided below:

2013 versu
(In millions) 2012
Volume $ (76)
Other 4
Total change $ (72)

Revenues at Textron Systems decreased $72 mill¥bn,n 2013, compared with 2012, primarily duedwér volume in the Marine and Le
product line of $51 million and in the Unmanned t8yss product line of $28 million.

Textron Systemsbperating expenses decreased $87 million, 5%, it82@ompared with 2012, primarily due to improveetfprmanc
reflecting the favorable impact of lower profit agiments, including $22 million in lower fee-feervice program charges discussed be
along with cost reduction initiatives across masidoct lines. Operating expenses were also imgdntdower volume as described above.

In 2013 and 2012, we recorded $15 million and $3lfiam, respectively, in unfavorable program proéitjustments related to stamp- ant
engine performance issues for Unmanned SystemXofegervice program. As a result of the engine perfoigaaissues, during the th
quarter of 2013 we transitioned the manufacturda@fengines to our Lycoming business, which hadtexsin improved performance.

Textron Systems Segment Profit
Factors contributing to 2014 year-over-year segmeurfit change are provided below:

2014 versu
(In millions) 201
Performanct $ 22
Volume (12
Other (7)
Total change $ 3

Segment profit at Textron Systems increased $3amjli2%, in 2014, compared with 2013, primarilyven by $22 million of improve
performance, partially offset by $12 million fromwer volume as described above. Performance phnraflects the impact of unfavoral
profit adjustments in 2013, including a $15 millicarge related to the fee-for-service program ritesd above.

Factors contributing to 2013 year-over-year segmerfit change are provided below:

2013 versu
(In millions) 2012
Performanct $ 58
Volume and miy (33
Other (10)
Total change $ 15

Segment profit at Textron Systems increased $1Bomil11% in 2013 compared with 2012, largely doéniproved performance reflecting
favorable impact of lower profit adjustments, irdihg $22 million in lower fee-foservice program charges, along with cost redu
initiatives across most product lines. This impmbyperformance was partially offset by lower voluasedescribed above.
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Industrial
% Change

(Dollars in millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
Revenues

Fuel Systems and Functional Compon $ 1975 $ 1,853 $ 1,842 7% 1%

Other Industria 1,363 1,159 1,058 18% 10%
Total revenue 3,338 3,012 2,900 11% 4%
Operating expense 3,058 2,770 2,685 10% 3%
Segment profi 280 242 215 16% 13%
Profit margin 8.4% 8.0% 7.4%
Industrial Revenues and Operating Expenses
Factors contributing to the 2014 year-over-yeaenee change are provided below:

2014 versu

(In millions) 201
Volume $ 181
Acquisitions 142
Other 3
Total change $ 32€

Industrial segment revenues increased $326 millidfo, in 2014, compared with 2013, primarily dudigher volume of $181 million and t
impact from acquisitions of $142 million, primarilithin our Specialized Vehicles and Equipment picidine. Higher volume resulted fror
$142 million increase in the Fuel Systems and Fanat Components product line, principally reflegtiautomotive industry demand in Nc
America and Europe, and a $39 million increaséén@ther Industrial product lines.

Operating expenses for the Industrial segment ase@ $288 million, 10%, in 2014, compared with 204&)ely due to the impact from higl
volume as described above and additional operatipgnses from recently acquired businesses.

Factors contributing to the 2013 year-over-yeaenae change are provided below:

2013 versu
(In millions) 2012
Volume $ 58
Acquisitions 46
Other 8
Total change $ 112

Industrial segment revenues increased $112 mildéa, in 2013, compared with 2012, largely due thkr volume of $58 million and t
impact from acquisitions of $46 million within oliools and Test Equipment product line. Higher wmduresulted from a $32 million increi
in the Other Industrial product lines, mostly doehigher market demand in the Specialized Vehiale$ Equipment product line, and a
million increase in the Fuel Systems and Functi@@hponents line, reflecting higher automotive stdpidemand in North America.

Operating expenses for the Industrial segment &sg@ $85 million, 3%, in 2013, compared with 2da&yely due to higher volume and a
million impact from acquisitions. Operating expenseere also impacted by improved performance of $#lion associated with the Ft
Systems and Functional Components product linechwhias partially offset by $16 million of inflatian this product line, reflecting higt
compensation and material costs.

Industrial Segment Profit
Factors contributing to 2014 year-over-year segmeofit change are provided below:

2014 versu
(In millions) 201
Volume and mi> $ 20
Performanc 15
Other 3
Total change $ 38

27




Table of Contents

Segment profit for the Industrial segment increa$88 million, 16%, in 2014, compared with 2013 gkly due to the impact from hig}
volume as described above. Profit was also impabtednproved performance of $15 million, primaridiyiven by the Fuel Systems ¢
Functional Components product line.

Factors contributing to 2013 year-over-year segmeofit change are provided below:

2013 versu
(In millions) 201z
Performanct $ 39
Volume 9
Inflation, net of pricing (22
Other 1
Total change $ 27

Segment profit for the Industrial segment increa®2d million, 13%, in 2013, compared with 2012 npetrily due to improved performance
which $27 million was associated with the Fuel 8ys and Functional Components product line. Theflfiion unfavorable impact fro
inflation, net of pricing, was primarily in the Hu&ystems and Functional Components product lefjgating higher compensation and matt
costs.

Finance

(In millions) 2014 201: 2012
Revenue:! $ 10z $ 132 $ 21t
Segment profi 21 49 64

Finance Revenues

Finance segment revenues decreased $29 millio@l4,Zompared with 2013, primarily attributableat®31 million impact from gains on 1
disposition of finance receivables held for salaru2013. These gains resulted from the payofbafs in amounts, and sale of loans at pr
in excess of the values established in previousger

Finance segment revenues decreased $83 milliof18,Zompared with 2012, primarily attributableato unfavorable impact of $46 millic
attributable to lower average finance receivabfeg884 million. Revenues during 2013 were alsodolwy $25 million due to the resolutior
a Timeshare account that returned to accrual siat2@12.

Finance Segment Profit

Finance segment profit decreased $28 million in42Gbmpared with 2013, primarily due to a changraovision for loan losses of $
million, largely reflecting reserve reversals in130primarily related to the noraptive business, and the impact from gains onnée
receivables held for sale described above. Theseedses in segment profit were partially offsetldwer administrative expense of ¢
million in 2014, primarily associated with the eaftthe non-captive business.

Finance segment profit decreased $15 million in2@bmpared with 2012, primarily resulting from ttesolution of a Timeshare accoun
2012 as described above, as well as an unfavoiraplact of $25 million in net interest margin froower average finance receivables. T
decreases were partially offset by lower adminiisteaexpenses of $26 million and lower provisiom foan losses of $20 million, large
related to the downsizing of the non-captive bussne

Finance Portfolio Quality
The following table reflects information about th@ance segment’s credit performance related &nfie receivables.

January 3, December 2¢
(Dollars in millions) 201¢ 201:
Finance receivable $ 1,25¢ $ 1,48:
Nonaccrual finance receivabl 81 10t
Ratio of nonaccrual finance receivables to finamoeivable: 6.4€% 7.08%
60+ days contractual delinquen $ 57 $ 80
60+ days contractual delinqguency as a percentafjeasfce receivable 4.55% 5.3¢%
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our financings are conducted through two separateotving groups. The Manufacturing group considtsTextron consolidated with
majority-owned subsidiaries that operate in the Textron thama Bell, Textron Systems and Industrial segmerithe Finance group, whi
also is the Finance segment, consists of Textrowrf€ial Corporation and its consolidated subsidgariWe designed this framework
enhance our borrowing power by separating the Emamoup. Our Manufacturing group operations idelthe development, production .
delivery of tangible goods and services, while Burance group provides financial services. Duthéofundamental differences between «
borrowing group’s activities, investors, rating ages and analysts use different measures to deafigech grou performance. To supp
those evaluations, we present balance sheet ahdloasinformation for each borrowing group withiime Consolidated Financial Statements.

Key information that is utilized in assessing dquidity is summarized below:

January 3, December 28
(Dollars in millions) 2015 2013
Manufacturing group
Cash and equivalen $ 731 $ 1,163
Debt 2,811 1,931
Shareholder equity 4,272 4,384
Capital (debt plus sharehold’ equity) 7,083 6,315
Net debt (net of cash and equivalents) to ca 33% 15%
Debt to capita 40% 31%
Finance group
Cash and equivalen $ 91 $ 48
Debt 1,063 1,256

We believe that our calculations of debt to capitadl net debt to capital are useful measures gsptlovide a summary indication of the le
of debt financing (i.e., leverage) that is in plasesupport our capital structure, as well as tovjagte an indication of the capacity to add fur
leverage. We believe that we will have sufficieash to meet our future needs, based on our axistish balances, the cash we expe
generate from our manufacturing operations andr@thailable funding alternatives, as appropriate.

Textron has a senior unsecured revolving creditifip¢hat expires in October 2018 for an aggregatacipal amount of $1.0 billion, of whi
up to $100 million is available for the issuanceéatfers of credit. At January 3, 2015, there weseamounts borrowed against the facility,
there were $35 million of letters of credits issaeghinst it.

We maintain an effective shelf registration stateniiéed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiat authorizes us to issue an unlinr
amount of public debt and other securities. Urbir shelf registration statement, in January 2@tjssued $250 million of 3.65% notes
2021 and $350 million of 4.30% notes due 2024. We antered into a fivgear term loan agreement with a syndicate of bankise principe
amount of $500 million. Upon the closing of the Bleeraft acquisition on March 14, 2014, we fully Wrdown on the fiverear term loan ar
used the cash, along with the net proceeds of dtesrissued, to finance a portion of the acquisitithe balance of the Beechcraft acquis
purchase price was paid from cash on hand. Duhiedhird quarter of 2014, we repaid $200 millidrtle fiveyear term loan. Also under 1
shelf registration statement, in November 2014 jssaed $350 million of 3.875% notes due 2025. Syb=etly, prior to yeaend, we prepa
$350 million of 6.2% notes which were due in Maggi5.

Manufacturing Group Cash Flows
Cash flows from continuing operations for the Mamtéiring group as presented in our Consolidateté®tent of Cash Flows are summar
below:

(In millions) 201< 201 2012
Operating activitie! $ 1,097 $ 65¢ $ 95¢
Investing activities (2,06%) (629) (47¢)
Financing activitie: 552 (240 29

Cash flows from operating activities increased $48Bion during 2014, compared with 2013, largelyedto a favorable change in work
capital, higher income from continuing operation$b20 million and lower contributions of $118 ol to our pension plans, partially off
by $175 million of dividends received from the Fica group in 2013. Working capital was
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favorably impacted by an increase of $226 milliorcustomer deposits, primarily at Textron Aviatiand a $174 million increase in cash fi
accounts receivable, largely at Bell, partiallyseff by an increase in net tax payments of $43anillNet tax payments were $266 million
$223 million in 2014 and 2013, respectively.

We generated $658 million in cash from operatintivéies in 2013 on $914 million in Manufacturingayip segment profit and $470 million
income from continuing operations. The $300 millidecrease in cash flows from operating activitiesnf 2012 was largely due to a $
million impact related to working capital requirent® and $64 million in lower income from continuingerations, which were partially off
by $211 million in lower contributions to our peosiplans in 2013. The most significant change iwithorking capital was a $230 milli
unfavorable impact resulting from net tax paymerit$223 million in 2013, compared to net tax refsimd $7 million in 2012. In addition, \
had $165 million in cash inflows related to changemventory levels, largely at Textron Aviatiomhich was more than offset by $264 mill
of cash outflows from changes in accounts receé&vabd accounts payable. The change in inventegideat Textron Aviation was primar
related to lower pre-owned inventory, partiallysaf by higher inventory in support of new sales.

Pension contributions were $76 million, $194 milliand $405 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respebti

In 2014, cash flows from investing activities indhd a $1.6 billion aggregate cash payment for Beafthand seven other acquisitions wi
our Industrial and Textron Systems segments. Qasls ffrom investing activities in 2013 included $1®illion of cash used for acquisitions
businesses within our Industrial and Textron Systemgments and two service centers in our Textraatidn segment. Cash flows frc
investing activities also included capital expeuadit of $429 million, $444 million and $480 milliam2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Cash flows from financing activities in 2014 incaeproceeds from longrm debt of $1.4 billion, most of which was usedihance a portic
of the Beechcraft acquisition, partially offset the repayment of $559 million of outstanding ddht2013, cash flows used in financ
activities primarily consisted of the repaymen®$628 million of outstanding debt, including thetlsshent of our convertible notes, which \
partially offset by proceeds from lorigrm debt of $150 million. In 2012, we generatadicfrom financing activities, largely due to teeeip
of $490 million from the Finance group in paymehits intergroup borrowing, partially offset by $million in share repurchases and ¢
million in payments on our outstanding debt.

Dividends
Dividend payments to shareholders totaled $28 anill$22 million and $17 million in 2014, 2013 ar@il2, respectively.

Share Repurchases

During 2014, under a 2013 share repurchase audtionz we repurchased an aggregate of 8.9 millf@res of our outstanding common si
for $340 million. In 2012, under a 2007 share repase authorization, we repurchased 11.1 millleares of our outstanding common st
for $272 million.

Capital Contributions Paid To and Dividends Recdieom the Finance Group

Under a Support Agreement between Textron and TIFeRtron is required to maintain a controlling irtstr in TFC. The agreement ¢
requires Textron to ensure that TFC maintains fislearge coverage of no less than 125% and consatiddareholdes’ equity of no less th.
$200 million. Cash contributions paid to TFC to miain compliance with the Support Agreement anddeénds paid by TFC to Textron i
are detailed below:

(In millions) 201< 201: 2012
Dividends paid by TFC to Textrc $ = $ 17t $ 34E
Capital contributions paid to TFC under Support&gmnen: — — (240

Due to the nature of these contributions, we diggbiese contributions within cash flows used bemping activities for the Manufacturi
group in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flo@apital contributions to support Finance groupwgh in the ongoing captive finar
business are classified as cash flows from finanattivities. The Finance group’s net income idwked from the Manufacturing grougptas
flows, while dividends from the Finance group ameluded within cash flows from operating activities the Manufacturing group as tt
represent a return on investment.
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Finance Group Cash Flows
The cash flows from continuing operations for tleaRce group are summarized below:

(In millions) 201< 201: 2012
Operating activitie! $ 5 $ 66 $ 5
Investing activities 25k 624 934
Financing activitie: (217) (677) (918)

In 2014 and 2013, the Finance grapash flows from operating activities were prifyaiinpacted by changes in net taxes paid/receied
tax (payments)/receipts were $(23) million, $49ioml and $(43) million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, esyvely.

Cash flows from investing activities primarily inicled finance receivables repaid and proceeds fades ©f receivables and other fina
assets totaling $499 million, $853 million and $hilion in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, @dit offset by financial receivab
originations of $215 million, $271 million and $38&iillion, respectively.

Cash used in financing activities included paymemt$ongterm and nonrecourse debt of $345 million, $743ioniland $426 million in 201
2013 and 2012, respectively, which were partiaffigai by proceeds from lonigrm debt of $128 million, $298 million and $106llion,
respectively. In 2013 and 2012, dividend paymenthé Manufacturing group, net of capital contribns received, totaled $174 million ¢
$105 million, respectively. In 2012, the Financeugy also made cash payments of $493 million to Ntemufacturing group related
intergroup borrowings.

Consolidated Cash Flows
The consolidated cash flows from continuing operaj after elimination of activity between the lseving groups, are summarized below:

(In millions) 201¢ 201: 201z
Operating activitie! $ 1,211 $ 81z $ 93t
Investing activities (1,919 (264) 37¢
Financing activitie: 33t (742) (781

Cash flows from operating activities increased $888ion during 2014, compared with 2013, largelyedto a favorable change in work
capital, lower contributions of $118 million to opension plans and higher income from continuingragions of $107 million. Working capi
was favorably impacted by an increase of $226 onilin customer deposits, primarily at Textron Awat and a $174 million increase in ¢
from accounts receivable, largely at Bell, paiaffset by an increase in net tax payments of $&hilbon and lower net cash receipts fr
captive finance receivables of $87 million. Net p@yments were $289 million and $174 million in 2Ghd 2013, respectively.

During 2013, cash flows from operating activitiecrbased $122 million, compared with 2012, largklg to a $133 million impact relatec
working capital requirements and lower earningsictviwere partially offset by a $206 million impaatf lower contributions to our pensi
plans in 2013. Significant changes within workirapital included a $138 million unfavorable impagsulting from net taxes paid between
periods as net tax payments were $174 million a8l iillion in 2013 and 2012, respectively, and $26dlion of cash outflows related
changes in accounts receivable and accounts payBise cash outflows were partially offset by $18ilion of cash inflows related
changes in inventory levels, largely at Textronatiin, and a $141 million impact from lower captfireance receivables.

In 2014, cash flows from investing activities indhd a $1.6 billion aggregate cash payment for Beafthand seven other acquisitions wi
our Industrial and Textron Systems segments. dasls ffrom investing activities in 2013 included $1®illion of cash used for acquisitions
businesses within our Industrial and Textron Systemgments and two service centers in our Textraatidn segment. Cash flows fr
investing activities also included capital expendis of $429 million, $444 million and $480 million 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectiv
Collections on finance receivables and proceeds fales of finance receivables and other finansetagotaled $134 million, $368 millic
and $848 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Cash flows from financing activities in 2014 incaeproceeds of $1.6 billion from longrm debt, most of which was used to finance aiqm
of the Beechcraft acquisition, partially offset the repayment of $904 million of outstanding debt.2013 and 2012, financing activit
primarily consisted of the repayment of outstandmmgterm debt of $1.3 billion and $617 million, respeely, partially offset by procee
from the issuance of longrm debt of $448 million and $106 million, respeely. Cash used in financing activities also ud#d $340 millio
and $272 million of share repurchases in 2014 &1 2respectively.
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Captive Financing and Other Intercompany Transactias

The Finance group finances retail purchases arsbsefor new and pre-owned aircraft and equipneatufactured by our Manufactur
group, otherwise known as captive financing. & @onsolidated Statements of Cash Flows, cashvextfiom customers or from the sale
receivables is reflected as operating activitiegnvteceived from third parties. However, in thehcllow information provided for the sepal
borrowing groups, cash flows related to captiveaficing activities are reflected based on the ojerstof each group. For example, w
product is sold by our Manufacturing group to ateoser and is financed by the Finance group, thegimation of the finance receivable
recorded within investing activities as a cashloutfin the Finance group’s statement of cash floWeanwhile, in the Manufacturing growsp’
statement of cash flows, the cash received fronFihance group on the custonwbehalf is recorded within operating cash flowsaass
inflow. Although cash is transferred between the borrowing groups, there is no cash transactmonrted in the consolidated cash flow
the time of the original financing. These captfirencing activities, along with all significanttercompany transactions, are reclassifie
eliminated from the Consolidated Statements of Gadsivs.

Reclassification and elimination adjustments ineldich the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flowsamamarized below:

(In millions) 201 201: 2012
Reclassifications from investing activitie

Finance receivable originations for Manufacturimgup inventory sale $ (215) $ (24¢) $ (309

Cash received from customers and the sale of ralokeis 36& 48k 40k

Other (42) 27 (16)
Total reclassifications from investing activiti 10¢ 264 80
Reclassifications from financing activitie

Capital contributions paid by Manufacturing groogFinance grou — 1 24C

Dividends received by Manufacturing group from Fioa groug — 175 (34%)

Other — (D (3)
Total reclassifications from financing activiti — (175) (10€)
Total reclassifications and adjustments to cash flom operating activitie $ 10¢ $ 89 $ (28)

Contractual Obligations

Manufacturing Group

The following table summarizes the known contralctldigations, as defined by reporting regulation,our Manufacturing group as
January 3, 2015:

Payments Due by Perioc

More Than 5
(In millions) Total Year 1 Years z-3 Years £-5 Years
Liabilities reflected in balance she
Long-term deb $ 2,81¢ $ 8 $ 76€ $ 562 $ 1,48(
Interest on borrowing 747 12¢ 242 17¢€ 201
Pension benefits for unfunded ple 392 26 49 46 271
Postretirement benefits other than pens 413 45 79 65 224
Other lon¢-term liabilities 65C 121 194 76 25¢
Liabilities not reflected in balance she
Purchase obligatior 3,37( 2,651 677 28 14
Operating lease 43¢ 73 104 68 19z
Total Manufacturing grou $ 8,82¢ $ 3,05: $ 2,111 $ 1,021 $ 2,64:

Pension and Postretirement Bene

We maintain defined benefit pension plans and ptstment benefit plans other than pensions asusésr] in Note 11 to the Consolid:
Financial Statements. Included in the above tal#ediscounted estimated benefit payments we expactke related to unfunded pension
other postretirement benefit plans. Actual bengfiyments are dependent on a number of factorgdimg mortality assumptions, expec
retirement age, rate of compensation increasesnaetical trend rates, which are subject to changkitire years. Our policy for fundi
pension plans is to make contributions annuallysient with applicable laws and regulations; haevefuture contributions to our pens
plans are not included in the above table. In 20d&expect to make approximately $54 million ohtcdbutions to our funded pension pl
and the Retirement Account Plan. Based on our sumssumptions, which may change with changes irkehaconditions, our curre
contribution estimates for each of the years fraddd&@through 2019 are estimated to be in the rarfiggpproximately $65 million to $1!
million under the plan provisions in place at ttiise.
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Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other longterm liabilities included in the table consist pairity of undiscounted amounts in the ConsolidatedaBce Sheet as of Januar
2015, representing obligations under deferred cowgton arrangements and estimated environmenta¢diation costs. Payments ur
deferred compensation arrangements have been tsfitnased on managemendissumptions of expected retirement age, mortalibgk pric
and rates of return on participant deferrals. Tilreng of cash flows associated with environmemtahediation costs is largely basec
historical experience. Other lorigrkm liabilities, such as deferred taxes, unrecaphitax benefits and product liability, warrantydditigation
reserves, have been excluded from the table dtietoncertainty of the timing of payments combimétth the absence of historical trends tc
used as a predictor for such payments.

Purchase Obligation

Purchase obligations include undiscounted amoumtsnttted under legally enforceable contracts orcpase orders for goods and serv
with defined terms as to price, quantity and deljivdates. Approximately 33% of the purchase obiiget we disclose represent purct
orders issued for goods and services to be detivengler firm contracts with the U.S. Governmentidrich we have full recourse un
customary contract termination clauses.

Finance Group
The following table summarizes the known contralctidigations, as defined by reporting regulatioopur Finance group as of Januar
2015:

Payments Due by Perioc

More Than 5
(In millions) Total Year 1 Years z-3 Years ¢-5 Years
Liabilities reflected in balance she
Term debt $ 66& $ 82 $ 362 $ 11t $ 10t
Subordinated det 29¢ — — — 29¢
Securitized dek 98 46 35 9 8
Interest on borrowing 227 37 47 21 122
Total Finance grou $ 1,28¢ $ 16F $ 44F $ 14F $ 534

Securitized debt payments do not represent contthobligations of the Finance group, and we dopmovide legal recourse to investors \
purchase interests in the securitizations beyoadtédit enhancement inherent in the retained slitate interests.

At January 3, 2015, the Finance group also hadndiB®n in other liabilities that are payable withihe next 12 months.

Critical Accounting Estimates

To prepare our Consolidated Financial Statementseton conformity with generally accepted accoumtaminciples, we must make comp
and subjective judgments in the selection and eatitin of accounting policies. The accounting gie that we believe are most critical to
portrayal of our financial condition and resultsaferations are listed below. We believe theseiesl require our most difficult, subject
and complex judgments in estimating the effectndferent uncertainties. This section should be iaadonjunction with Note 1 to tl
Consolidated Financial Statements, which includbsrosignificant accounting policies.

Long-Term Contracts

We make a substantial portion of our sales to gowent customers pursuant to lolegm contracts. These contracts require developara
delivery of products over multiple years and magtamn fixed-price purchase options for additionadgucts. We account for these lotagrr
contracts under the percentagecofpletion method of accounting. Under this metheod estimate profit as the difference betweenl
estimated revenues and cost of a contract. Theeptge-otompletion method of accounting involves the usevafious estimatir
techniques to project costs at completion and,omes cases, includes estimates of recoveries adsagtanst the customer for change
specifications. Due to the size, length of time aature of many of our contracts, the estimatibtol contract costs and revenues thrc
completion is complicated and subject to many e relative to the outcome of future events avperiod of several years. We are reqt
to make numerous assumptions and estimates refatiitgms such as expected engineering requiremeaisplexity of design and rela
development costs, product performance, performahsabcontractors, availability and cost of matkstilabor productivity and cost, overh
and capital costs, manufacturing efficiencies dmedachievement of contract milestones, includiragpct deliveries, technical requirements
schedule.
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Our cost estimation process is based on the piofedsknowledge and experience of engineers andram managers along with finai
professionals. We update our projections of casteast semiannually or when circumstances sianfly change. Adjustments to projec
costs are recognized in earnings when determinaMigicipated losses on contracts are recognizeflilinn the period in which the loss
become probable and estimable. Due to the sigmifie of judgment in the estimation process destrddmve, it is likely that materia
different revenues and/or cost of sales amountfddeel recorded if we used different assumptiond tire underlying circumstances were
change. Our earnings could be reduced by a mhtmaunt resulting in a charge to earnings if @lt estimated contract costs
significantly higher than expected due to changesustomer specifications prior to contract amenami) total estimated contract costs
significantly higher than previously estimated daecost overruns or inflation, (c) there is a cheung engineering efforts required during
development stage of the contract or (d) we ardlerta meet contract milestones.

At the outset of each contract, we estimate thgalnprofit booking rate. The initial profit bookinrate of each contract considers r
surrounding the ability to achieve the technicaguieements (for example, a newdgveloped product versus a mature product), schdfiu
example, the number and type of milestone eveats), costs by contract requirements in the init&lneated costs at completion. Pr
booking rates may increase during the performamtkeocontract if we successfully retire risks sumding the technical, schedule, and ¢
aspects of the contract. Likewise, the profit baogkiate may decrease if we are not successfutinmgethe risks; and, as a result, our estim
costs at completion increase. All of the estimates subject to change during the performance ottimtract and, therefore, may affect
profit booking rate. When adjustments are requiagy, changes from prior estimates are recognizieg) dise cumulative catchp method wit
the impact of the change from inception-to-dat@reed in the current period.

The following table sets forth the aggregate garesunt of all program profit adjustments that aeuded within segment profit for the th
years ended January 3, 20

(In millions) 2014 201% 201z
Gross favorabl $ 132 $ 51 $ 8¢
Gross unfavorabl (37) (22 (73)
Net adjustment $ 95 $ 28 $ 1t
Goodwill

We evaluate the recoverability of goodwill annuatythe fourth quarter or more frequently if eventschanges in circumstances, suc
declines in sales, earnings or cash flows, or riztadverse changes in the business climate, itelitat the carrying value of a reporting
might be impaired. The reporting unit represehis operating segment unless discrete financialnmdtion is prepared and reviewed
segment management for businesses one level belwoperating segment, in which case such compdaeghe reporting unit. In certe
instances, we have aggregated components of aatogesegment into a single reporting unit basedionlar economic characteristics.

We calculate the fair value of each reporting umitmarily using discounted cash flows. These démlis incorporate assumptions for short
and longterm revenue growth rates, operating margins asdodint rates that represent our best estimatesroént and forecasted mar
conditions, cost structure, anticipated net codticéons, and the implied rate of return that wkele a market participant would require fol
investment in a business having similar risks ansiress characteristics to the reporting unit baissessed. The revenue growth rate:
operating margins used in our discounted cash #oalysis are based on our strategic plans andriomge planning forecasts. The lotegrr
growth rate we use to determine the terminal value business is based on our assessment ofrilsium expected terminal growth rate
well as its past historical growth and broader eooic considerations such as gross domestic prothflgtion and the maturity of the mark
we serve. We utilize a weightedkerage cost of capital in our impairment analyiség makes assumptions about the capital strutatewe
believe a market participant would make and incladesk premium based on an assessment of risk&edeto the projected cash flows of €
reporting unit. We believe this approach yielddiscount rate that is consistent with an implie raf return that an independent investc
market participant would require for an investmint company having similar risks and businessadtaristics to the reporting unit be
assessed.

If the reporting units estimated fair value exceeds its carrying vale,reporting unit is not impaired, and no furthealysis is performe
Otherwise, the amount of the impairment must berd@hed by comparing the carrying amount of theorgéipg unit’'s goodwill to the implie
fair value of that goodwill. The implied fair vawf goodwill is determined by assigning a fairueato all of the reporting ung’assets ai
liabilities, including any unrecognized intangildesets, as if the reporting unit had been acquired business combination. If the carry
amount of the goodwill exceeds the implied fairneglan impairment loss would be recognized in aowarhequal to that excess.
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Based on our annual impairment review, the faiugadf all of our reporting units exceeded theirgag values, and we do not believe
there is a reasonable possibility that any unitghinfail the initial step of the impairment testtive foreseeable future.

Retirement Benefits

We maintain various pension and postretirementgpfan our employees globally. These plans inclsidaificant pension and postretirem
benefit obligations, which are calculated basedaoctuarial valuations. Key assumptions used inrdeteng these obligations and rela
expenses include expected Ilaiegm rates of return on plan assets, discount mateshealthcare cost projections. We also makengstion:
regarding employee demographic factors such asmetint patterns, mortality, turnover and rate aghpensation increases. We evaluate
update these assumptions annually.

To determine the weighted-average expected teng-rate of return on plan assets, we considectineent and expected asset allocatiol
well as historical and expected returns on each afset class. A lower expected rate of returplan assets will increase pension expe
For 2014, the assumed expected lterga rate of return on plan assets used in caloglaension expense was 7.60%, compared with 7i8
2013. For the last three years, the assumed fagtuon for our domestic plans, which represemgrapimately 90% of our total pension ass
was 7.75%. A 50-basis-point decrease in this lkemgy rate of return in 2014 would have increasatsjpm expense for our domestic plan:
approximately $27 million.

The discount rate enables us to state expectetefbinefit payments as a present value on the merasnt date, reflecting the current ral
which the pension liabilities could be effectivedgttled. This rate should be in line with rates Higgh-quality fixed income investmer
available for the period to maturity of the pensbmmefits, which fluctuate as lorigrm interest rates change. A lower discount irteease
the present value of the benefit obligations anteases pension expense. In 2014, the weightethge discount rate used in calcule
pension expense was 4.92%, compared with 4.23%918.2For our domestic plans, the assumed disaat@twas 5.00% in 2014, compa
with 4.25% for 2013. A 50-baspmint decrease in this discount rate in 2014 wdwslde increased pension expense for our domestis joly
approximately $29 million.

The trend in healthcare costs is difficult to estiey and it has an important effect on postretirentiabilities. The 2014 medical a
prescription drug healthcare cost trend rates semtethe weightedverage annual projected rate of increase in thegggta cost of cover
benefits. In 2014, we assumed a trend rate of%.6@r both medical and prescription drug healthaates and assumed this rate wi
decrease to 5.00% by 2021 and then remain at ¢et.| See Note 11 to the Consolidated FinanciateStents for the impact of a one
percentage-point change in the cost trend rate.

Warranty and Product Maintenance Liabilities

We provide limited warranty and product maintenapiagrams, including parts and labor, for certaiodpicts for periods ranging from one
five years. A significant portion of these liah#i$ arises from our commercial aircraft businesdd® also may incur costs related to pro
recalls. We estimate the costs that may be induwireder warranty programs and record a liabilitthe amount of such costs at the 1
product revenue is recognized. Factors that aftfast liability include the number of products soldstorical costs per claim, contraci
recoveries from vendors, and historical and arditeig rates of warranty claims, including productzord warranty patterns for new modkt
During our initial aircraft model launches, we tyglly incur higher warrantyelated costs until the production process matweghich poir
warranty costs moderate. We assess the adequanyr oecorded warranty and product maintenancdlitieb periodically and adjust tl
amounts as necessary. Adjustments are made toadeas claim data and actual experience wari@hbuld future warranty experience di
materially from our historical experience, we may fequired to record additional warranty liabiktievhich could have a material adve
effect on our results of operations and cash flowvitke period in which these additional liabilitiese required.

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax balances reflect the effectdeafiporary differences between the financial reépgrcarrying amounts of assets
liabilities and their tax bases, as well as frorhaperating losses and tax credit carryforwardd, ame stated at enacted tax rates in effect fc
year taxes are expected to be paid or recoverederi2d income tax assets represent amounts aeatlalveduce income taxes payable
taxable income in future years. We evaluate tloewerability of these future tax deductions andlitseby assessing the adequacy of ft
expected taxable income from all sources, includivegfuture reversal of existing taxable tempomdifferences, taxable income in carryb
years, available tax planning strategies and estishnfuture taxable incom

The amount of income taxes we pay is subject toimggaudits by federal, state and foreign tax adtiles, which may result in propos
assessments. Our estimate of the potential outdormeny uncertain tax issue is highly judgmentdle assess our income tax positions
record tax benefits for all years subject to exatidm based upon our evaluation of the facts, oistances and information available at
reporting date. For those tax positions for whidh more likely than not that a tax benefit wikk sustained, we record the largest amount
benefit with a greater than 50% likelihood of bemsglized upon settlement with a taxing authoritgitthas full knowledge of all relevi
information. Interest and penalties are accruddre/
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applicable. We recognize net tesdated interest and penalties for continuing ojfg@mna in income tax expense. If we do not belithat it is
more likely than not that a tax benefit will be &iised, no tax benefit is recognized. However, foture results may include favorable
unfavorable adjustments to our estimated tax sl due to settlement of income tax examinationsw regulatory or judici
pronouncements, or other relevant events. Asudty@air effective tax rate may fluctuate signifitlg on a quarterly and annual basis.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Foreign Currency Exchange Risks

Our financial results are affected by changes iaifm currency exchange rates in the various camin which our products are manufactt
and/or sold. For our manufacturing operations, mamage exposures to foreign currency assets amihgsrprimarily by funding certa
foreign currencydenominated assets with liabilities in the sameaenay so that certain exposures are naturally off$€e primarily us
borrowings denominated in British pound sterling fleese purposes. In managing our foreign currdraysaction exposures, we also €
into foreign currency exchange contracts. Thesdraots generally are used to fix the local curyeosst of purchased goods or service
selling prices denominated in currencies other ttenfunctional currency. The notional amount afstanding foreign currency excha
contracts was approximately $696 million and $63#ion at the end of 2014 and 2013, respectivelye Tmpact of foreign currency excha
rate changes on revenues and segment profit fat 20d 2013 from the prior year was not significant.

Interest Rate Risks

Our financial results are affected by changes iarast rates. As part of managing this risk, weks® achieve a prudent balance betv
floating- and fixedrate exposures. We continually monitor our mixhafse exposures and adjust the mix, as necesBarypur Finance grou
we limit our risk to changes in interest rates vathtrategy of matching floating-rate assets wihtfng-rate liabilities.

Quantitative Risk Measures

In the normal course of business, we enter intanfiial instruments for purposes other than tradifig.quantify the market risk inherent in
financial instruments, we utilize a sensitivity bisés. The financial instruments that are subjecinarket risk (interest rate risk and fore
exchange rate risk) include finance receivablesl(ehing leases), debt (excluding lease obligatiams) foreign currency exchange contracts.

Presented below is a sensitivity analysis of thevalue of financial instruments outstanding aaend. We estimate the fair value of
financial instruments using discounted cash flovalgsis and indicative market pricing as reported légding financial news and d
providers. This sensitivity analysis is most likelot indicative of actual results in the futurdeTfollowing table illustrates the sensitivity t
hypothetical change in the fair value of the finahtstruments assuming a 10% decrease in intesitest and a 10% strengthening in exch
rates against the U.S. dollar.

2014 2013
Sensitivity of Sensitivity of
Fair Value Fair Value
Carrying Fair toa 10% Carrying Fair toa 10%
(In millions) Value* Value* Change Value* Value* Change
Manufacturing group
Foreign exchange rate ris
Debt $ (236 $ (279 $ 28 $ (249 $ (279 $ 27
Foreign currency exchange contre (12) (12) 52 (12 (12) 33
$ (249) $ (28¢) $ 24 $ (26]) $ (287) $ 6
Interest rate risk
Debt $ (2,742 $ (2,949 $ (21) $ (1,859 $ (2,029) $ (13)
Finance group
Interest rate risk
Finance receivable $ 1,03¢ $ 1,05¢ $ 20 $ 1,29¢ $ 1,35¢ $ 24
Debt, including intergrou (1,069 (1,057) 9 (1,256 (1,249 (4)

* The value represents an asset or (liability).
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our Consolidated Financial Statements and theeglatports of our independent registered publio@atting firm thereon are included in this Annuaipd
on Form 10-K on the pages indicated below:

Page
Report of Management 38
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accouriing 39
Consolidated Statements of Operations for eacheof¢ars in the thr-year period ended January 3, 2( 41
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomedch of the years in the th-year period ended January 3, 2( 42
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 3, 2tllDecember 28, 201 43
Consolidated Statements of Sharehol Equity for each of the years in the tr-year period ended January 3, 2( 44
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for eacheoféars in the thr-year period ended January 3, 2( 45
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statem
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Polici 47
Note 2. Business Acquisitions, Goodwill and Intangible Ats: 52
Note 3. Accounts Receivable and Finance Receiva 54
Note 4. Inventories 56
Note 5. Property, Plant and Equipment, I 56
Note 6. Accrued Liabilities 57
Note 7. Debt and Credit Facilitie 57
Note 8. Derivative Instruments and Fair Value Measurem 58
Note 9. Shareholdel' Equity 59
Note 10.  Shar-Based Compensatic 62
Note 11.  Retirement Plan 64
Note 12.  Income Taxe: 68
Note 13.  Contingencies and Commitmel 71
Note 14.  Supplemental Cash Flow Informati 71
Note 15.  Segment and Geographic D: 72
Supplementary Informatiol
Quarterly Data for 2014 and 2013 (Unaudit 74
Schedule I+ Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 75

All other schedules are omitted either because #neynot applicable or not required or becausedbaired information is included in the financitdtement
or notes thereto.
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Report of Management

Management is responsible for the integrity andectijity of the financial data presented in thisndal Report on Form 1K: The
Consolidated Financial Statements have been prépareonformity with U.S. generally accepted acamg principles and include amou
based on managemestbest estimates and judgments. Management alsgsf®nsible for establishing and maintaining adégjunternz
control over financial reporting for Textron Incs guch term is defined in Exchange Act Rules13). With the participation of o
management, we conducted an evaluation of thetefé@ess of our internal control over financial sgpng based on criteria establishe:
Internal Control —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpong Organizations of the Treadway CommissioQl§
Framework). Based on our evaluation under the framnie in Internal Control 4ntegrated Framework, we have concluded that Taxing
maintained, in all material respects, effectiveinal control over financial reporting as of Jaguzr2015.

The independent registered public accounting flEmst & Young LLP, has audited the ConsolidatecaRaial Statements of Textron Inc.
has issued an attestation report on Texfanternal controls over financial reporting asJahuary 3, 2015, as stated in its reports, whie
included herein.

We conduct our business in accordance with thedatas outlined in the Textron Business Conduct 8linds, which are communicated tc
employees. Honesty, integrity and high ethicahdtaids are the core values of how we conduct bssinEvery Textron business prepares
carries out an annual Compliance Plan to ensusethalues and standards are maintained. Our @iteontrol structure is designed to proy
reasonable assurance, at appropriate cost, thetseam® safeguarded and that transactions arerfyrapecuted and recorded. The inte
control structure includes, among other thingsaldisthed policies and procedures, an internal dudittion, and the selection and training
qualified personnel. Textrom' management is responsible for implementing effecinternal control systems and monitoring t
effectiveness, as well as developing and execuatmgnnual internal control plan.

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, aghblf of the shareholders, oversees manageménéncial reporting responsibilities. 1
Audit Committee consists of six directors who aat officers or employees of Textron and meets rdplwith the independent auditc
management and our internal auditors to reviewaratelating to financial reporting, internal aceting controls and auditing.

/s/ Scott C. Donnell /s/ Frank T. Connc
Scott C. Donnelly Frank T. Conno
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offi Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

February 25, 201
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Texinon

We have audited Textron Inc.’s internal control ofieancial reporting as of January 3, 2015, basedriteria established in Internal Control
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiobl® Framework) (the COS
criteria). Textron Incs management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting, amad fts assessment
the effectiveness of internal control over finaheigporting included in the accompanying ReportM#nagement. Our responsibility is
express an opinion on the company’s internal cootrer financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our audituded obtaining an understanding of internal cdrax@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiafpthe design and operating effectiveness ofriratiecontrol based on the assessed risk
performing such other procedures as we considereessary in the circumstances. We believe thatwdit provides a reasonable basis fol
opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financie
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmdar external purposes in accordance with gelyeealcepted accounting principles.
companys internal control over financial reporting inclediose policies and procedures that (1) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseottimpany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@amdgth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoasizations of management
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanaslsurance regarding prevention or timely deteatfounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohwver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdaces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Textron Inc. maintained, in all @aal respects, effective internal control ovemafigial reporting as of January 3, 2015, b
on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@wnited States), the Consolids
Balance Sheets of Textron Inc. as of January 352&1d December 28, 2013, and the related ConsetidStatements of Operatic
Comprehensive Income, Shareholddgguity and Cash Flows for each of the three yaatheé period ended January 3, 2015 of Textror
and our report dated February 25, 2015 expressed@umlified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Boston, Massachuse!
February 25, 201
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Toextnc.

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Bel&heets of Textron Inc. as of January 3, 2015Dswmber 28, 2013, and the rel;
Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehemsoome, Shareholdergquity and Cash Flows for each of the three yaatheé perio
ended January 3, 2015. Our audits also includedirtancial statement schedule contained on pagél'figse financial statements and sche
are the responsibility of the Compasyhanagement. Our responsibility is to express@inion on these financial statements and sch
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those stand
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebta@asonable assurance about whether the finaptaggments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, onsa basis, evidence supporting the amounts andodises in the financial statements.
audit also includes assessing the accounting piegiused and significant estimates made by marageras well as evaluating the ove
financial statement presentation. We believe thiataudits provide a reasonable basis for our opini

In our opinion, the financial statements referrecabove present fairly, in all material respedts, tonsolidated financial position of Text
Inc. at January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013k ddnsolidated results of its operations andashdlows for each of the three years ir
period ended January 3, 2015, in conformity witts.Ugenerally accepted accounting principles. Alsogur opinion, the related financ
statement schedule, when considered in relatidhddoasic financial statements taken as a whoksepts fairly in all material respects
information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bloédnited States), Textron Ine.

internal control over financial reporting as of dary 3, 2015, based on criteria established irrmateControl -ntegrated Framework issued
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of thea@lway Commission (2013 Framework) and our repateddFebruary 25, 2015 expres
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Boston, Massachuse!
February 25, 201
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

For each of the years in the three-year period@ddauary 3, 2015

(In millions, except per share dat 2014 2012 2012
Revenues
Manufacturing revenue $ 13,77¢ $ 11,97: $ 12,02:
Finance revenue 10z 132 21F
Total revenue 13,87¢ 12,10¢ 12,23;
Costs and expenses
Cost of sale: 11,42: 10,13: 10,01¢
Selling and administrative exper 1,361 1,12¢ 1,16
Interest expens 191 17¢ 212
Acquisition and restructuring cos 52 — —
Total costs and expens 13,02t 11,43( 11,39¢
Income from continuing operations before incomes 858 674 841
Income tax expens 24¢ 17¢€ 26C
Income from continuing operations 60% 49¢ 581
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, nehobme taxe: (5) — 8
Net income $ 60C $ 49¢ $ 58¢
Basic earnings per shar¢
Continuing operation $ 217 $ 1.7¢ $ 207
Discontinued operatior (0.02) — 0.0z
Basic earnings per share $ 2.1f $ 1.7¢ $ 2.1C
Diluted earnings per share
Continuing operation $ 2.1f $ 1.7t $ 197
Discontinued operatior (0.02) — 0.0z
Diluted earnings per share $ 2.1: $ 1.7t $ 2.0C

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For each of the years in the three-year period@ddauary 3, 2015

(In millions) 201< 201: 2012
Net income $ 60C $ 49¢ $ 58¢
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
Pension and postretirement benefits adjustmentafmeclassification: (407 747 (14¢€)
Foreign currency translation adjustme (75) 12 2
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contracts, nettassfications 3 (16) (1)
Other comprehensive income (lo (479 743 (14%)
Comprehensive income $ 121 $ 1,241 $ 444

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

January 3, December 2€
(In millions, except share dat 201¢ 201:
Assets
Manufacturing group
Cash and equivalen $ 731 $ 1,16
Accounts receivable, n 1,03t 97¢
Inventories 3,92¢ 2,96:
Other current asse 57¢ 467
Total current assets 6,27 5,57
Property, plant and equipment, | 2,49 2,21t
Goodwill 2,02 1,73t
Other asset 2,27¢ 1,69
Total Manufacturing group assets 13,07¢ 11,21¢
Finance group
Cash and equivalen 91 48
Finance receivables, n 1,23¢ 1,49:
Other asset 20C 184
Total Finance group asset: 1,52¢ 1,72¢
Total assets $ 14,60¢ $ 12,94«
Liabilities and shareholders equity
Liabilities
Manufacturing group
Current portion of lon-term deb $ 8 $ 8
Accounts payabl 1,014 1,107
Accrued liabilities 2,61¢ 1,88¢
Total current liabilities 3,63¢ 3,00:
Other liabilities 2,58 2,11¢
Long-term deb! 2,80z 1,92%
Total Manufacturing group liabilities 9,02¢ 7,044
Finance group
Other liabilities 242 26C
Debt 1,06 1,25¢
Total Finance group liabilities 1,30¢ 1,51¢
Total liabilities 10,33 8,56(
Shareholders equity
Common stock (285.5 million and 282.1 million shwaissued, respectively,
and 276.6 million and 282.1 million shares outstagdrespectively 36 35
Capital surplut 1,45¢ 1,331
Treasury stocl (340 —
Retained earning 4,62 4,04~
Accumulated other comprehensive | (1,506 (1,02%)
Total shareholders equity 4,27 4,38¢
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 14,60¢ $ 12,94:

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Accumulated

Other Total

Common Capital Treasury Retainec  Comprehensive Shareholders’

(In millions, except per share dat Stock Surplus Stock Earnings Loss Equity
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 35§ 1081 $ 3 $ 325 $ (162) $ 2,74f
Net income 58¢ 58¢
Other comprehensive lo (14%) (14%)
Dividends declared ($0.08 per she (22) (22
Shar+-based compensation activ 96 96
Purchases of common sta (272) (272)
Balance at December 29, 20 35 1,175 (27%) 3,82¢ (1,770 2,991
Net income 49¢ 49¢
Other comprehensive incor 743 743
Dividends declared ($0.08 per she (22) (22)
Shar+-based compensation activ 99 9¢
Purchases/conversions of convertible n 2 39 (472) —
Settlement of capped ci 75 75
Retirement of treasury sto (2) (59 31€ (25E) —
Balance at December 28, 20 35 1,331 — 4,04¢ (1,029 4,38¢
Net income 60C 60C
Other comprehensive lo (479 (479
Dividends declared ($0.08 per she (22 (22
Shar+-based compensation activ 1 134 13t
Purchases of common sta (340 (340
Other (6) (6)
Balance at January 3, 20 $ 36 $ 145¢ $ (340 $ 462 $ (1,500 $ 4,27

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For each of the years in the three-year periodéddauary 3, 2015

Consolidated

(In millions) 2014 201z 201z
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 60C $ 498 % 58¢
Less: Income (loss) from discontinued operati (5) — 8
Income from continuing operatio 60% 49¢ 581
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing rapiens to net cash provided by operating actisi
Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortizatic 45¢ 38¢ 38:¢
Deferred income taxe 29 86 171
Other, ne 10C 61 86
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivable, n 56 (11¢) 32
Inventories (209) (118 (31€)
Other asset (33 (42 7
Accounts payabl (228) 65 17¢
Accrued and other liabilitie 311 (182 (96)
Income taxes, ne (22 (84) 52
Pension, ne 46 17 (240)
Captive finance receivables, 15C 237 96
Other operating activities, n (5) 4 —
Net cash provided by operating activities of couitig operation: 1,211 813 93t
Net cash used in operating activities of discor@thaperation (3) (3) (8)
Net cash provided by operating activit 1,20¢ 81C 927
Cash flows from investing activities
Net cash used in acquisitio (1,62¢) (19€) 11
Capital expenditure (429 (444 (480)
Finance receivables repz 91 19C 59¢
Proceeds from sales of receivables and other fenasset 43 17¢ 24¢
Other investing activities, n 4 8 21
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi (1,919 (264) 37¢
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from lor-term debi 1,567 44¢ 10€
Principal payments on lo-term debt and nonrecourse d (9049 (1,05¢) (615)
Settlement of convertible not — (215) )]
Proceeds from settlement of capped — 75 —
Purchases of Textron common st (340 — (272)
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 50 31 18
Dividends paic (28) (22 a7
Other financing activities, ni (10 (3) —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 33E (742) (787)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and eqoig (13 (6) 4
Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalel (389 (202) 52¢
Cash and equivalents at beginning of \ 1,211 1,41% 88t
Cash and equivalents at end of y $ 822 $ 1,211 $ 1,418

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows continued

For each of the years in the three-year periodéddauary 3, 2015

Manufacturing Group

Finance Group

(In millions) 201¢ 201z 201z 2014 201: 201z
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 585 $ 47C $ 542 $ 15 $ 28 47
Less: Income (loss) from discontinued operati (5) — 8 — — —
Income from continuing operatio 59C 47( 534 15 28 47
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing rapiens to net cash provid:
by operating activities
Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortizatic 44¢ 371 35¢ 13 18 25
Deferred income taxe @ 51 10z 12 35 68
Other, ne 8€ 8€ 97 14 (25 13)
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivable, n 5€ (11¢) 32 — — —
Inventories (16¢) (23t (300 — — —
Other asset (18) (472) 21 (15 — (1)
Accounts payabl (228) 6E 17¢ — — —
Accrued and other liabilitie 31¢€ a7y 77) 5) (22) (19
Income taxes, ne a7 (119 14¢ 5) 35 (96)
Pension, ne 4€ 21 (247) — 4 1
Dividends received from Finance gro — 17t 34t — — —
Capital contributions paid to Finance grc — (D] (240) — — —
Other operating activities, n (5) 4 — — — —
Net cash provided by operating activities of couitig operation: 1,097 65¢ 95¢ 5 66 5
Net cash used in operating activities of discomthaperation 3 (3 (8) — — —
Net cash provided by operating activit 1,094 65E 95( 5 66 5
Cash flows from investing activities
Net cash used in acquisitio (1,62¢) (296) 11 — — —
Capital expenditure (429 (444 (480) — — —
Finance receivables repz — — — 45¢ 67t 1,004
Finance receivables originat — — — (21t 277) (33)
Proceeds from sales of receivables and other fenasset — — — 43 17¢ 24¢
Other investing activities, n (8) 1€ 15 (29 42 12
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi (2,06%) (624) (47€) 25k 624 934
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from lor-term deb 1,43¢ 15C — 12¢ 29¢ 10€
Principal payments on lo-term and nonrecourse de (559 (319 (189 (34%) (743) (426)
Settlement of convertible not — (21%) 2 — — —
Proceeds from settlement of capped — 75 — — — —
Purchases of Textron common st (340 — (272) — — —
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 5C 31 18 — — —
Dividends paic (28) (22 a7 — (17%) (345
Intergroup financing — 57 49C — (57 (499)
Capital contributions paid to Finance grc — — — — 1 24C
Other financing activities, ni (10 3 — — (1) —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 552 (240 29 (217) (677) (918)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and eqoig (13 (6) 4 — — —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalel (432) (215) 507 43 13 21
Cash and equivalents at beginning of y 1,168 1,37¢ 871 48 35 14
Cash and equivalents at end of y $ 731 $ 1,16: $ 1,37¢  $ 91 $ 48 $ 35

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Financial StatemenPresentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include ttmouants of Textron Inc. and its majority-owned sdiasies. OnMarch 14, 2014, w
completed the acquisition of all of the outstandaaity interests in Beech Holdings, LLC, whichlided Beechcraft Corporation and ot
subsidiaries, (collectively “Beechcraft"The results of Beechcraft have been included incamsolidated financial statements only for
period subsequent to the completion of the acduiisitAs a result, the consolidated financial restdtr the year ended January 3, 2015 d«
reflect a full year of Beechcraft operations.

Our financings are conducted through two separateotving groups. The Manufacturing group consigt3 extron Inc. consolidated with
majority-owned subsidiaries that operate in the Bell, TextBystems, Industrial segments and the Textrontéwissegment, which includ
the legacy Cessna segment and the acquired Beécbgsiness. The Finance group, which also is tinariee segment, consists of Tex
Financial Corporation (TFC) and its consolidatedssdiaries. We designed this framework to enhanceborrowing power by separating
Finance group. Our Manufacturing group operatimctuide the development, production and delivertanfjible goods and services, while
Finance group provides financial services. Dueht fundamental differences between each borrowiogip’s activities, investors, ratil
agencies and analysts use different measures loa¢waach group’performance. To support those evaluations, weegnt balance sheet i
cash flow information for each borrowing group viithhe Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our Finance group provides captive financing foaitgourchases and leases for new andgweed aircraft manufactured by our Manufactu
group. In the Consolidated Statements of Cash §l@ash received from customers or from the saleadivables is reflected as opera
activities when received from third parties. Hoegvin the cash flow information provided for theparate borrowing groups, cash fl
related to captive financing activities are refkgttbased on the operations of each group. For grarwhen product is sold by ¢
Manufacturing group to a customer and is financgdhle Finance group, the origination of the finaneeeivable is recorded within invest
activities as a cash outflow in the Finance growgtégement of cash flows. Meanwhile, in the Mantifang group$ statement of cash flov
the cash received from the Finance group on thiomes’s behalf is recorded within operating cash flowaasash inflow. Although cash
transferred between the two borrowing groups, tlieemeo cash transaction reported in the consolitlatsh flows at the time of the origi
financing. These captive financing activities,rgjavith all significant intercompany transactioas reclassified or eliminated in consolidat

Collaborative Arrangements

Our Bell segment has a strategic alliance agreemiintThe Boeing Company (Boeing) to provide engitigg, development and test serv
related to the V-22 aircraft, as well as to prodtloe V-22 aircraft, under a number of separaterastg with the U.S. Government @2
Contracts). The alliance created by this agreensemdt a legal entity and has no employees, netaissd no true operations. This agree
creates contractual rights and does not represeahtity in which we have an equity interest. VWeaant for this alliance as a collabora
arrangement with Bell and Boeing reporting costsuired and revenues generated from transactiors thé U.S. Government in et
companys respective income statement. Neither Bell noridpes considered to be the principal participamtthe transactions recorded ur
this agreement. Profits on cost-plus contractsaiceated between Bell and Boeing on a 50%-50%sbadegotiated profits on fixegrice
contracts are also allocated 5@@%; however, Bell and Boeing are each respon$ioléheir own cost overruns and are entitled taireain)
cost underruns. Based on the contractual arrangeestablished under the alliance, Bell accountsitforights and obligations under
specific requirements of the 22 Contracts allocated to Bell under the work bdeakn structure. We account for all of our rightsd
obligations, including warranty, product and anyntiogent liabilities, under the specific requirerteenf the V22 Contracts allocated to
under the agreement. Revenues and cost of séllest mur performance under the V-22 Contracts wétvenues recognized using the units-o
delivery method. We include all assets used ifioperance of the \22 Contracts that we own, including inventory amngaid receivables a
all liabilities arising from our obligations undgre V-22 Contracts in our Consolidated Balance 8hee

Use of Estimates

We prepare our financial statements in conformiijhvgenerally accepted accounting principles, whiehuire us to make estimates
assumptions that affect the amounts reported irfittaacial statements. Actual results could diffiemm those estimates. Our estimates
assumptions are reviewed periodically, and thectffef changes, if any, are reflected in the Cadat#d Statements of Operations in
period that they are determined.

During 2014, 2013 and 2012, we changed our estsnaiteevenues and costs on certain ltarga contracts that are accounted for unde
percentage-otompletion method of accounting. These changestimates increased income from continuing operatimafore income tax
in 2014, 2013 and 2012 by $95 million, $29 milliend $15 million, respectively, ($60 million,
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$18 million and $9 million after tax, or $0.21, 86.and $0.03 per diluted share, respectively). 2844, 2013 and 2012, the gross favor
program profit adjustments totaled $132 million1$%&illion and $88 million, respectively. For 2012013 and 2012, the gross unfavor.
program profit adjustments totaled $37 million, $2#llion and $73 million, respectively. The incsgain net program profit adjustment:
2014, compared with 2013, is largely driven by Betl segment related to the impact of cost reducéictivities in 2014 as well as unfavorz
performance in 2013 related to manufacturing ieafficies. In addition, gross favorable programfipadjustments in 2014 included §
million related to the settlement of the System &epment and Demonstration phase of the Armed Retissance Helicopter (ARH) progr
which was terminated in October 2008.

Revenue Recognition

We generally recognize revenue for the sale of yets] which are not under lorigrm contracts, upon delivery. For commercial raiitg
delivery is upon completion of manufacturing, cusés acceptance, and the transfer of the risk andrds of ownership. Taxes collected fi
customers and remitted to government authoritiesezorded on a net basis.

When a sale arrangement involves multiple delideisisuch as sales of products that include cugaiion and other services, we evaluate
arrangement to determine whether there are septeate that are required to be delivered undertn@ngement that qualify as separate |
of accounting. These arrangements typically ingdlve customization services we offer to customdrs purchase Bell helicopters, and
services generally are provided within the first sionths after the customer accepts the aircraftassumes risk of loss. We consider
aircraft and the customization services to be sgparnits of accounting and allocate contract poiesveen the two on a relative selling p
basis using the best evidence of selling priceefmh of the arrangement deliverables, typicallydfgrence to the price charged when the !
or similar items are sold separately by us, takig consideration any performance, cancellatienntnation or refundype provisions. W
recognize revenue when the recognition criteriaefeh unit of accounting are met.

Long-Term Contracts— Revenues under long-term contracts are accouotednder the percentage-obmpletion method of accountin
Under this method, we estimate profit as the diffiee between the total estimated revenues andota@stontract. We then recognize -
estimated profit over the contract term based dimeeithe units-of-delivery method or the cosketst method (which typically is used
development effort as costs are incurred), as @pte under the circumstances. Revenues undediiice contracts generally are recor
using the units-of-delivery method. Revenues udst-reimbursement contracts are recorded usiangdaht-to-cost method.

Longterm contract profits are based on estimates &l tobntract cost and revenues utilizing currenttiam specifications, expect
engineering requirements, the achievement of contmslestones and product deliveries. Certain remté are awarded with fixgatice
incentive fees that also are considered when etigheevenues and profit rates. Contract costgalfy are incurred over a period of sew
years, and the estimation of these costs requirlestantial judgment. Our cost estimation procedsased on the professional knowledge
experience of engineers and program managers aldhdginance professionals. We update our progetiof costs at least semiannuall
when circumstances significantly change. Whensdjants are required, any changes from prior estrare recognized using the cumule
catch-up method with the impact of the change fiooeption-toedate recorded in the current period. Anticipatessés on contracts .
recognized in full in the period in which the losdecome probable and estimable.

Finance Revenue— Finance revenues primarily include interest on rfea receivables, capital lease earnings and pirtéins/losses
Portfolio gains/losses include impairment chargdated to repossessed assets and properties arsd@gzses on the sale or early terminatic
finance assets. We recognize interest using ttezeist method, which provides a constant rate tofrmeover the terms of the receivabl
Accrual of interest income is suspended if credildy indicators suggest full collection of pripal and interest is doubtful. In addition,
automatically suspend the accrual of interest ireéon accounts that are contractually delinquentioye than three months unless collectic
not doubtful. Cash payments on nonaccrual accoumttgiding finance charges, generally are appl@ecetiuce the net investment balance.
resume the accrual of interest when the loan besamoetractually current through payment accordmthe original terms of the loan or, |
loan has been modified, following a period of perfance under the terms of the modification, prodieee conclude that collection of
principal and interest is no longer doubtful. Roegly suspended interest income is recognizeldadttime.

Cash and Equivalents
Cash and equivalents consist of cash and short-teghly liquid investments with original maturis®f three months or less.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost onestiéd net realizable value. We value our inveatogenerally using the first-in, firstit (FIFO
method or the last-in, firstut (LIFO) method for certain qualifying inventasigvhere LIFO provides a better matching of costs r@venue:
We determine costs for our commercial helicoptersan average cost basis by model considering thensbed and estimated costs for
current production release. Inventoried costdedlto long-term contracts are stated at
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actual production costs, including allocable opagabverhead, advances to suppliers, and, in tee o&contracts with the U.S. Governm
allocable research and development and generah@méhistrative expenses. Since our inventoriedscioelude amounts related to contr.
with long production cycles, a portion of thesetsas not expected to be realized within one yBarsuant to contract provisions, agencie
the U.S. Government have title to, or security rie$e in, inventories related to such contracts assalt of advances, performangase:
payments and progress payments. Such advancegagntents are reflected as an offset against tladerklinventory balances. Custo
deposits are recorded against inventory when gie df offset exists. All other customer depoaits recorded in accrued liabilities.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded ataudtare depreciated primarily using the stralgtg-method. We capitalize expenditures
improvements that increase asset values and extafdl lives. Property, plant and equipment avéekeed for impairment whenever event
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrgimgunt of the asset may not be recoverable. elfctrrying value of the asset exceed:
sum of the undiscounted expected future cash fltvesasset generally is written down to fair value.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

For our business acquisitions, we estimate thevine of intangible assets primarily using disdedncash flow analysis of anticipated ¢
flows reflecting incremental revenues and/or c@stirggs resulting from the acquired intangible assshg market participant assumptic
Gooduwill represents the excess of cost over thevidues assigned to intangible and other net asdahe acquired businesses. Goodwill
intangible assets deemed to have indefinite livesnat amortized, but are subject to annual impairntesting. We evaluate the recoverak
of these assets in the fourth quarter of each gearore frequently if events or changes in circanses, such as declines in sales, earnir
cash flows, or material adverse changes in thenbasiclimate, indicate a potential impairment.

For our annual impairment test, we calculate tlirevi@lue of each reporting unit and indefiniiged intangible asset primarily using discour
cash flows. A reporting unit represents the opegasegment unless discrete financial informatiorprispared and reviewed by segn
management for businesses one level below thattipgrsegment, in which case such component isegherting unit. In certain instances,
have aggregated components of an operating segnterda single reporting unit based on similar ecoitocharacteristics. For the goodh
impairment test, the discounted cash flows incafmassumptions for revenue growth, operating margnd discount rates that represen
best estimates of current and forecasted marketitbmms, cost structure, anticipated net cost rédas, and the implied rate of return that
believe a market participant would require for ameistment in a business having similar risks aratadieristics to the reporting unit be
assessed. If the reporting usitestimated fair value exceeds its carrying vathere is no impairment. Otherwise, the amounthe
impairment is determined by comparing the carryangount of the reporting unit’goodwill to the implied fair value of that goodiwiThe
implied fair value of goodwill is determined by &gsng a fair value to all of the reporting usithssets and liabilities as if the reporting uait
been acquired in a business combination. If theyitey amount of the goodwill exceeds the impliad ¥/alue, an impairment loss is recogn
in an amount equal to that excess.

Acquired intangible assets with finite lives ardjset to amortization. These assets are revieweifpairment whenever events or change
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounthefasset may not be recoverable. Amortizatiointangible assets with finite lives
recognized over their estimated useful lives usinmethod of amortization that reflects the patt@rmwhich the economic benefits of -
intangible assets are consumed or otherwise reali2gproximately 76% of our gross intangible assee amortized based on the cash
streams used to value the assets, with the rengaasisets amortized using the straight-line method.

Finance Receivables
Finance receivables primarily include loans prodide purchasers of new and mened Textron Aviation aircraft and Bell helicopt
Finance receivables are generally recorded atrttrauiat of outstanding principal less allowance &@sks.

We maintain an allowance for losses on financeivabées at a level considered adequate to covesramt losses in the portfolio basec
managemen$ evaluation. For larger balance accounts spedifiédentified as impaired, a reserve is estaklisibased on comparing
expected future cash flows, discounted at the finareceivables effective interest rate, or the fair value of thederlying collateral if tt
finance receivable is collateral dependent, to césrying amount. The expected future cash flowssictan collateral value; financ
performance and liquidity of our borrower; existerand financial strength of guarantors; estimaesvery costs, including legal expen
and costs associated with the repossession antleVeisposal of collateral. When there is a raofggotential outcomes, we perform multi
discounted cash flow analyses and weight the piateatitcomes based on their relative likelihoodogsturrence. The evaluation of
portfolio is inherently subjective, as it requirestimates, including the amount and timing of fateash flows expected to be receivel
impaired finance receivables and the estimatedvédire of the underlying collateral, which may diffrom actual results. While our analysi
specific to each
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individual account, critical factors included inighanalysis include industry valuation guides, agel physical condition of the collate
payment history and existence and financial stfenfjguarantors.

We also establish an allowance for losses to cpvebable but specifically unknown losses existingthe portfolio. This allowance
established as a percentage of necourse finance receivables, which have not beemtified as requiring specific reserves. The petage i
based on a combination of factors, including histdross experience, current delinquency and defeends, collateral values and both ger
economic and specific industry trends. Financeiwables are charged off at the earlier of the dag¢ecollateral is repossessed or whe
payment has been received for six months, unlessmgemnent deems the receivable collectible. Repesdeassets are recorded at theit
value, less estimated cost to sell.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Obligations

We maintain various pension and postretirementspfan our employees globally. These plans inclsigaificant pension and postretirem
benefit obligations, which are calculated basedaoctuarial valuations. Key assumptions used inrdeieng these obligations and rela
expenses include expected lomegm rates of return on plan assets, discount eatdshealthcare cost projections. We evaluateuaddte thes
assumptions annually in consultation with thgakty actuaries and investment advisors. We ala&emassumptions regarding emplc
demographic factors such as retirement patternstalitg, turnover and rate of compensation increasé/e recognize the overfundec
underfunded status of our pension and postretirepians in the Consolidated Balance Sheets andyném® changes in the funded status o
defined benefit plans in comprehensive income ényilar in which they occur. Actuarial gains andéasthat are not immediately recognize
net periodic pension cost are recognized as a coemp@f other comprehensive income (loss) (OCI) amedamortized into net periodic pens
cost in future periods.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities

We are exposed to market risk primarily from chanigecurrency exchange rates and interest rates.ddhot hold or issue derivative finan
instruments for trading or speculative purposes.nlanage the volatility relating to our exposures, net these exposures on a consolic
basis to take advantage of natural offsets. F®rdlidual portion, we enter into various derivatiransactions pursuant to our policies in ¢
such as counterparty exposure and hedging practiCesdit risk related to derivative financial inshents is considered minimal anc
managed by requiring high credit standards for temparties and through periodic settlements oftjurs.

All derivative instruments are reported at fairuain the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Designatisnpport hedge accounting is perfor
on a specific exposure basis. For financial imegnts qualifying as fair value hedges, we recoahgks in fair value in earnings, offset, in
or in whole, by corresponding changes in the faiug of the underlying exposures being hedged. cksh flow hedges, we record change
the fair value of derivatives (to the extent theg affective as hedges) in OCI, net of deferre@$axChanges in fair value of derivatives
qualifying as hedges are recorded in earnings.

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilitrestranslated into U.S. dollars. Adjustmentsnfrmurrency rate changes are recorded i
cumulative translation adjustment account in shaldehs’ equity until the related foreign entity is sold substantially liquidated. We
foreign currency financing transactions to effeelvhedge londerm investments in foreign operations with the saorresponding currenc
Foreign currency gains and losses on the heddeedbhg-term investments are recorded in the cutwel&ranslation adjustment account.

Product Liabilities
We accrue for product liability claims and relatiefense costs when a loss is probable and reagoestithable. Our estimates are gene
based on the specifics of each claim or incidedta@ur best estimate of the probable loss usingtiistt experience.

Environmental Liabilities and Asset Retirement Obligations

Liabilities for environmental matters are recordeda site-bysite basis when it is probable that an obligatias been incurred and the cost
be reasonably estimated. We estimate our accmeidoamental liabilities using currently availalftects, existing technology, and prese
enacted laws and regulations, all of which areextlfp a number of factors and uncertainties. @wironmental liabilities are not discoun
and do not take into consideration possible fuinserance proceeds or significant amounts frommdeagainst other third parties.

We have incurred asset retirement obligations pilynaelated to costs to remove and dispose of weind storage tanks and asbe
materials used in insulation, adhesive fillers f#iadr tiles. There is no legal requirement to remthese items, and there currently is no pl:
remodel the related facilities or otherwise cause impacted items to require disposal. Since tlesset retirement obligations are
estimable, there is no related liability recordedhie Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Warranty and Product Maintenance Liabilities

We provide limited warranty and product maintenapiagrams, including parts and labor, for certaimdpicts for periods ranging from one
five years. We estimate the costs that may beriaduinder warranty programs and record a liabifitthe amount of such costs at the
product revenues are recognized. Factors thattatfés liability include the number of productsidsohistorical costs per claim, contraci
recoveries from vendors and historical and antteipaates of warranty claims, including productzord warranty patterns for new models.
assess the adequacy of our recorded warranty addigrmaintenance liabilities periodically and adjihe amounts as necessary. Addition
we may establish warranty liabilities related te thsuance of aircraft service bulletins for aificn® longer covered under the limited warré
programs.

Research and Development Costs

Our customefunded research and development costs are changadlyto the related contracts, which primarignsist of U.S. Governme
contracts. In accordance with government regulatiove recover a portion of compafwrded research and development costs thi
overhead rate charges on our U.S. Government asitr&esearch and development costs that areeimobursable under a contract with
U.S. Government or another customer are chargesdpense as incurred. Compduyded research and development costs were $63dmy
$651 million, and $584 million in 2014, 2013 andlL20respectively, and are included in cost of sales

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax balances reflect the effectdeaiporary differences between the financial repgrcarrying amounts of assets
liabilities and their tax bases, as well as fromhaperating losses and tax credit carryforwardd, ame stated at enacted tax rates in effect f
year taxes are expected to be paid or recoveraderi2d income tax assets represent amounts aeatialveduce income taxes payable
taxable income in future years. We evaluate tloewerability of these future tax deductions andlitseby assessing the adequacy of ft
expected taxable income from all sources, includivegfuture reversal of existing taxable tempomdifferences, taxable income in carryb
years, available tax planning strategies and estiinfuture taxable income. We recognize ne-related interest and penalties for contini
operations in income tax expense.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards rBdasued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No420d, ‘Revenue from Contrac
with Customers,” that outlines a comprehensive-fitap revenue recognition model based on the pten¢hmt an entity should recogn
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goodseorices to customers in an amount that reflé&sonsideration to which the entity exp
to be entitled in exchange for those goods andaEsvEntities have the option of using either a fulrospective or a modified retrospect
approach for the adoptionThis ASU is effective for our company at the begng of fiscal 2017; early adoption is not peredtt We ar
currently evaluatinghe new guidance to determine the impact it is etqzeto have on our consolidated financial statémeriong with th
transition method we expect to utilize.
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Note 2. Business Acquisitions, Goodwill and Intangle Assets

2014 Beechcraft Acquisition

On March 14, 2014, we acquired Beechcraft for ayregpte cash payment of $1.5 billion that includedpayment of a portion of Beechcraft’
working capital credit facility at closing. Thecaadgsition of Beechcraft and the formation of thexifen Aviation segment provide increa
scale and complementary product offerings, allowiedo strengthen our position across the aviatidastry and enhance our ability to sup
our customers. We financed a portion of the pwseharice with the issuance of $600 million in semotes on January 30, 2014 anc
drawing $500 million under the five-year term Icgreement entered into on January 24, 2014. Tlhedmwas paid from cash on hand.

The consideration paid for this business was alé@t@an a preliminary basis to the assets acquiredliabilities assumed based on t
estimated fair values at the acquisition date. Ataouary 3, 2015, the valuation process is subatigncomplete, however, de to the size al
breadth of this acquisition, additional time is @esary to complete the valuation of certain liibgi and the related income tax impact. We
finalize the purchase accounting within the oneryemasurement period allowed under generally aedeptcounting principles Oul
allocation of the purchase price as of Januar¥352s presented below.

(In millions)

Accounts receivabl $ 12¢
Inventories 77t
Other current asse 17t
Property, plant and equipme 261
Intangible asset 581
Goodwill 22¢
Other asset 172
Accounts payabl (243)
Accrued liabilities (294)
Other liabilities (40€)
Total net assets acquir $ 1,47¢

Goodwill of $228 million was primarily related tocgected synergies from combining operations andvtiee of the existing workforc
Intangible assets of $581 million included unpatdntechnology related to original equipment manuf@ad parts and designs and custc
relationships valued at $373 million and trade nawedued at $208 million. The unpatented technolagd customer relationships assets
a life of 15 years, resulting in amortization expern the range of approximately $17 million to $8illion annually. Substantially all of t
trade names have an indefinite life and therefoeenat subject to amortization. We acquired daxtuctible goodwill of approximately $2
million in this transaction.

In connection with the integration of Beechcrafg mitiated a restructuring program in our Textrwiation segment in the first quarter
2014 to align the Cessna and Beechcraft businessésce operating redundancies and maximize efittés. During 2014, we recorc
charges of $41 million related to these restrunturactivities that were included in the Acquisitiand restructuring costs line on

Consolidated Statements of Operations. In additiaincurred transaction costs of $11 million 012 related to the acquisition that were
included in the Acquisition and restructuring cdste. We expect to incur additional restructurgasts in 2015, but do not expect these co:
be material.

Other Acquisitions
During 2014, we made aggregate cash payments & $ilion for seven acquisitions within our Induatrand Systems Segments, incluc
Tug Technologies Corporation, a manufacturer ofigdosupport equipment in the aviation industry.

We made aggregate cash payments of $196 millioROit8 for acquisitions of four businesses within dextron Systems and Indust
segments and two service centers in our Textroaton segment.

Actual and Pro-Forma Impact from 2014 Acquisitions

The operating results for the 2014 acquisitionsiackided in the Consolidated Statement of Opematisince their respective closing da
From the closing dates through January 3, 201®mess related to these acquisitions totaled $1li6rbi The cost structures of the Beechc
and Cessna businesses have been significantlyratéegsince the acquisition of Beechcraft; themsfdris not possible to separately re
earnings for this acquisition. The earnings reldtethe other 2014 acquisitions were not signifidar this period.
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The unaudited supplemental diarma data included in the table below presentsacliiated information as if our 2014 acquisitiorsl tbee
completed on December 30, 2012. This fmwra information should not be considered indiebf the results that would have occurred i
acquisitions and related financing had been consateninon December 30, 2012, nor are they necessadlibative of future results as they
not reflect the potential realization of cost s@grand synergies associated with the acquisitions.

(In millions, except per share amou) 2014 2012
Revenue! $ 14,24( $ 13,95¢
Income from continuing operations, net of incomek& 68¢ 482
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operst $ 2.4% $ 1.6¢€

Certain proforma adjustments were made to reflect the allooadif the preliminary purchase price to the acqlimet assets, which incluc
depreciation and intangible amortization expensealteg from the valuation of tangible and intarigilassets, amortization of inventory
value step-up adjustments and the related taxtsfféithe prdorma results for 2013 were also adjusted to ineltrednsaction and restructur
costs of $52 million, related to the Beechcraftuasitjon; these costs were excluded from the 20b4fprma results. In addition, the pforme
results exclude the financial impact related todeeaft's emergence from bankruptcy in 2013.

Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill bgreent are as follows:

Textron Textron
(In millions) Aviation Bell System: Industrial Total
Balance at December 29, 20 $ 32¢ $ 31 $ 974 $ 31¢ $ 1,64¢
Acquisitions — — 52 30 82
Foreign currency translatic — — — 4 4
Balance at December 28, 20 32€ 31 1,02¢ 35z 1,73t
Acquisitions 22¢ — 35 50 313
Foreign currency translatic — — (4) (17) (22)
Balance at January 3, 20 $ 554 $ 31 $ 1,057 $ 38 $ 2,027
Intangible Assets
Our Intangible assets are summarized below:
January 3, 2015 December 28, 201
Weighted-Average Gross Gross
Amortization Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

(Dollars in millions) Period (in years Amount  Amortization Net Amount  Amortization Net
Patents and technolo 15 $ bi: $ (920 $ 421 $ 14z $ (63 % 79
Customer relationships and

contractual agreemer 15 364 (192 172 331 (165 16€
Trade names and tradema 16 263 (28) 23t 49 (24) 25
Other 9 23 (18) 5 23 (17) 6
Total $ 1,168 $ (330 $ 83: $ 54t $ (269 $ 27€

Trade names and trademarks in the table abovedach204 million of indefinitdived intangible assets at January 3, 2015. Thezeewa(
indefinite-lived intangible assets at December2tA,3.

Amortization expense totaled $62 million, $37 roifliand $40 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respebti Amortization expense is estima
to be approximately $61 million, $62 million, $64llion, $59 million and $57 million in 2015, 2018017, 2018 and 2019, respectively.
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Note 3. Accounts Receivable and Finance Receivables

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable is composed of the following:

January 3, December 2¢

(In millions) 201¢ 201:
Commercia $ 765 $ 654
U.S. Government contrac 30C 347
1,06t 1,001

Allowance for doubtful accoun (30 (22
Total $ 1,03t $ 97¢

We have unbillable receivables primarily on U.Sv&mment contracts that arise when the revenudsawe appropriately recognized base
performance cannot be billed yet under terms of dbetract. Unbillable receivables within accounéseaivable totaled $151 million
January 3, 2015 and $163 million at December 28320

Finance Receivables
Finance receivables are presented in the followabtg.

December 2¢

January 3,
(In millions) 201¢ 201
Finance receivable $ 1,28¢ $ 1,54¢
Allowance for losse (52) (55)
Total finance receivables, n $ 1,23¢ $ 1,49

Finance receivables primarily includes loans pretitb purchasers of new and pened Textron Aviation aircraft and Bell helicopgterThes
agreements typically have initial terms rangingrfrive to ten years and amortization terms randiog eight to fifteen years. The aver
balance of loans was $1 million at January 3, 20lL6ans generally require the customer to pay aifsignt down payment, along w
periodic scheduled principal payments that redbeeoutstanding balance through the term of the.Id&nance receivables also includes
for sale receivables of $35 million and $65 millianJanuary 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013, respbctiThese finance receivables helc
sale are recorded at fair value and are not indud¢he portfolio quality tables below.

Our finance receivables are diversified across gg@uc region and borrower industry. At Januarg@15, 37% of our finance receivat
were distributed throughout the U.S. compared with6 at the end of 2013. At January 3, 2015 anceBéer 28, 2013, finance receival
included $113 million and $200 million, respectiyedf receivables that have been legally sold &pecial purpose entity (SPE), which
consolidated subsidiary of TFC. The assets of #AE Sre pledged as collateral for its debt, whicleflected as securitized dralance she
debt in Note 7. Thirgparty investors have no legal recourse to TFC beybe credit enhancement provided by the asseteeoSPE. |
addition, at the end of 2014 and 2013, financeivebées of $565 million and $610 million, respeeliy, have been pledged as collateral fol
debt.

Credit Quality Indicators and Nonaccrual Financedewables

We internally assess the quality of our financeeigables based on a number of key credit qualijcators and statistics such as delinque
loan balance to estimated collateral value andittancial strength of individual borrowers and qurtors. Because many of these indici
are difficult to apply across an entire class afereables, we evaluate individual loans on a quigrteasis and classify these loans into t
categories based on the key credit quality indisafor the individual loan. These three categagiesperforming, watchlist and nonaccrual.

We classify finance receivables as nonaccrualg@i¢rquality indicators suggest full collectionmincipal and interest is doubtful. In additi
we automatically classify accounts as nonaccruekdhey are contractually delinquent by more thmeda months unless collection of princ
and interest is not doubtful. Recognition of ierincome is suspended for these accounts amdsdll collections are used to reduce th
investment balance. We resume the accrual ofastavhen the loan becomes contractually curreoutitt payment according to the origl
terms of the loan or, if a loan has been modiffetlpwing a period of performance under the terrhshe modification, provided we conclt
that collection of all principal and interest is lmmger doubtful. Previously suspended interesbrime is recognized at that time. Accounts
classified as watchlist when credit quality indarathave deteriorated as compared with typical mmdtng criteria, and we believe collecti
of full principal and interest is probable but wettain. All other finance receivables that do metet the watchlist or nonaccrual categorie
classified as performing.
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Finance receivables categorized based on the gpedlity indicators discussed above are summas@zedllows:

January 3, December 2¢

(In millions) 201¢ 2012
Performing $ 1,062 $ 1,28t
Watchlist 111 93
Nonaccrua 81 10E
Total $ 1,25¢ $ 1,48:
Nonaccrual as a percentage of finance receivi 6.4€% 7.08%

We measure delinquency based on the contractuatgratyterms of our finance receivables. In deteimginhe delinquency aging category
an account, any/all principal and interest receigedpplied to the most padtie principal and/or interest amounts due. Ifgnificant portior
of the contractually due payment is delinquent, é&mdire finance receivable balance is reported dooalance with the most padbte
delinquency aging category.

Finance receivables by delinquency aging categayammarized in the table below:

January 3, December 2¢

(In millions) 201¢ 201:
Less than 31 days past ¢ $ 1,08( $ 1,29t
31-60 days past du 117 10¢
61-90 days past du 28 37
Over 90 days past di 29 43
Total $ 1,25¢ $ 1,488
60+ days contractual delinquency as a percentafjeasfce receivable 4.55% 5.3¢%

Impaired Loan:

On a quarterly basis, we evaluate individual firmneceivables for impairment in nthwmogeneous portfolios and larger balance accan
homogeneous loan portfolios. A finance receivableonsidered impaired when it is probable thatwilebe unable to collect all amounts ¢
according to the contractual terms of the loan egent based on our review of the credit qualitydatbrs discussed above. Impaired fini
receivables include both nonaccrual accounts aodusts for which full collection of principal andterest remains probable, but the accaunt
original terms have been, or are expected to lgajfeiantly modified. If the modification specifiean interest rate equal to or greater tr
market rate for a finance receivable with comparaidk, the account is not considered impaired eary subsequent to the modificati
Interest income recognized on impaired loans wasigaificant in 2014 or 2013.

A summary of impaired finance receivables and trexage recorded investment is provided below:

January 3, December 2¢

(In millions) 201¢ 201:
Recorded investmer

Impaired loans with related allowance for cred#des $ 68 $ 59

Impaired loans with no related allowance for créafses 42 78
Total $ 11C $ 137
Unpaid principal balanc $ 11F $ 141
Allowance for losses on impaired log 20 14
Average recorded investme 11% 15E
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Allowance for Losse

A rollforward of the allowance for losses on finaneceivables and a summary of its compositionedas how the underlying finar
receivables are evaluated for impairment, is predidelow. The finance receivables reported intttite specifically exclude $121 million ¢
$120 million of leveraged leases at January 3, 28id December 28, 2013, respectively, in accordavritte generally accepted account
principles.

January 3, December 2¢

(In millions) 201¢ 201:
Balance at the beginning of ye $ 55 $ 84
Provision for losse 6 (23)
Chargeoffs a7 17
Recoverie: 7 12
Transfers — (1)
Balance at the end of ye $ 51 $ 55
Allowance based on collective evaluat 31 41
Allowance based on individual evaluati 20 14
Finance receivables evaluated collectiv 1,02 1,22¢
Finance receivables evaluated individu: 11C 137

Note 4. Inventories

Inventories are composed of the following:

January 3, December 28

(In millions) 2015 2013
Finished good $ 1,58: $ 1,27¢
Work in proces: 2,683 2,477
Raw materials and componel 546 407
4,811 4,160
Progress/milestone paymei (883) (1,197)
Total $ 3,92¢ $ 2,96:

Inventories valued by the LIFO method totaled $dillon and $1.3 billion at January 3, 2015 and &mber 28, 2013, respectively, and
carrying values of these inventories would havenbleigher by approximately $468 million and $461 lioil, respectively, had our LIF
inventories been valued at current costs. Inveesomtlated to longerm contracts, net of progress/milestone paymevise $447 million ar
$359 million at January 3, 2015 and December 2832fespectively.

Note 5. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

Our Manufacturing group’s property, plant and equémt, net are composed of the following:

Useful Lives January 3, December 28

(Dollars in millions) (in years) 2015 2013
Land and building: 3-40 $ 1818 $ 1,63¢
Machinery and equipme 1-20 4,364 4,042
6,182 5,678
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (3,685) (3,463)
Total $ 2497 $ 2,21¢

At January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013, assder eapital leases totaled $279 million and $24lfioniand had accumulated amortizas
of $68 million and $56 million, respectively. Theaklufacturing group depreciation expense, which included amortizagigpense on capi
leases, totaled $379 million, $335 million and $3iiion in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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Note 6. Accrued Liabilities

The accrued liabilities of our Manufacturing graane summarized below:

January 3, December 2€
(In millions) 201¢ 2012
Customer deposi $ 1,412 $ 88t
Salaries, wages and employer ta 332 24¢€
Current portion of warranty and product maintenacmracts 16¢ 14z
Retirement plan 73 74
Other 63C 53¢
Total $ 2,61t $ 1,88¢
Changes in our warranty and product maintenanctairiability are as follows:
(In_millions) 201< 201: 2012
Accrual at the beginning of peric $ 223 $ 222 $ 224
Provision 334 29¢ 25k
Settlement: (329 (299 (250
Acquisitions 67 — —
Adjustments* (20) (5) (7)
Accrual at the end of peric $ 281 $ 222 $ 22z

* Adjustments include changes to prior year estasahew issues on prior year sales and currenaystedion adjustments.
Note 7. Debt and Credit Facilities

Our debt is summarized in the table below:

January 3, December 2€
(In millions) 201¢ 201:
Manufacturing group
Long-term senior deb
6.20% due 201 $ = $ 35C
4.625% due 201 25(C 25(C
Variable-rate note due 2016 (average rate of 1.48% and 1.EEpectively 15C 15C
5.60% due 201 35C 35C
7.25% due 201 25(C 25(C
Variable-rate note due 20-2019 (average rate of 1.67" 30C —
6.625% due 202 234 24¢€
5.95% due 202 25(C 25(C
3.65% due 202 25(C —
4.30% due 202 35C —
3.875% due 202 35C —
Other (weighte-average rate of 1.32% and 1.57%, respecti 77 85
Total Manufacturing group de $ 2,811 $ 1,931
Less: current portion of loi-term debr (8) (8)
Total lon¢-term debi $ 2,80: $ 1,92¢
Finance group
Fixec-rate note due 2014 (5.13¢ $ = $ 10C
Fixec-rate notes due 20-2017* (weighte-average rate of 4.599 32 42
Variable-rate notes due 2016 (weigh-average rate of 1.73% and 1.78%, respecti 20C 20C
Fixec-rate notes due 20-2024* (weighte-average rate of 2.76% and 2.67%, respecti 381 37¢
Variable-rate notes due 20-2024* (weighte-average rate of 1.18% and 1.19%, respecti\ 52 63
Securitized debt (weight-average rate of 1.509 98 17z
6% Fixe(-to-Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Nc 29¢ 29¢
Fair value adjustments and unamortized disc 1 2
Total Finance group de $ 1,06: $ 1,25¢

* Notes amortize on a quarterly or semi-annual basi
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The following table shows required payments duthgnext five years on debt outstanding at JanB8a2@15:

(In millions) 201¢ 201¢ 2013 201¢ 201¢
Manufacturing grouj $ 8 $ 40¢ $ 35¢ $ 82 $ 48C
Finance grouy 12¢ 30z 96 70 54
Total $ 13€ $ 71C $ 454 $ 152 $ 534

Textron has a senior unsecured revolving creditifip¢hat expires in October 2018 for an aggregatecipal amount of $1.0 billion, of whi
up to $100 million is available for the issuancdeatfers of credit. At January 3, 2015, there waseamounts borrowed against the facility,
there were $35 million of letters of credit isswghinst it.

6% Fixed-to-Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Notes

The Finance group’s $299 million of 6% FixedFtwating Rate Junior Subordinated Notes are unedcand rank junior to all of its existi
and future senior debt. The notes mature on Fepfis 2067; however, we have the right to redeleenniotes at par on or after February
2017 and are obligated to redeem the notes begjroninFebruary 15, 2042. Interest on the notesésifat 6% until February 15, 2017
floats at the three-month London Interbank OffeRede + 1.735% thereafter.

Support Agreement

Under a Support Agreement, Textron Inc. is requicednsure that TFC maintains fixed charge coveddg® less than 125% and consolid;
shareholdes equity of no less than $200 million. Cash paytmef $240 million were made to TFC in 2012 to ntaiim compliance with tf
fixed charge coverage ratio.

Note 8. Derivative Instruments and Fair Value Meastements

We measure fair value at the price that would loeived to sell an asset or paid to transfer alitgbh an orderly transaction between ma
participants at the measurement date. We prieritie assumptions that market participants woudingricing the asset or liability intc
threetier fair value hierarchy. This fair value hieraycgives the highest priority (Level 1) to quoteatites in active markets for identical as
or liabilities and the lowest priority (Level 3) tmobservable inputs in which little or no markatalexist, requiring companies to develop
own assumptions. Observable inputs that do not theecriteria of Level 1, which include quotedges for similar assets or liabilities in ac
markets or quoted prices for identical assets nilities in markets that are not active, are gatized as Level 2. Level 3 inputs are those
reflect our estimates about the assumptions mawkeicipants would use in pricing the asset orilighbased on the best information availe
in the circumstances. Valuation techniques foetsand liabilities measured using Level 3 inputsyrinclude methodologies such as
market approach, the income approach or the cggbaph and may use unobservable inputs such ascfiojs, estimates and manageneent
interpretation of current market data. These uenfable inputs are utilized only to the extent thlaservable inputs are not available or
effective to obtain.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on &ecurring Basis

We manufacture and sell our products in a numbeamoahtries throughout the world, and, therefore,anee exposed to movements in fore
currency exchange rates. We utilize foreign culyemahange contracts to manage this volatility.r @weign currency exchange contracts
measured at fair value using the market methodatialn technique. The inputs to this techniqueiagticurrent foreign currency exchai
forward market rates published by thpdrty leading financial news and data providerbese are observable data that represent the hat
the financial institution uses for contracts entdeirgo at that date; however, they are not basedabual transactions so they are classifie
Level 2. At January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2048 had foreign currency exchange contracts wittional amounts upon which t
contracts were based of $696 million and $636 amllirespectively. At January 3, 2015, the fairueaamounts of our foreign currel
exchange contracts were a $16 million asset arbandllion liability. At December 28, 2013, theifaalue amounts of our foreign currel
exchange contracts were a $2 million asset andbar$llion liability.

We primarily utilize forward exchange contracts ethhave maturities of no more than three yearss@&ltontracts qualify as cash flow het
and are intended to offset the effect of exchaage ftuctuations on forecasted sales, inventorglmses and overhead expenses. At Janu
2015, we had a net deferred loss of $13 millioAatumulated other comprehensive loss related teetlwash flow hedges. Net gains
losses recognized in earnings and Accumulated atbeprehensive loss on cash flow hedges, includmigs and losses related to he
ineffectiveness, were not significant in the pesipdesented.

We hedge our net investment position in major awies and generate foreign currency interest patsnéirat offset other transactio
exposures in these currencies. To accomplishwi@shorrow directly in foreign currency and designa portion of foreign currency debt ¢
hedge of a net investment. We record changes ifathealue of these contracts in other compreheansi
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income to the extent they are effective as cask Aedges. Currency effects on the effective portbthese hedges, which are reflected it
foreign currency translation adjustments within decwlated other comprehensive loss, were not s@aifiin the periods presented.

Assets Recorded at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Bés

During the years ended January 3, 2015 and Dece28p@013, the Finance grogpgmpaired nonaccrual finance receivable of $4%anilanc
$45 million, respectively, were measured at failugaon a nonrecurring basis using significant ueoksble inputs (Level 3). Impair
nonaccrual finance receivables represent asseiedext at fair value on a nonrecurring basis siheemteasurement of required reserves o
impaired finance receivables is significantly degemt on the fair value of the underlying collaterdor impaired nonaccrual finar
receivables secured by aviation assets, the fdieseof collateral are determined primarily basedttee use of industry pricing guides. |
value measurements recorded on impaired finaneéviedaes resulted in charges to provision for lmmses totaling $18 million and $7 milli
for 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Assets and Liabilities Not Recorded at Fair Value
The carrying value and estimated fair values of fimancial instruments that are not reflected ia fimancial statements at fair value ar
follows:

January 3, 2015 December 28, 201.

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
(In millions) Value Fair Value Value Fair Value
Manufacturing group
Long-term debt, excluding leas $ (2,749 $ (2,949 $ (1,859 $ (2,029)
Finance group
Finance receivables, excluding lea 1,00¢ 1,021 1,231 1,29(
Debt (1,069 (1,059 (1,256 (1,244

Fair value for the Manufacturing group debt is daieed using market observable data for similangeztions (Level 2). At January 3, 2!
and December 28, 2013, approximately 75% and 76%ferctively, of the fair value of term debt for fieance group was determined bz
on discounted cash flow analyses using observabkahinputs from debt with similar duration, sutlioation and credit default expectati
(Level 2). The remaining Finance group debt wasmehed based on observable market transaction®(l1¢. Fair value estimates for finai
receivables held for investment were determinecedam internally developed discounted cash flow ef@dgbrimarily utilizing significar
unobservable inputs (Level 3), which include estaaaf the rate of return, financing cost, catalicture and/or discount rate expectatiot
current market participants combined with estimabeah cash flows based on credit losses, payméss eand expectations of borroweaility
to make payments on a timely basis.

Note 9. Shareholders’ Equity
Capital Stock

We have authorization for 15 million shares of pregd stock with a par value of $0.01 and 500 arillshares of common stock with a
value of $0.125. Outstanding common stock actifatythe three years ended January 3, 2015 is pied&elow:

(In thousands 201¢ 201: 201z
Beginning balanc 282,05¢ 271,26: 278,87:
Exercise of stock optior 1,91C 1,33: 1,15¢
Issued to Textron Savings PI 1,49(C 1,921 2,15¢
Stock repurchase (8,92)) — (12,109
Exercise of warrant — 7,43t
Issued upon vesting of restricted stock u 44 107 17t
Ending balanc 276,58. 282,05¢ 271,26:

Earnings per Share

In February 2014, we entered into an Accelerateaté&SRepurchase agreement (ASR) with a counterpadyepurchased 4.3 million share
our outstanding common stock. The initial delivefyshares under the ASR resulted in an immediateateon of the outstanding shares use
calculate the weighted average common shares fic lamd diluted earnings per share. We settledABR in December 2014 for a fir
purchase price of $167 million.
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We calculate basic and diluted earnings per sHaP&) based on net income, which approximates in@ragable to common shareholders
each period. Basic EPS is calculated using thectass method, which includes the weightegrage number of common shares outstal
during the period and restricted stock units tph#l in stock that are deemed participating seesris they provide nonforfeitable right:
dividends. Diluted EPS considers the dilutive eiffef all potential future common stock, includistpck options and, prior to the maturity
our convertible notes on May 1, 2013, the sharas ¢buld have been issued upon the conversioneohtttes and upon the exercise of

related warrants.

The weighted-average shares outstanding for basid#uted EPS are as follows:

(In thousands 2014 201 2012
Basic weighte-average shares outstand 279,40¢ 279,29¢ 280,18:
Dilutive effect of:
Stock options 2,04¢ 32¢ 42¢
ASR 332 — —
Convertible notes and warrar — 4,801 14,05:¢
Diluted weighte-average shares outstand 281,79( 284,42¢ 294,66.

In 2014, 2013 and 2012, stock options to purchasdllibn, 5 million and 7 million shares, respedly, of common stock outstanding
excluded from our calculation of diluted weightedeage shares outstanding as their effect woulé baen anti-dilutive.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The components of Accumulated Other Comprehensiss lare presented below:

Pension anc Deferred Foreign Accumulated

Postretirement Gains/Losse Currency Other

Benefits on Hedge Translation Comprehensive

(In millions) Adjustments Contracts Adjustments Loss
Balance at December 29, 20 $ (1,857 $ 6 $ 81 $ (1,770
Other comprehensive income before reclassifical 62€ (15 12 623
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated other compredive los: 121 (D — 12C
Other comprehensive income (lo 747 (16) 12 743
Balance at December 28, 20 (1,110 (10 93 (1,029
Other comprehensive loss before reclassificat (477 (12 (75) (55¢)
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated other compredive los: 70 9 — 79
Other comprehensive lo (407 (3 (75) (479
Balance at January 3, 20 $ (1,51 $ (13 $ 18 $ (1,506
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Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The before and after-tax components of other cohgrsive income (loss) are presented below:

Tax
Pre-Tax (Expense After -Tax

(In millions) Amount Benefit Amount
2014
Pension and postretirement benefits adjustm:

Unrealized losse $ (739 $ 252 $ (482

Amortization of net actuarial los 114 (40 74

Amortization of prior service credit (8) 4 (4)

Recognition of prior service ca 18 (7) 11
Pension and postretirement benefits adjustment: (610 20¢ (407)
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contr:

Current deferral (16) 4 (12

Reclassification adjustmer 12 (3 9
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contracts (4) 1 (3
Foreign currency translation adjustme (72) (4) (75)
Total $ (68E5) $ 20€ $ (479
2013
Pension and postretirement benefits adjustm

Unrealized gain $ 1,01¢ $ (410 $ 60¢

Amortization of net actuarial los 18¢ (67) 122

Amortization of prior service credit 2 1 (€N}

Recognition of prior service ca 29 (12 17
Pension and postretirement benefits adjustment: 1,23t (488) 747
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contr:

Current deferral (20 5 (15)

Reclassification adjustmer (D — (D
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contracts (21) 5 (16)
Foreign currency translation adjustme 13 (1) 12
Total $ 1,22 $ (489 $ 74%
2012
Pension and postretirement benefits adjustm

Unrealized losse $ (4179 $ 18€ $ (23]

Amortization of net actuarial los: 124 (43 81

Amortization of prior service cos 5 2 3

Recognition of prior service ca 2 (D 1
Pension and postretirement benefits adjustment: (28€) 14C (14€)
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contr:

Current deferral 14 3 11

Reclassification adjustmer (15) 3 (12
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contracts (D — (D
Foreign currency translation adjustme (6) 8 2
Total $ (299 $ 14¢ $ (149

*These components of other comprehensive incoménaleded in the computation of net periodic pensomst. See Note 11 for additio

information.
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Note 10. Share-Based Compensation

Our 2007 LongFerm Incentive Plan (Plan) authorizes awards tokayr employees in the form of options to purchasge shares, restrict
stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciatimhts, performance stock awards and other awaflsnaximum of 12 million shares
authorized for issuance for all purposes underRfan plus any shares that become available upocetiation, forfeiture or expiration

awards granted under the 1999 Laorgrm Incentive Plan. No more than 12 million skarey be awarded pursuant to incentive stock op
and no more than 3 million shares may be awardesupat to restricted stock units or other awartsnided to be paid in shares. The Plan
authorizes performance share units to be paidsh based upon the value of our common stock.

Through our Deferred Income Plan for Textron Exe®s, we provide certain executives the opportutatyoluntarily defer up to 80% of th
base salary, along with incentive and other comguigors Elective deferrals may be put into eithest@ck unit account or an interdstaring
account. Participants cannot move amounts betweenvio accounts while actively employed by us aadnot receive distributions ur
termination of employment. The intrinsic valueamhounts paid under this deferred income plan tdtd8million, $1 million and $1 million

2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Sharebased compensation costs are reflected primariselling and administrative expenses. Compensatipense included in net inco
for our share-based compensation plans is as fellow

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Compensation expen $ 85 $ 86 $ 71
Income tax benefi (32) (32) (26)
Total net compensation cost included in net inc $ 53 $ 54 $ 45

Compensation expense included approximately $2llomil$26 million and $23 million in 2014, 2013 aB012, respectively, for a portion
the fair value of options issued and the portiopreiviously granted options for which the requisievice has been rendered.

Compensation cost for awards subject only to sereanditions that vest ratably are recognized simaghtline basis over the requisite sen
period for each separately vesting portion of thvara. As of January 3, 2015, we had not recognisti million of total compensation ca
associated with unvested awards subject only teicgeiconditions. We expect to recognize compensatixpense for these awards ov
weighted-average period of approximately two years.

Stock Options

Options to purchase our shares have a maximum ¢értan years and generally vest ratably over aetgiear period. The stock opti
compensation cost calculated under the fair vayseaach is recognized over the vesting period efstiock options. We estimate the fair v.
of options granted on the date of grant using tlaelBScholes optiopricing model. Expected volatilities are basedroplied volatilities fron
traded options on our common stock, historical tilitias and other factors. The expected termaseda on historical option exercise d
which is adjusted to reflect any anticipated charigeexpected behavior.

The weighted-average fair value of options gramtedng the past three years and the assumptiontsinsgur optionpricing model for suc
grants are as follows:

2014 2013 2012
Fair value of options at grant d¢ $ 12.72 $ 9.69 $ 10.19
Dividend yield 0.2% 0.3% 0.3%
Expected volatility 34.5% 37.0% 40.0%
Risk-free interest rat 1.5% 0.9% 0.9%
Expected term (in year 5.0 5.5 5.5
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The stock option activity during 2014 is providesldw:

Weighted-

Average

Number of Exercise

(Options in thousand: Options Price
Outstanding at beginning of ye 9,01¢ $ 27.5i
Grantec 1,83¢ 39.6¢
Exercisec (1,847 (26.07%)
Forfeited or expirei (377) (38.3%)
Outstanding at end of ye 8,631 $ 29.9¢
Exercisable at end of ye 4,73¢ $ 27.2:

At January 3, 2015, our outstanding options hadggregate intrinsic value of $108 million and agitédaverage remaining contractual
of six years. Our exercisable options had an aggeeintrinsic value of $73 million and a weight®eerage remaining contractual life of 1
years at January 3, 2015. The total intrinsic @adfi options exercised during 2014, 2013 and 2048 $25 million, $10 million and $
million, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

We issue restricted stock units settled in botth @asd stock (vesting ortaird each in the third, fourth and fifth year foling the year of tt
grant), which include the right to receive dividesguivalents. The fair value of these units is Hase the trading price of our common st
and is recognized ratably over the vesting periedr units settled in stock, we use the tradinggpdn the grant date, while units settled in
are remeasured using the price at each reportingdogate. Prior to 2012, we issued restrictedlstotts that vested in equal installments «
five years. The 2014 activity for restricted stackts is provided below:

Units Payable in Stock
Weighted-

Units Payable in Cast
Weighted-

Number of Average Grant Number of Average Grant
(Shares/Units in thousand Share: Date Fair Value Units Date Fair Value
Outstanding at beginning of year, nonves 78C $ 27.5¢ 2,02t $ 23.7:
Grantec 217 39.4¢ 43: 39.6¢
Vested (70) (25.69) (599 (16.59
Forfeited (21) (27.99) (199 (28.65)
Outstanding at end of year, nonves 90€ $  30.5¢ 1,66¢ $  29.8¢
The fair value of the restricted stock awards tested and/or amounts paid under these awardda@ss:
(In_millions) 2014 201: 2012
Fair value of awards vest $ 25 $ 26 $ 35
Cash paic 23 23 25

Performance Share Units

The fair value of sharbased compensation awards accounted for as liebilitcludes performance share units, which aré patash in th
first quarter of the year following vesting. Pay®under performance share units vary based oaicgerformance criteria generally set
each year of a thregear performance period. The performance shate uest at the end of three years. The fair vafubese awards is bas
on the trading price of our common stock and iseasnred at each reporting period date.

The 2014 activity for our performance share urstas follows:

Weightec-

Average

Number of Grant Date

(Units in thousands Units Fair Value
Outstanding at beginning of year, nonves 89t $ 28.0¢
Grantec 29¢€ 39.7(
Vested (46¢) (27.7¢)
Forfeited (46) (28.19
Outstanding at end of year, nonves 677 $ 33.3¢
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The fair value of the performance share unitstieated and/or amounts paid under these awardSoti@ss:

(In millions) 2014 2017 2012
Fair value of awards vest $ 20 $ 13 $ 10
Cash paic 12 11 52

Note 11. Retirement Plans

Our defined benefit and defined contribution planser substantially all of our employees. A sigr@ht number of our U.Sased employe
participate in the Textron Retirement Plan, whistdésigned to be a “floor-offsefifrangement with both a defined benefit componadts
defined contribution component. The defined bermdinponent of the arrangement includes the Texttaster Retirement Plan (TMRP) ¢
the Bell Helicopter Textron Master Retirement P@HTMRP), and the defined contribution componenthie Retirement Account Pl
(RAP). The defined benefit component provides aimiim guaranteed benefit (or “floobenefit). Under the RAP, participants are eligito
receive contributions from Textron of 2% of theligible compensation but may not make contributidgasthe plan. Upon retireme
participants receive the greater of the floor bitrefthe value of the RAP. Both the TMRP and Bi¢TMRP are subject to the provisions
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1GZRISA). Effective on January 1, 2010, the TextRetirement Plan was closed to |
participants, and employees hired after that dateive an additional 4% annual cash contributiothédr Textron Savings Plan account bt
on their eligible compensation.

We also have other funded and unfunded definedfib@emsion plans that cover certain of our U.S1 foreign employees. In addition, sev
defined contribution plans are sponsored by ouiouarbusinesses, of which the largest plan is #rdn Savings Plan, which is a qualil
401(k) plan subject to ERISA. Our defined conttibn plans cost approximately $99 million, $93 moii and $88 million in 2014, 2013 ¢
2012, respectively; these amounts include $16 anillb19 million and $21 million, respectively, inrgributions to the RAP. We also prov
postretirement benefits other than pensions fotaoeretired employees in the U.S., which includalthcare, dental care, Medicare Pz
reimbursement and life insurance benefits.

Periodic Benefit Cost
The components of net periodic benefit cost anéraimounts recognized in OCI are as follows:

Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits Other than Pensions
(In millions) 201 201: 201z 201+ 2017 201z
Net periodic benefit cost
Service cos $ 10¢ % 13t $ 11¢  $ 4 % 6 % 6
Interest cos 334 29C 30t 18 19 A
Expected return on plan ass (462) (418 (407) — — —
Amortization of prior service cost (cred 15 15 1€ (293 a7 (11)
Amortization of net actuarial lo¢ 112 18< 11¢ 2 6 7
Net periodic benefit co: $ 106 $ 20: $ 151 § 2 3% 14 % 27
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligatismecognizec
in OCI
Current year actuarial loss (ga $ 72¢ $ (969 $ 40z % 5 % (55) $ 15
Current year prior service cost (crec 12 1€ — (30) (45) 2
Amortization of net actuarial lo¢ (112) (189) (118 2 (6) @)
Amortization of prior service credit (cos (15) (15) (16) 23 17 11

Total recognized in OCI, before tax
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost ar@l

614 $ (L140$ 266 $§ (49 $  (89$ 17
722§ (949%  41C $§ (2 $  (75$ 44

&

The estimated amount that will be amortized froncuvoulated other comprehensive loss into net paripdnsion costs in 2015 is as follows:
Postretirement

Benefits

Pensior Other than

(In millions) Benefits Pension:
Net actuarial los $ 15€ $ 2
Prior service cost (credi 16 (25)
Total $ 17z $ (23)
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Obligations and Funded Status

All of our plans are measured as of our fiscal y@ad. The changes in the projected benefit obbigadind in the fair value of plan assets, a

with our funded status, are as follows:

Pension Benefits

Postretirement Benefits

Other than Pensions

(In millions) 201< 201: 201 201:
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 6,54¢ $  7,05: $ 44t $ 564
Service cos 10¢ 13z 4 6
Interest cos 334 29C 18 19
Acquisitions 57C — 13 —
Amendment: 12 16 (30) (45)
Plan participan’ contributions — — 5 4
Actuarial losses (gain: 88¢€ (56€) 4 (55)
Benefits paic (400 (379 47) (48)
Foreign exchange rate changes and ¢ (49) (9) — —

Benefit obligation at end of ye $ 8,00¢ $ 6,544 $ 412 $ 44E
Change in fair value of plan asset
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ $ 6,34¢ $ 571
Actual return on plan asse 623 81¢
Acquisitions 39C —
Employer contribution 60 18t
Benefits paic (400 (379
Foreign exchange rate changes and ¢ (39) (1)

Fair value of plan assets at end of y $ 6,97¢ $ 6,34F
Funded status at end of ye $ (1,02 % (199 $ (413) $ (445)
Amounts recognized in our balance sheets are lasvl

Postretirement Benefits
Pension Benefits Other than Pensions

(In millions) 201¢ 2017 201 2017
Non-current asset $ 60 $ 41z $ — 3 —
Current liabilities (26) (26) (45) (48)
Non-current liabilities (1,067 (58€) (36¢) (397)
Recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive |ws-tax:

Net loss 2,19: 1,59¢ 4C 38

Prior service cost (credi 11C 114 (75) (69)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defirmhefit pension plans was $7.6 billion and $6.ldnilat January 3, 2015 and Decembe
2013, respectively, which included $392 million @69 million, respectively, in accumulated benefitigations for unfunded plans wh

funding is not permitted or in foreign environmewtsere funding is not feasible.

Pension plans with accumulated benefit obligatexteeding the fair value of plan assets are asvist

(In millions) 201 201:
Projected benefit obligatic $ 3,09¢ $ 2,82¢
Accumulated benefit obligatic 2,90( 2,62¢
Fair value of plan asse 2,21°¢ 2,21t
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Assumptions
The weighted-average assumptions we use for owigreand postretirement plans are as follows:

Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits Other than Pensions

201 201: 2017 201¢ 201¢ 201Z
Net periodic benefit cost
Discount rate 4.92% 4.23% 4.94% 4.50% 3.75% 4.75%
Expected lon-term rate of return on asst 7.60% 7.56% 7.58%
Rate of compensation incree 3.50% 3.47% 3.49Y%
Benefit obligations at year-end
Discount rate 4.18% 4.94% 4.23% 4.00% 4.50% 3.75%
Rate of compensation increa: 3.49Y% 3.51% 3.48%

During 2014, the Society of Actuaries released meurtality tables that reflect increased life expecy over the previous tables.
incorporated these new tables in the 2014 fairevateasurement of our U.S. pension plans whichtezbsirl an increase in the projected be
obligation as of January 3, 2015.

Our assumed healthcare cost trend rate for botimthdical and prescription drug cost was 6.6% ind2&id 7.2% in 2013. We expect this
to gradually decline to 5.0% by 2021 where we assitiwill remain. These assumed healthcare costltrates have a significant effect on
amounts reported for the postretirement benefitgrothan pensions. A one-percentag@t change in these assumed healthcare cost
rates would have the following effects:

One- One-

Percentage- Percentage-

Point Point

(In millions) Increase Decreas
Effect on total of service and interest cost conguis $ 1 $ (1)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligations ottieem pension 18 (16)

Pension Assets

The expected longerm rate of return on plan assets is determineddan a variety of considerations, including thialelished asset allocat
targets and expectations for those asset clasis¢siidal returns of the plansissets and other market considerations. We irowgspensio
assets with the objective of achieving a total kteeturn, over the long term, sufficient to fuhdure pension obligations and to minirr
future pension contributions. We are willing téetate a commensurate level of risk to achievedbjsctive based on the funded status o
plans and the lonterm nature of our pension liability. Risk is caied by maintaining a portfolio of assets thatligersified across a varie
of asset classes, investment styles and investmanagers. Where possible, investment managergzainéited from owning our stock in t
portfolios that they manage on our behalf.

For U.S. plan assets, which represent the majofigur plan assets, asset allocation target raagesstablished consistent with our investi
objectives, and the assets are rebalanced perilydicBor foreign plan assets, allocations are Haee expected cash flow needs
assessments of the local practices and marketsta@et allocation ranges are as follows:

U.S. Plan Asset:

Domestic equity securitie 23% to 389
International equity securitie 11% to 229
Debt securitie 27% to 389
Private investment partnershi 5% to 119
Real estat 7% to 139
Hedge fund: 0%to 5%
Foreign Plan Assets
Equity securitie: 49% to 679
Debt securitie! 28% to 419
Real estat: 3% to 129
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The fair value of total pension plan assets by magpegory and level in the fair value hierarchylaned in Note 8 is as follows:

January 3, 2015 December 28, 201

(In millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level & Level 1 Level Z Level 2
Cash and equivalen $ 27 $ 194 $ — $ 17 $ 144 $ —
Equity securities

Domestic 1,417 59t — 1,17¢ 86¢€ —

International 1,18¢ 252 — 1,14( 25¢ —
Debt securities

National, state and local governme 52¢ 41¢ — 50¢€ 411 —

Corporate dek — 95( — — 63¢ —

Asse-backed securitie — 11C — — 15z —
Private investment partnershi — — 38( — — 30¢
Real estat — — 744 — — 55¢
Hedge fund: — — 17¢ — — 17t
Total $ 3,15¢ $ 2,521 $ 1,30: $ 2,84 $ 2,47( $ 1,03¢

Cash equivalents and equity and debt securitidadeccomingled funds, which represent investmamtfsinds offered to institutional invest
that are similar to mutual funds in that they pdevdiversification by holding various equity ancdtleecurities. Since these comingled ft
are not quoted on any active market, they are griz@sed on the relative value of the underlyingitggand debt investments and tt
individual prices at any given time; accordingljgey are classified as Level 2. Debt securitiesvataed based on same day actual tre
prices, if available. If such prices are not aafalié, we use a matrix pricing model with historipates, trends and other factors.

Private investment partnerships represent invedsriarfunds, which, in turn, invest in stocks arebtisecurities of companies that, in n
cases, are not publicly traded. These partnerstripyalued using income and market methods tleiide cash flow projections and mai
multiples for various comparable companies. Res#hte includes owned properties and investmenfsaiinerships. Owned properties
valued using certified appraisals at least evergdlyears, which then are updated at least annlaltiie real estate investment manager t
on current market trends and other available in&tiom. These appraisals generally use the stamdatidods for valuing real estate, incluc
forecasting income and identifying current transast for comparable real estate to arrive at aviailue. Real estate partnerships are vi
similar to private investment partnerships, with general partner using standard real estate v@huaiethods to value the real estate prope
and securities held within their fund portfoliog/e believe these assumptions are consistent withngstions that market participants wc
use in valuing these investments.

Hedge funds represent an investment in a divedsftiad of hedge funds of which we are the solestve The fund invests in portfolio fur
that are not publicly traded and are managed bipwsiportfolio managers. Investments in portfdlinds are typically valued on the basi
the most recent price or valuation provided byr#levant fund$ administrator. The administrator for the fundragates these valuations v
the other assets and liabilities to calculate #ieagset value of the fund.

The table below presents a reconciliation of thgith@ng and ending balances for fair value measergmthat use significant unobservi
inputs (Level 3) by major category:

Private

Investment
(In millions) Partnerships Real Estate Hedge Fund:
Balance at beginning of ye $ 30t $ 552 $ 17t

Actual return on plan asse

Related to assets still held at reporting ¢ @) 6 4
Related to assets sold during the pe 41 28 —
Purchases, sales and settlements 41 157 —
Balance at end of ye: $ 38C $ 744 $ 17¢

Estimated Future Cash Flow Impact

Defined benefits under salaried plans are baseshlamy and years of service. Hourly plans genemlbvide benefits based on stated amc
for each year of service. Our funding policy imsistent with applicable laws and regulations20i5, we expect to contribute approxima
$80 million to fund our pension plans and the RARenefit payments provided below reflect expectedre employee service, as appropr
and are expected to be paid, net of estimatedcpatit contributions. These payments are basd¢tleosame assumptions used to measui
benefit obligation at the end of fiscal 2014. Vehilension
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benefit payments primarily will be paid out of gifiad pension trusts, we will pay postretiremenhéfits other than pensions out of our ger
corporate assets. Benefit payments that we expgety are as follows:

(In millions) 201¢ 201¢€ 2017 201¢ 201¢ 202(-202¢
Pension benefit $ 401 $ 39 $ 408 $ 411 $ 42C $ 2,25¢
Pos-retirement benefits other than pensi 46 44 42 39 37 15C

Note 12. Income Taxes

We conduct business globally and, as a resultnfilmerous consolidated and separate income tasngeivithin and outside the U.S. For al
our U.S. subsidiaries, we file a consolidated fabiecome tax return. Income from continuing opierss before income taxes is as follows:

(In millions) 201< 201: 2012
U.S. $ B55E $ 454 $ 644
Non-U.S. 30C 22C 197
Income from continuing operations before incomes $ 85¢ $ 674 $ 841

Income tax expense for continuing operations isreanized as follows:

(In millions) 201< 201: 2012
Current:
Federal $ 19t $ 23 $ 40
State 18 10 9
Non-U.S. 54 56 29
267 89 78
Deferred:
Federal (12 91 16¢
State 4 13 23
Non-U.S. 3 (17) (10
(19 87 182
Income tax expens $ 24§ $ 17€ $ 26(

The current federal and state provisions for 20iduded $25 million of tax related to the sale eftain leveraged leases in the Fin:
segment for which we had previously recorded sicguift deferred tax liabilities.

The following table reconciles the federal statytiocome tax rate to our effective income tax fatecontinuing operations:

201¢ 2018 2017
U.S. Federal statutory income tax r 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting fr
State income taxe 1.0 2.4 2.2
Non-U.S. tax rate differential and foreign tax cre: (5.8) (7.2) (5.4)
Research cred (1.5) (3.8) —
Other, ne 0.4 (0.3) (0.9)
Effective income tax rat 29.1% 26.1% 30.9%

The amount of income taxes we pay is subject t@imggaudits by U.S. federal, state and nb&-. tax authorities, which may result in propc
assessments. Our estimate for the potential ostdomany uncertain tax issue is highly judgmentale assess our income tax positions
record tax benefits for all years subject to exatiam based upon managemenévaluation of the facts, circumstances and indébion
available at the reporting date. For those taitipos for which it is more likely than not thattax benefit will be sustained, we record
largest amount of tax benefit with a greater th@%o3ikelihood of being realized upon settlementwattaxing authority that has full knowlec
of all relevant information. Interest and penaltize accrued, where applicable. If we do noebelthat it is not more likely than not that a
benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit is redagd.
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Our future results may include favorable or unfalbe adjustments to our estimated tax liabilities tb settlement of income tax examinati
new regulatory or judicial pronouncements, expiratdf statutes of limitations or other relevantrgge As a result, our effective tax rate 1
fluctuate significantly on a quarterly and annuasis.

Our unrecognized tax benefits represent tax pasitior which reserves have been established. Ognézed state tax benefits and inte
related to unrecognized tax benefits are reflecketdof applicable tax benefits. A reconciliatiohour unrecognized tax benefits, excluc
accrued interest, is as follows:

January 3, December 28 December 29
(In millions) 2015 2013 2012
Balance at beginning of ye $ 284 $ 29(C $ 29¢
Additions for tax positions related to currenty 10 15 5
Additions for current year acquisitiol 100 — —
Additions for tax positions of prior yea — 1 2
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei (6) a7) 3)
Reductions for expiration of statute of limitaticausd settlement (3) (5) (8)
Balance at end of ye: $ 38t $ 284 $ 29(C

At January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013, apprdzign&305 million and $204 million, respectivelyf, these unrecognized tax benefit:
recognized, would favorably affect our effective tate in a future period. At January 3, 2015 &mtember 28, 2013, the remaining
million in unrecognized tax benefits were relatedliscontinued operations.

It is reasonably possible that within the next 1@nths our unrecognized tax benefits, exclusiventérest, may decrease in the rang
approximately $0 to $215 million, as a result af tonclusion of audits and any related appealswew processes, the expiration of statuts
limitations and additional worldwide uncertain tpgsitions. This potential decrease primarily edato uncertainties with respect to p
dispositions and research tax credits. Howevesedb@n the process of finalizing audits and anuired review process by relevant authori
it is difficult to estimate the timing and amourftpmtential changes to our unrecognized tax benefitithough the outcome of these mai
cannot be determined, we believe adequate provisisrbeen made for any potential unfavorable filghistatement impact.

In the normal course of business, we are subjeekamination by taxing authorities throughout theeld;, including major jurisdictions such
Canada, China, Germany, Japan, Mexico and the With few exceptions, we no longer are subject t8.Uederal, state and local income
examinations for years before 1997. We are nodpbsgbject to not.S. income tax examinations in our major jurisdics for years befo
2009.

During 2014, 2013 and 2012, we recognized nefrédated interest expense totaling approximatelyn#iiion, $6 million and $9 millior
respectively, in the Consolidated Statements ofr@jmns. At January 3, 2015 and December 28, 28&3)ad a total of $132 million and $:
million, respectively, of net accrued interest exgincluded in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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The tax effects of temporary differences that gise to significant portions of our net deferrexl éssets and liabilities are as follows:

January 3, December 2€
(In millions) 201¢ 201:
Deferred tax asse
Obligation for pension and postretirement bent $ 541 $ 35¢€
Accrued expenses 287 182
Deferred compensatic 19C 161
Loss carryforward 137 84
Inventory 79 18
Allowance for credit losse 36 29
Deferred incomt 22 14
Other, ne 91 13C
Total deferred tax asse 1,38: 97€
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass (167) (16€)

$ 1,21¢ $ 81C

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment, principally depriaia $ (167) $ (179
Leasing transactior (16%) (184
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibl (11¢) (109
Prepaid pension and postretirement ben (14 (143
Total deferred tax liabilitie (464) (610
Net deferred tax ass $ 752 $ 20C

* Accrued expenses includes warranty and product teia@mce reserves, self-insured liabilities andriese

We believe that our earnings during the periodsnithe temporary differences become deductible vélbufficient to realize the related fut
income tax benefits. For those jurisdictions whire expiration date of tax carryforwards or thejgcted operating results indicate
realization is not more than likely, a valuatioloalance is provided.

The following table presents the breakdown betweerent and long-term net deferred tax assets:

January 3, December 2¢

(In millions) 201¢ 201
Manufacturing group

Other current asse $ 25¢ $ 20¢€

Other asset 63C 27C

Other liabilities (19 (147)
Finance groul- Other liabilities (11¢) (129
Net deferred tax ass $ 752 $ 20C
Our net operating loss and credit carryforward¥aatary 3, 2015 are as follows:
(In millions)
Non-U.S. net operating loss with no expirat $ 84
Non-U.S. net operating loss expiring through 2| 5€
U.S. federal net operating losses expiring thro2@B¥, related to 2014 acquisitia 29C
U.S. foreign tax credits expiring through 2022atetl to 2014 acquisitiot 8
State net operating loss and tax credits, nebo¢mefits, expiring through 20: 10¢

The undistributed earnings of our nbnS. subsidiaries approximated $995 million at a3, 2015. We consider the undistributed eas
to be indefinitely reinvested; therefore, we hawee provided a deferred tax liability for any resadW.S. tax that may be due upon repatrie
of these earnings. Because of the effect of Lbfidn tax credits, it is not practicable to estiendne amount of tax that might be payabl
these earnings in the event they no longer ardimitigdy reinvested.
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Note 13. Contingencies and Commitments

We are subject to legal proceedings and other slarising out of the conduct of our business, idiclg proceedings and claims relating
commercial and financial transactions; governmemttracts; alleged lack of compliance with appliealdws and regulations; product
partners; product liability; patent and trademarkingement; employment disputes; and environmersiaflety and health matters. Som
these legal proceedings and claims seek damages,di penalties in substantial amounts or reniediaf environmental contamination. A
government contractor, we are subject to auditgiewes and investigations to determine whether operations are being conductec
accordance with applicable regulatory requiremetdader federal government procurement regulatiocestain claims brought by the U
Government could result in our suspension or debatrfrom U.S. Government contracting for a periédime. On the basis of informati
presently available, we do not believe that exgstimoceedings and claims will have a material ¢ffat our financial position or results
operations.

In the ordinary course of business, we enter itdodby letter of credit agreements and surety bavittsfinancial institutions to meet varic
performance and other obligations. These outstgnigtter of credit arrangements and surety bogdsegated to approximately $790 mill
and $298 million at January 3, 2015 and Decembge2@83, respectively.

Environmental Remediation

As with other industrial enterprises engaged inilsinbusinesses, we are involved in a number ofediad actions under various federal
state laws and regulations relating to the envireminthat impose liability on companies to clean apgcontribute to the cost of cleaning
sites on which hazardous wastes or materials wengosed or released. Our accrued environmenthllities relate to installation
remediation systems, disposal costs, U.S. Enviromah@&rotection Agency oversight costs, legal feses| operating and maintenance cost
both currently and formerly owned or operated fae8. Circumstances that can affect the religbdind precision of the accruals include
identification of additional sites, environmentagulations, level of cleanup required, technologiesilable, number and financial conditiot
other contributors to remediation and the time guenver which remediation may occur. We beliewa Hny changes to the accruals that
result from these factors and uncertainties witlmave a material effect on our financial positanesults of operations.

Based upon information currently available, wereate that our potential environmental liabilities avithin the range of $40 million to $1
million. At January 3, 2015, environmental resereésapproximately $80 million have been establishedddress these specific estim.
liabilities. We estimate that we will likely pay oaccrued environmental remediation liabilities otfee next ten years and have classified
million as current liabilities. Expenditures to &ate and remediate contaminated sites approxing&i8dmillion, $12 million and $15 millic
in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Leases

Rental expense approximated $121 million, $95 aiilland $97 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respebti Future minimum rent
commitments for noncancelable operating leasedfatteat January 3, 2015 approximated $73 million 2015, $57 million for 2016, $
million for 2017, $37 million for 2018, $31 milliofior 2019 and $193 million thereafter. The totalufe minimum rental receipts un
noncancelable subleases at January 3, 2015 apmi@dr$i23 million.

Note 14. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

We have made the following cash payments:

(In millions) 201< 2012 2012
Interest paid
Manufacturing grouj $ 134 $ 124 $ 13t
Finance grou| 41 46 64
Net taxes paid /(receivec
Manufacturing grou 26€ 228 @)
Finance grou| 23 (49) 43

Cash paid for interest by the Finance group indualmounts paid to the Manufacturing group of $1liaoniin 2012. Cash paid for interest
the Finance group to the Manufacturing group wdssigmificant in 2014 and 2013.
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Note 15. Segment and Geographic Data

We operate in, and report financial information, fitie following five business segments: Textronaain, which includes the legacy Ces
segment and the acquired Beechcraft business, Beitron Systems, Industrial and Finance. The aaitog policies of the segments are
same as those described in Note 1.

Textron Aviation products include Citation jets,nidi Air turboprops, Caravan utility turboprops, $ergngine piston aircraft, T-6 and A9 -
military aircraft, and aftermarket sales and sexsisold to a diverse base of corporate and indaiduyers.

Bell products include military and commercial helfiters, tiltrotor aircraft and related spare paatsl services. Bell supplies militi
helicopters and, in association with The Boeing @any, military tiltrotor aircraft, and aftermarkservices to the U.S. and nthS
governments. Bell also supplies commercial heliexgpand aftermarket services to corporate, oftsipetroleum exploration and developm
utility, charter, police, fire, rescue, emergenagdical helicopter operators and foreign governments

Textron Systemgroducts include unmanned aircraft systems, mairg land systems, weapons and sensors, simuléténing and othe
defense and aviation mission support products andces primarily for U.S. and non-U.S. governments

Industrial products and markets include the follogvi

. Kautex products include blomolded plastic fuel systems, windshield and heaplavasher systems, selective catalytic redu
systems and engine camshafts that are marketedrisino automobile OEMs, as well as plastic battend containers for varic
uses;

. Tools and Test Equipment products include powergdipenent, electrical test and measurement instrtsnenechanical at
hydraulic tools, cable connectors, fiber optic adsies, underground and aerial transmission anttilolision products, and pow
utility products, principally used in the constiioct maintenance, telecommunications, data commatioits, electrical, utility ar
plumbing industries; and

. Specialized Vehicles and Equipment products inclgdé cars, offroad utility and light transportation vehicles, &ion groun
support equipment, professional turf-maintenanagpegent and turare vehicles that are marketed primarily to golfirses, resc
communities, municipalities, sporting venues, comsts, and commercial and industrial users.

The Finance segment provides financing primarilpuechasers of new and pre-owned Textron Aviatioeraft and Bell helicopters.

Segment profit is an important measure used foruatiag performance and for decisioreking purposes. Segment profit for
manufacturing segments excludes interest expeesgiit corporate expenses and acquisition andutsting costs related to the Beechc
acquisition. The measurement for the Finance segimeludes interest income and expense along imigrcompany interest income ¢
expense.

Our revenues by segment, along with a reconciliatb segment profit to income from continuing opienras before income taxes, are
follows:

Revenues Segment Profit (Loss)
(In millions) 201/ 201¢ 201% 201/ 2018 2017
Textron Aviation $ 456¢ $ 2,78 $ 3111 $§ 234 ¢ 48 $ 82
Bell 4,24 4,511 4,27¢ 52¢ 578 63¢
Textron System 1,624 1,66¢ 1,73 15C 147 132
Industrial 3,33¢ 3,01- 2,90( 28C 242 21t
Finance 10z 13z 21t 21 49 64
Total $ 13,87¢ $ 12,10¢ $ 12,237 $ 121/ §$ 965 $ 1,130
Corporate expenses and other, (161) (16€) (14¥)
Interest expense, net for Manufacturing gr (14¢) (129 (143
Acquisition and restructuring cos (52) — —
Income from continuing operations before incomes $ 858 $ 674 $ 841
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Revenues by major product type are summarized below

(In millions) 201< 201 2012
Fixec-wing aircraft $ 4,56¢ $ 2,78¢ $ 3,117
Rotor aircrafi 4,24¢ 4,511 4,27¢
Unmanned aircraft systems, armored vehicles, poecigseapons and oth 1,624 1,66t 1,73%
Fuel systems and functional compone 1,97t 1,85: 1,84:
Specialized vehicles and equipm 86¢ 713 66(
Tools and test equipme 49t 44¢€ 39¢
Finance 10< 132 21¢
Total revenue $ 13,87¢ $ 12,10¢ $ 12,23

Our revenues included sales to the U.S. Governmokmapproximately $3.8 billion, $3.7 billion and $3billion in 2014, 2013 and 20
respectively, primarily in the Bell and Textron 8ms segments.

Other information by segment is provided below:

Assets Capital Expenditures Depreciation and Amortization
January 3, December 2¢
(In millions) 201¢ 201: 2014 201: 2012 201< 201: 2012
Textron Aviation $ 408 $ 226 $ % $ 72 $ 93 $ 137 % 87 $ 10z
Bell 2,85¢ 2,89¢ 152 197 172 132 11€ 10z
Textron System 2,28t 2,10¢€ 65 66 10¢ 84 89 75
Industrial 2,171 1,95¢ 97 89 97 76 72 70
Finance 1,52¢ 1,72¢ — — — 13 18 25
Corporate 1,67¢ 1,99¢ 19 20 1C 17 7 9
Total $ 14608 $ 1294 $ 42¢ $ 444  $ 48C $ 45¢ § 38 $ 38:

Geographic Data
Presented below is selected financial informatibaur continuing operations by geographic area:

Property, Plant and Equipment,

Revenues* net**

January 3, December 2¢
(In millions) 201¢ 2017 201: 201¢ 201
United State! $ 8,677 $ 7,51z $ 7,58¢ $ 2,01t $ 1,701
Europe 1,761 1,53¢ 1,65¢ 272 28€
Latin America and Mexic 1,261 87¢ 89¢ 44 45
Asia and Australi 1,15¢ 1,111 1,264 74 80
Middle East and Africi 641 693 39z — —
Canads 382 37¢E 447 92 101
Total $ 13,87¢ $ 12,10« $ 12,23% $ 2,497 $ 2,21F

* Revenues are attributed to countries based ondbation of the customer.
** Property, plant and equipment, net are basedfumlocation of the asset.
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Quarterly Data

(Unaudited) 2014 2013
(Dollars in millions, except per share amour Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Revenues
Textron Aviation $ 78 $ 1,18 $ 1,08 $ 152(] $ 70€ % 56C $ 59: $ 92t
Bell 872 1,11¢ 1,182 1,071 94¢ 1,02¢ 1,162 1,37¢
Textron System 362 282 35¢ 621 42¢ 42z 40t 40¢
Industrial 7917 894 78t 862 727 801 711 773
Finance 29 27 25 22 42 31 33 26
Total revenue $ 2847 $ 3508 $ 343( $ 409 |$ 2858 $ 283 $ 2904 $ 3,50¢
Segment profit
Textron Aviation (a $ 14 % 28 % 62 $ 13C | $ 8 % 50 $ 23 $ 33
Bell 96 141 14€ 14€ 12¢ 13t 131 17¢&
Textron System 39 34 27 50 38 34 3t 40
Industrial 66 94 58 67 57 79 52 54
Finance 4 7 5 5 19 15 13 2
Total segment prof 21¢ 304 292 39¢ 23t 21% 20¢ 307
Corporate expenses and other, (43) (39) (22) (58) (55) (20) (34) (57
Interest expense, net for Manufacturing gr (35) (36) (37 (40) (37 (30) (29) 27
Acquisition and restructuring costs | (1€) (20) 3 (23) — — — —
Income tax expens (38) (65) (71) (74) (28) (49) (47) (52)
Income from continuing operatio 87 14k 16C 213 11F 114 98 171
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, néhobme

taxes (@) (@) (€)) (@) @ 1 &)
Net income $ 8 $ 144  $ 15¢  $ 21z | $ 11¢  $ 112 $ 9€¢ $ 167
Basic earnings per share

Continuing operation $ 031 $ 05z % 057 $ 077 | $ 04z $ 041 $ 03¢ % 0.6C

Discontinued operatior (0.02) — — (0.07) 0.0z (0.01) — (0.01)
Basic earnings per she $ 03C $ 05z $ 057 $ 0.7¢ | $ 044 $ 04C % 03 % 0.5¢
Basic average shares outstanc(In thousands 281,09: 280,28( 278,86( 277,34 273,20( 280,16: 281,52! 282,30t
Diluted earnings per share

Continuing operation $ 031 $ 051 $ 057 $ 0.7¢ | $ 04C $ 04C $ 03¢ % 0.6C

Discontinued operatior (0.01) — — — 0.01 — — (0.01)
Diluted earnings per sha $ 03C $ 051 $ 057 $ 0.7¢ | $ 041 $ 04C % 03 % 0.5¢
Diluted average shares outstanc(In thousands 283,32 282,76« 281,03( 279,77: 288,97¢ 283,82« 281,71( 282,70°
Segment profit margins
Textron Aviation 1.8% 2.4% 5.7% 8.6% (1.1)% (8.9)% (3.9)% 3.6%
Bell 11.0 12.6 12.4 13.6 13.6 13.2 11.3 12.9
Textron System 10.7 12.1 7.5 8.1 8.9 8.1 8.6 9.8
Industrial 8.3 10.5 6.8 7.8 7.8 9.9 7.3 7.0
Finance 13.8 25.9 20.0 22.7 45.2 48.4 39.4 7.7
Segment profit margi 7.7% 8.7% 8.5% 9.7% 8.2% 7.5% 7.2% 8.8%
Common stock information
Price range: Higl $ 40.1¢ $ 409 $ 39.00 $ 442 |$ 313 $ 3022 $ 2981 $ 374

Low $ 342¢ $ 369 $ 355/ $ 3228 |$% 239« $ 248 $ 253¢ $ 26.1%

Dividends declared per she $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ 0.0z | $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ 0.0Z

(@) Includes amortization of $12 million, $33 millidd1.0 million and $8 million for the first, secontiirtl and fourth quarters of 2014, respectivelyatet to fair value stepp
adjustments of Beechcraft acquired inventories dalthg the periods. The second quarter of 2018ishes $28 million in severance costs.

(b) Acquisition and restructuring costs include resturing costs of $5 million, $20 million, $3 millicand $13 million for the first, second, third aralifth quarters of 201
respectively, related to the acquisition of Beedidihgs, LLC, the parent of Beechcraft Corporatiahich was completed on March 14, 2014. Transactiosts of $1
million related to the Beechcraft acquisition afs@included in the first quarter of 2014.
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Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In millions) 201 201 2012

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Balance at beginning of ye $ 22 $ 1¢ 18
Charged to costs and expen 11 7 4
Deductions from reserve: (3 (4) (3)

Balance at end of ye: $ 30 $ 22 19

Inventory FIFO reserves

Balance at beginning of ye $ 15C $ 13€ 134
Charged to costs and expen 51 54 42
Deductions from reserve: (32 (40 (40)

Balance at end of ye: $ 16¢ $ 15C 13¢€

* Deductions primarily include amounts written off umcollectable accounts (less recoveries), inventiisposals and currency translation adjustments.
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountas on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedur— We have carried out an evaluation, under the sigiervand with the participation of our managen
including our Chairman, President and Chief Exesu®fficer (CEO) and our Executive Vice Presidemi &hief Financial Officer (CFO),
the effectiveness of the design and operation ofdsclosure controls and procedures (as defineRlules 13a-15(e) and 18d{e) under tt
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (th'))Aas of the end of the fiscal year covered by thi®re Based upon that evaluation,
CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure contints procedures are effective in providing reasanalkurance that (a) the informa
required to be disclosed by us in the reportswafile or submit under the Act is recorded, preeels summarized and reported within the
periods specified in the Securities and Exchangmar@issions rules and forms, and (b) such information is andated and communicatec
our management, including our CEO and CFO, as g@piatte to allow timely decisions regarding requidistclosure.

Report of Manageme— See page 38.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing on Internal Control over Financial Reporti— See page 39.

Changes in Internal Controls- There have been no changes in our internal cootret financial reporting during the fourth quartdrthe
fiscal year covered by this report that have maligriaffected, or are reasonably likely to matdyiaiffect, our internal control over financ
reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Effective February 25, 2015, the Board of Directarsended the Company’s Amended and RestatetaBss by adding a forum select
provision as a new Article XV of the Byaws. The Amendment provides that, unless the Compansents in writing to the selection of
alternative forum, the Delaware Court of Chanceily e the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any idative action or proceeding brought
behalf of the Company, (ii) any action assertingjaam of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by anyedtor or officer or other employee of
Company to the Company or its stockholders, (iiy action asserting a claim against the Comparangrdirector or officer or other employ
of the Company arising pursuant to any provisiothef Delaware General Corporation Law or the Comisagertificate of Incorporation
By-Laws, or (iv) any action asserting a claim goest by the internal affairs doctrine.

The Amendment is designed to save the Companytarstdckholders from the increased expense of dafgragainst duplicative litigatic
brought in multiple courts, and also to providet ttlaims involving Delaware law are decided by Delee courts.

The foregoing description of the Amendment doespomport to be complete and is subject to, andifiglin its entirety by, the full text of tl
Amendment, which is set forth as Article XV to tiempany’s Amended and Restated IByws which are filed as Exhibit 3.2 to this Anr
Report on Form 10-K.

PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

The information appearing under “ELECTION OF DIREGHS— Nominees for Director,” “—The Board of Dirergde- Corporate
Governance” “—The Board of Directors—Code of Ethics” “~Board Committees—Audit Committeg” and “SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIA

OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCEh the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting off&holders to be held on April 22, 201
incorporated by reference into this Annual ReparForm 10-K.

Information regarding our executive officers is taned in Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
Iltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information appearing under “ELECTION OF DIREQHS — The Board of Directors€ompensation of Directors “ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS — Board Committeeszompensation Committee Interlocks and Insider gudition,”
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“COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT,” “COMPENSATION DIS@GSSION AND ANALYSIS” and “EXECUTIVE
COMPENSATION” in the Proxy Statement for our Anniéeting of Shareholders to be held on April 2212 incorporated by reference
into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

The information appearing under “SECURITY OWNERSHIBnd “EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION -Equity Compensation PI
Information” in the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting off&olders to be held on April 22, 2015 is incogped by reference into tl
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaains and Director Independence

The information appearing under “ELECTION OF DIRBORS — The Board of DirectorsBirector Independencé and “EXECUTIVE
COMPENSATION — Transactions with Related Persoimsthe Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting ofafholders to be held
April 22, 2015 is incorporated by reference ints thnnual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information appearing undeRATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTEHD PUBLIC ACCOUNTINC
FIRM — Fees to Independent Auditorsi the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting ofafolders to be held on April 22, 201!
incorporated by reference into this Annual ReparForm 10-K.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements and Schedules — See Indexga ¥7.

Exhibits

3.1A Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Textronféed with the Secretary of State of Delaware oprif29, 2010
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to TexsaQuarterly Report on Form 1Q-for the fiscal quarter ended April
2010.

3.1B Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificatelrforporation of Textron Inc., filed with the Setary of State «
Delaware on April 27, 2011. Incorporated by refeeeto Exhibit 3.1 to Textron’s Quarterly Reportieorm 10Q for the
fiscal quarter ended April 2, 201

3.2 Amended and Restated Ryws of Textron Inc., effective April 28, 2010 ahdther amended April 27, 2011, July
2013 and February 25, 201

4.1 Support Agreement dated as of May 25, 1994, betwestron Inc. and Textron Financial Corporatiorcdrporated b
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Textr's Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

NOTE: Instruments defining the rights of holders of certasues of londerm debt of Textron have not been filed as ex¢
because the authorized principal amount of anyadseich issues does not exceed 10% of the totatsasf Textron ar
its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Textgyees to furnish a copy of each such instrumethiddCommission upc¢
request

NOTE: Exhibits 10.1 through 10.16 below are managememiraots or compensatory plans, contracts or agretn

10.1A Textron Inc. 2007 Long-erm Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated as of 29y 2010). Incorporated by referenci

Exhibit 10.1 to Textro’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2C
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10.1B Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement. Inporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Textso@uarterly Repa
on Form 1-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2007. (SHECNo. 00:-05480)

10.1C Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement. Incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 10.3 to TextrerQuarterly Report ¢
Form 1(-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2007. (BECNo. 00:-05480)

10.1D Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement. hpooated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Texteo@Quarterly Repa
on Form 1-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2007. (BECNo. 00:-05480)

10.1E Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement vidikidend Equivalents. Incorporated by referenc&xbibit 10.2 t
Textror's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2008. ($H#€ No. 00:-05480)

10.1F Form of CasltSettled Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement viiiidend Equivalents. Incorporated by referenc
Exhibit 10.1G to Textron’s Annual Report on FormHKGor the fiscal year ended January 3, 2009. ($H€ No. 001-
05480)

10.1G Form of Performance Share Unit Grant Agreementorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1H to TextsoAnnua
Report on Form 1-K for the fiscal year ended January 3, 2009. (SE€No0. 00:-05480)

10.1H Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement. Imporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textso@uarterly Repa
on Form 1-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2C

10.11 Form of StockSettled Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement viiilidend Equivalents. Incorporated by referenc
Exhibit 10.2 to Textro's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2(

10.1J Form of Performance Share Unit Grant Agreementorparated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to TextsoQuarterl
Report on Form 1-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2C

10.2 Textron Inc. ShorfFerm Incentive Plan (As amended and restated eféedanuary 3, 2010). Incorporated by refer:
to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrc's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 3, 20:

10.3A Textron Inc. 1999 Long-erm Incentive Plan for Textron Employees (Amendad Restated Effective April 28, 201
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to TemtsdQuarterly Report on Form 1Q-for the fiscal quarter ended Jul
2010.

10.3B Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement. Imporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textso@uarterly Repa

on Form 1-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 3, 2004. (SHE Ko. 00-05480)

10.3C Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement. Incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 10.2 to TextrerQuarterly Report ¢
Form 1(-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 3, 2004. (SHE [Ro. 00:-05480)

10.4A Textron Spillover Savings Plan, effective Januarg@L0, including Appendix A, Defined Contributi®mnovisions of th
Supplemental Benefits Plan for Textron Key Exeagi{As in effect before January 1, 2008). Incampe by referen:
to Exhibit 10.3 to Textrc's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 3, 20:

10.4B Second Amendment to the Textron Spillover Savintgs,Pdated December 21, 2012. Incorporated by eafer t
Exhibit 10.4B to Textro's Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2(

10.4C Third Amendment to the Textron Spillover SavingsarR| dated October 7, 2013. Incorporated by referet
Exhibit 10.4C to Textrd's Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2(

10.5A Textron Spillover Pension Plan, As Amended and &edt Effective January 3, 2010, including Appendix(as
amended and restated effective January 3, 201@iydaeBenefit Provisions of the Supplemer
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Benefits Plan for Textron Key Executives (As ineeff before January 1, 2007). Incorporated by eefes to
Exhibit 10.4 to Textro’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 3, 20

10.5B Amendments to the Textron Spillover Pension Plated October 12, 2011. Incorporated by referendextobit 10.5E
to Textror's Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

10.5C Second Amendment to the Textron Spillover Pensitan,Pdated October 7, 2013. Incorporated by refarett
Exhibit 10.5C to Textrd's Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2(

10.6A Deferred Income Plan for Textron Executives, Effectlanuary 3, 2010, including Appendix A, Provisioof the
Deferred Income Plan for Textron Key Executives (A®ffect before January 1, 2008). Incorporatgddference t
Exhibit 10.2 to Textro’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 3, 20

10.6B First Amendment to the Deferred Income Plan for tiaex Executives, dated November 7, 2013. Incorgordty
reference to Exhibit 10.6B to Textr's Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2(

10.6C Second Amendment to the Deferred Income Plan fottrde Executives, dated March 24, 2014. Incorpataby
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Textrs Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2(

10.6D Third Amendment to the Deferred Income Plan fortii@x Executives, dated December 12, 2(

10.7A Deferred Income Plan for NaBmployee Directors, As Amended and Restated Effeciianuary 1, 2009, includi

Appendix A, Prior Plan Provisions (As in effect bef January 1, 2008). Incorporated by referencextaibit 10.9 tc
Textror's Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended January 3, 2009. (SEENo. 00:-05480)

10.7B Amendment No. 1 to Deferred Income Plan for Nemployee Directors, as Amended and Restated BEffedanuary :
2009, dated as of November 6, 2012. Incorporatect®rence to Exhibit 10.8B to Textron’s Annual Begmn Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2(

10.8A Severance Plan for Textron Key Executives, As Aneendnd Restated Effective January 1, 2010. Incatpdrb
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Textron’s Annual Remm Form 10K for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2010. (SE€
No. 00-05480)

10.8B First Amendment to the Severance Plan for Textrey Executives, dated October 26, 2010. Incorporbyeceferenc
to Exhibit 10.10B to Textrc's Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2(

10.8C Second Amendment to the Severance Plan for TexeynExecutives, dated March 24, 2014. Incorporétgdeferenc
to Exhibit 10.5 to Textrc's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2(

10.9 Form of Indemnity Agreement between Textron andeiecutive officers. Incorporated by reference iikit A to
Textror's Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Shatlééis on April 29, 1987. (SEC File No. (-05480)

10.10 Form of Indemnity Agreement between Textron andnits-employee directors (approved by the Nominating
Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of diams on July 21, 2009 and entered into with al-employe:
directors, effective as of August 1, 2009). Inavgied by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to TextsQuarterly Report ¢
Form 1(-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 3, 2009 $tte No. 00-05480)

10.11A Letter Agreement between Textron and Scott C. Diynelated June 26, 2008. Incorporated by refezetn
Exhibit 10.1 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Fot®Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 28, 200BC(&ile No. 001-
05480)
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10.11B

10.11C

10.11D

10.12A

10.12B

10.13

10.14A

10.14B

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18A

10.18B

10.18C

Amendment to Letter Agreement between Textron acottSC. Donnelly, dated December 16, 2008, togethitn
Addendum No.1 thereto, dated December 23, 2008orporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15B to TextsoAnnua
Report on Form 1-K for the fiscal year ended January 3, 2009. (SE€No. 00:-05480)

Agreement between Textron and Scott C. DonnellyedidMay 1, 2009, related to Mr. Donnellypersonal use of
portion of hangar space at T.F. Green Airport whiglheased by Textron. Incorporated by referencExbibit 10.1 t
Textror's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 4, 2009. (SHE Ro. 00:-05480)

Hangar License and Services Agreement made anckdritgo on April 25, 2011 to be effective as oftBmber 5, 201
between Textron Inc. and Mr. DonneBy'limited liability company. Incorporated by refece to Exhibit 10.1 1
Textror's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 2, 20

Letter Agreement between Textron and Frank Corateted July 27, 2009. Incorporated by referencextuitiit 10.2 tc
Textror's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 3, 2009 Q &ite No. 00-05480)

Hangar License and Services Agreement made anckdriteo on April 25, 2011 to be effective as oftBmber 5, 201
between Textron Inc. and Mr. Connor’s limited liglpicompany. Incorporated by reference to Exhilfit2 to Textrorg
Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 2, 20

Letter Agreement between Textron and Cheryl H. dohn dated June 12, 2012. Incorporated by referda
Exhibit 10.2 to Textro's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2(

Letter Agreement between Textron and E. Robert bepalated December 22, 2011. Incorporated by mederec
Exhibit 10.17 to Textrd's Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Amendment to letter agreement between Textron ariRloBert Lupone, dated July 27, 2012. Incorporatedeferenc
to Exhibit 10.5 to Textrc's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 29, 2

Director Compensation. Incorporated by referenc&xhibit 10.21 to Textron’s Annual Report on ForK for the
fiscal year ended December 29, 2007. (SEC File0Qd-05480)

Form of Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement between ffex and its executive officers. Incorporated bference t
Exhibit 10.3 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Fot®Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 27, 208BC File
No. 007-05480)

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2013, gmi@xtron, the Lenders listed therein, JPMorgans€Htzank, N.A
as Administrative Agent, Citibank, N.A. and BankAifnerica, N.A., as Syndication Agents, and The BahR okyo-
Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., as Documentation Agent. Irpamated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Texteo@urrent Report ¢
Form &K filed on October 4, 201

Master Services Agreement between Textron Inc. @odnputer Sciences Corporation dated October 274.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Texts Annual Report on Form 1K-for the fiscal year ended Januar
2005. * (SEC File No. 0(-05480)

Amendment No. 4 to Master Services Agreement batwbextron Inc. and Computer Sciences Corporati@iec
July 1, 2007. Incorporated by reference to ExHibitl to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form QUer the fiscal quart
ended September 29, 2007. (SEC File No-05480)

Amendment No. 5 to Master Services Agreement batiiextron Inc. and Computer Sciences Corporatiatedias ¢
March 13, 2008. * Incorporated by reference to BitHi0.22C to Textron’s Annual Report on FormHKGer the fisca
year ended January 1, 20:
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10.18D Amendment No. 6 to Master Services Agreement batiiextron Inc. and Computer Sciences Corporatiatedias ¢
June 17, 2009. Incorporated by reference to Exaibi22D to Textron’s Annual Report on Form KGer the fiscal yee
ended January 1, 201

10.18E Amendment No. 7 to Master Services Agreement betwastron Inc. and Computer Sciences Corporatiatedias ¢
September 30, 2010. * Incorporated by referencExoibit 10.22E to Textron’s Annual Report on ForfiK for the
fiscal year ended January 1, 20

10.19 Agreement and Plan of Merger among Beech Holdihg§§;, Sky Intermediate Merger Sub, LLC, Textron lranc
Textron Acquisition LLC, dated as of December 2612 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19T&xtron’s
Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2(

10.20 Term Credit Agreement, dated as of January 24, 20hdng Textron, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as achtnative
agent, Citibank, N.A. and Bank of America, N.A., @sdication agents, The Bank of Tokyhtsubishi UFJ, Ltd., €
documentation agent, and other lenders named thdrgiorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 taxti@’s Annua
Report on Form 1-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2(

12.1 Computation of ratio of income to fixed chargesTektron Inc’'s Manufacturing groug
12.2 Computation of ratio of income to fixed chargesTektron Inc., including all majori-owned subsidiarie!
21 Certain subsidiaries of Textron. Other subsidiarighich considered in the aggregate do not conetidusignificar

subsidiary, are omitted from such li

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.

24 Power of attorney

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6éroBthe Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6rofthe Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following materials from Textron Inc.’s Annudéport on Form 16 for the year ended January 3, 2015, formi

in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Languagg)the Consolidated Statements of Operationsti{&)Consolidate
Statements of Comprehensive Income (iii) the Caddatdd Balance Sheets, (iv) the Consolidated Stetésno
ShareholdersEquity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of CashwBJo(vi) the Notes to the Consolidated Finar
Statements, and (vii) Schedule- Valuation and Qualifying Account

*  Confidential Treatment has been requestegdotions of this document.

81




Table of Contents

Signatures

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 13 or 186{dfe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regidthas duly caused this Annual Repol
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undgsil, thereunto duly authorized on this 25th dalyedfruary 2015.

TEXTRON INC.
Registran

By: /s/ Frank T. Connc
Frank T. Conno
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this Annual Report on FormKL@as been signed below on this 25th
of February 2015 by the following persons on bebéthe registrant and in the capacities indicated:

Name Title
/s/ Scott C. Donnell Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offl
Scott C. Donnelly (principal executive officer

*

Kathleen M. Bade Director
*

R. Kerry Clark Director
*

James T. Conwa Director
*

Ivor J. Evans Director
*

Lawrence K. Fist Director
*

Paul E. Gagn Director
*

Dain M. Hancoc} Director
*

Lord Powell of Bayswater KCM( Director
*

Lloyd G. Trotter Director
*

James L. Zieme Director

/s/ Frank T. Connc
Frank T. Conno Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
(principal financial officer’

/s/ Mark S. Bamfor(
Mark S. Bamforc Vice President and Corporate Contro
(principal accounting officer

*By: /s/ Jayne M. Donege
Jayne M. Donegan, Attorn-in-fact
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Exhibit 3.2

TEXTRON INC.
(a Delaware corporation)

AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS
Effective April 28, 2010 and

Further Amended April 27, 2011, July 23, 2013 arbraary 25, 2015

ARTICLE I.
Offices.

Section 1.01Registered Officelhe registered office of the Corporation in thet&te# Delaware shall be at No. 1209 Orange Stf&igt,of
Wilmington, County of New Castle. The name of tesident agent in charge thereof shall be The Catjoor Trust Company.

Section 1.020ther OfficesThe Corporation may also have an office or officethe City of Providence, State of Rhode Island] at sucl
other place or places either within or without 8tate of Delaware as the Board of Directors mamftione to time determine or the business o
the Corporation require.

ARTICLE II.
Meetings of Stockholders.

Section 2.01Place of MeetingsAll meetings of the stockholders of the Corporattiall be held at such place either within or withitne
State of Delaware as shall be fixed by the BoarBicdctors and specified in the respective notmewaivers of notice of said meetings.

Section 2.02Annual Meetingsa) The annual meeting of the stockholders forefleetion of directors and for the transaction aftsather
business as properly may come before the meetalflshheld on such day, at such time and in sietep(either within or without the State of
Delaware) as shall be fixed by the Board of Direxto

(b) If the election of directors shall not be heldthe day fixed by the Board of Directors for @mnual meeting, or on the day of any
adjourned session thereof, the Board of Directbadl sause the election to be held at a speciatingeas soon thereafter as conveniently may
be. At such special meeting the stockholders megt &he directors and transact other businessthétisame force and effect as at an annual
meeting duly called and held.

Section 2.03Special Meetingga) A special meeting of the stockholders for angppse or purposes proper under applicable lawheay
called at any time by (i) the Chief Executive Oé#fic(ii) the Board of Directors or (iii) the Seast of the Corporation at the written request of
one or more holders of record of the Corporatiat ttave owned continuously for a period of at least year at least twenty-five percent
(25%) (the “Requisite Percent”) of the outstandihgres of common stock of the Corporation, provaegecial meeting called at the request
of one or more stockholders (a “Stockholder ReateSpecial Meeting”) shall be called by the Secyedhthe Corporation only if such
request complies with Sections 2.03(b) hereof. Au@ness which may be transacted at a special mgeistlimited to that set forth in the notice
of special meeting and, if the notice so providgesh other matters as the Chief Executive Officehe Board of Directors may bring before
the meeting.

(b) (2) In order for a Stockholder Requested Spaédeeting to be called by the Secretary, one orewaritten requests for a special
meeting (individually or collectively, a “Specialédting Request”) signed and dated by the stocki®lferecord that own the Requisite
Percent of common stock of the Corporation (orrtbaly authorized agents), must be delivered tdSberetary at the principal executive
offices of the Corporation and must set forth:




® as to each stockholder of the Corporation signirdhsequest (or on whose behalf such requestngdjgand the beneficial owner
(s), if any, on whose behalf such request is mbmeinformation required under Section 2.04(c)({iy) and (v) of these By-Laws,
and an affidavit by each such person stating tmetrau of shares of common stock of the Corporatian it has owned for at least
one year as of such date;

(ii) in the case of any director nominations proposdiktpresented at such Stockholder Requested Spesiding, the information
required by Section 2.04(c)(i);

(iii) in the case of any matter (other than a directonination) proposed to be conducted at such Stodehndtequested Special
Meeting, the information required by Section 2.0di{) and

(iv) an acknowledgement by the requesting stockholdetdhe beneficial owners, if any, on whose betlaf$pecial Meeting

Request is being made that such Special Meetingé&ghall be deemed to be revoked (and any mesthreduled in response
may be cancelled) if such requesting stockholdensat own at least the Requisite Percent at akbsilvetween the date on which
such Special Meeting Request is delivered and die af the applicable Stockholder Requested Sphtaating and an agreement
by such stockholder(s) to notify the Corporatiommediately in the case of any disposition of shafesommon stock of the
Corporation resulting in such revocation.

One or more written requests for a special meet&liyered to the Secretary shall constitute a v@fidcial Meeting Request only if
each such written request satisfies the requiresrsattforth above and has been dated and deliteted Secretary within sixty days of the
earliest dated of such requests. If the recorddrakinot the signatory to the Special Meeting Rstjusuch Special Meeting Request will no
valid unless documentary evidence is supplied édbcretary at the time of delivery of such Spddie¢ting Request (or within ten business
days thereafter) of such signatory’s authorityxeaeite the Special Meeting Request on behalf oféberd holder. Any requesting stockholder
may revoke his, her or its Special Meeting Reqatany time by written revocation delivered to 8exretary at the principal executive offices
of the Corporation; provided, however, that if élling such revocation (or any deemed revocatiosyant to clause (iv) above), the
unrevoked valid Special Meeting Requests repraaght aggregate less than the Requisite Perdeart shall be no requirement to hold a
special meeting. The determination of the validity Special Meeting Request shall be made in daitit by the Board of Directors, which
determination shall be conclusive and binding en@orporation and the stockholders and the dasecf determination is referred to herein a
the “Request Receipt Date”.

(2) A Special Meeting Request shall not be vatid if

() the Special Meeting Request relates to an itenusiness that is not a proper subject for stockima@dton under, or involves a
violation of, applicable law;

(i) the Request Receipt Date occurs during the penathtencing ninety days prior to the first anniveysafrthe date of the most
recent annual meeting of stockholders and endinp@mulate of the next annual meeting of stockhstder

(iii) the purpose specified in the Special Meeting Regedstes to an item of business (other than tbetiein of directors) that is

identical or substantially similar (as determinedjood faith by the Board of Directors, a “Simil@am”) to an item of business tt
was presented at any meeting of stockholders highidnathe twelve months prior to the Request RetcBgite; or

(iv) a Similar Item is included in the Corporation’sinetas an item of business to be brought befoteckisolder meeting that has
been called or that is called for a date withiretyrdays of the Request Receipt Date.

(3) Any special meeting of stockholders shall blel la¢ such date and time as may be fixed by thedofDirectors in accordance with
these By-Laws and in compliance with the Delawae@&sal Corporation Law; provided, however, thatackholder Requested Special
Meeting shall be called for a date not more thanetyi days after the Request Receipt Date unlesteidate is required in order to allow the
Corporation to file the information required un&wshedule 14A under the Securities Exchange AcB8fllas amended and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Exchang®)Aif applicable.

(4) Business transacted at any Stockholder ReciiSgtecial Meeting shall be limited to (i) the pusp(s) stated in the valid Special
Meeting Request(s) received from the Requisite éterof record holders and (ii) any
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additional matters that the Board of Directors datees to include in the Corporation’s notice cf theeting. If none of the stockholders who
submitted the Special Meeting Request appearsnoisse qualified representative to present the msatibebe presented for consideration that
were specified in the Stockholder Meeting RequbstCorporation need not present such matters ¥oteaat such meeting, notwithstanding

that proxies in respect of such matter may have beeeived by the Corporation.

Section 2.04Notice of Stockholder Nominations and Other Busin@$ In order to assure that stockholders and thrp@ation have a
reasonable opportunity to consider nominationsathdr business proposed to be brought before amgesftstockholders and to allow for full
information to be distributed to stockholders, iy annual meeting or special meeting of the stolddrs only such nominations may be made
and only such business shall be conducted astshad! been brought before the meeting pursuanig&tttion 2.04 of these Amended and
Restated By-Laws (“By-Laws”). Nominations of persdar election to the Board of Directors may be smatlan annual meeting of
stockholders, a special meeting held in lieu chanual meeting pursuant to Section 2.02(b), oregiabmeeting of stockholders at which
directors are to be elected that is called by thiefExecutive Officer or by order of the Board@ifectors pursuant to Section 2.03, (i) by or a
the direction of the Board of Directors or any noating committee appointed by the Board of Dirextmr (ii) by any stockholder of the
Corporation who shall have been a stockholder @dnekof the Corporation at the time the notice jded for in this Section 2.04 is deliverec
the Corporation, who is entitled to vote at the timgeand who timely complies with the notice progess set forth in this Section 2.04. Except
as otherwise provided by statute, the RestatedfiCaté of Incorporation of the Corporation (theé@ficate of Incorporation”) or these By-
Laws, the only business (other than the nominatinsersons for election to the Board of Directioraccordance with the foregoing sentence;
which shall be conducted at any annual meeting@ttockholders or special meeting in lieu theoadied pursuant to Section 2.02(b) of these
By-Laws shall be that business brought before thetimg (i) by or at the direction of the Board dfdators or the chairman of the meeting or
(ii) by any stockholder of the Corporation who $talve been a stockholder of record of the Corjpmmadt the time the notice provided for in
this Section 2.04 is delivered to the Corporatighg is entitled to vote at the meeting and who lneemplies with the notice procedures set
forth in this Section 2.04, and such other busimesst be a proper subject for stockholder actiateuthe Delaware General Corporation Law

(b) To be timely in the case of an annual meeting,stockholder’s notice provided for in this $&tt2.04 must be received at the
principal executive offices of the Corporation fater than the close of business on the 90th dagauier than the close of business on the
150th day prior to the anniversary date of the imiaiely preceding annual meeting of stockholdemsyipded, however, that in the event the
annual meeting is called for a date that is moa@ 80 days before or more than 60 days after suslversary date, such notice must be so
received not later than the close of business e®tith day before the date of such annual meetitigealOth day following the day on which
public disclosure of the date of the annual meetvag first made, whichever occurs later. To be ljmethe case of a special meeting
(including a special meeting held in lieu of an @ammeeting) that is called for a date that is ntbes 30 days before or more than 60 days
after the anniversary date of the immediately ple@eannual meeting of stockholders, such noticetrba received at the principal executive
offices of the Corporation not later than the clobbusiness on the 90th day before the date df special meeting or the 10th day following
the day on which public disclosure of the datehef$pecial meeting was first made, whichever odeties, and otherwise must be received at
the principal executive offices of the Corporatiwt later than the close of business on the datehigh a notice must be received with respec
to the annual meeting. In no event shall the purticouncement of a postponement or adjournment ahaual meeting or a special meeting
commence a new period for the giving of a stockésnotice as described above.

(c) The stockholder’s notice provided for in thiscBon 2.04 shall be addressed and delivered t8#oeetary and shall set forth:

(i) as to each person whom the stockholder propimseeminate for election or reelection as a doe¢f) the name, age, business
address and residence address of the person;gRyititipal occupation or employment of the perg@);the class or series and number of
shares of capital stock of the Corporation whidh@wned beneficially or of record by the persord @) any other information relating to st
person that would be required to be disclosedproay statement or other filings required to be eadconnection with solicitations of proxi
for election of directors in an election contestisootherwise required, in each case pursuanmtddaraaccordance with Regulation 14A under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchaf\gg);




(ii) as to any business (other than the nominatadnsersons for election to the Board of Directdhsgt the stockholder proposes to
bring before the meeting (A) a description of esieim of business proposed to be brought beforentheting; (B) the text of the proposal or
business (including the text of any resolutiongpps®ed for consideration and in the event that susiness includes a proposal to amend thes
By-Laws, the language of the proposed amendmeD})he reasons for conducting such business ah#wting; and (D) any material interest
in such business of such stockholder and the baakdiwner (within the meaning of Section 13(d}fwé Exchange Act), if any, on whose
behalf the business is being proposed, includingoemefit that such person would derive therefrom;

(iii) as to the stockholder giving the notice ahd beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf thenimation or other business is being
proposed (A) the name and address of the stockhatdihey appear on the Corporation’s books andahee and address of the beneficial
owner; (B) the class or series and number of shafrs®ck of the Corporation held of record by satdckholder and such beneficial owner as
of the date of such notice by the stockholder,angpresentation that the stockholder will notifg Corporation in writing within five business
days after the record date for the meeting of thescor series and number of shares of stock dEtimporation owned of record by the
stockholder and such beneficial owner as of thercedate for the meeting; and (C) a representdtiansuch stockholder intends to appear in
person or by proxy at the meeting to propose sochimation or other business; and

(iv) as to the stockholder giving the notice oithié notice is given on behalf of a beneficial omoie whose behalf the nomination or
other business is being proposed, as to such l&iejfivner (A) the class or series and number afeshof stock of the Corporation which are
beneficially owned by such stockholder or benefioigner as of the date of the notice, and a reptasien that the stockholder will notify the
Corporation in writing within five business dayseafthe record date for the meeting of the classedes and number of shares of stock of the
Corporation beneficially owned by such stockholdlebeneficial owner as of the record date for theetimg; (B) a description of any
agreement, arrangement or understanding with respsach nomination or other business betweemuamg such stockholder or beneficial
owner and any other person or persons (naming pergons), including without limitation any agreensethat would be required to be
disclosed pursuant to Item 5 or Item 6 of ExchafigeSchedule 13D (regardless of whether the remqerd to file a Schedule 13D is
applicable to the stockholder or beneficial owrsat)l a representation that the stockholder willmatie Corporation in writing within five
business days after the record date for the meefiagy such agreement, arrangement or understundigffect as of the record date for the
meeting; (C) a description of any agreement, aearent or understanding (including any derivativelwrt positions, profit interests, options,
warrants, swaps, hedging transactions, and borrawvézhned shares) that has been entered intossancekistence as of the date of the
stockholder’s notice by, or on behalf of, such ktadder or beneficial owner, the effect or intehtich is to mitigate loss, manage risk or
benefit from changes in the share price of anysatdighe Corporation’s capital stock, or increasdeaxrease the voting power of the
stockholder or beneficial owner with respect torehaf stock of the Corporation or pursuant to Whiach stockholder or beneficial owner has
a right to vote any stock of the Corporation, and@esentation that the stockholder will notifg thorporation in writing within five business
days after the record date for the meeting of aich ,greement, arrangement or understanding inteféeof the record date for the meeting;
(D) a representation as to whether the stockhadére beneficial owner will engage in a solicbatiwith respect to such nomination or
proposal and, if so, the name of each participamdefined in Iltem 4 of Schedule 14A under the Brge Act) in such solicitation and whether
such person intends or is part of a group thahigdo deliver a proxy statement and/or form okprm holders of at least the percentage o
Corporation’s outstanding capital stock requiredpprove or adopt the business to be proposecd(sop or by proxy) by the stockholder; and
(E) all other information which would be requiredite included in a proxy statement filed with tlee@ities and Exchange Commission if,
with respect to any such item of business, suatkbtmder or beneficial owner were a participanaisolicitation subject to Section 14 of the
Securities Exchange Act; and

(v) as to the stockholder giving the notice and Hemeficial owners, if any, on whose behalf thenimation or other business is being
proposed, such stockholder’s and beneficial ownerigen consent to the public disclosure of infation provided pursuant to paragraph
(c) of this Section 2.04.

In the case of nominations, such notice must berapanied by the written consent of each proposetimee to being named as a nomi
and to serve as a director of the Corporation élscted. The Corporation may require any proposedinee to furnish such other information
as may reasonably be required by the Corporatioetermine the eligibility of such proposed nomiteserve as a director of the Corporation
including information relevant to a determinatiohether such proposed nominee can be considereaiapandent director.
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(d) The foregoing notice requirements of this BecP.04 shall not apply to a stockholder if theckholder has notified the Corporation
his or her intention to present a stockholder psapat an annual meeting only pursuant to and imptiance with Rule 14a-8 under the
Exchange Act and such stockholder proposal has ibekrded in a proxy statement that has been peelpay the Corporation to solicit proxies
for such meeting.

(e) The Chairman of the Board of Directors mayhé facts warrant, determine that a notice recelyethe Corporation relating to a
nomination proposed to be made or an item of bgsipeoposed to be introduced at a meeting of stddkls does not satisfy the requirements
of this Section 2.04 (including if the stockholdieres not provide the information and representatiequired under Section 2.04(c)(iii)(B) and
2.04(c)(iv)(A)-(C) to the Corporation within fiveusiness days following the record date for the inggtand if it be so determined, shall so
declare and any such nomination or other busirfeas ot be introduced at such meeting of stockéadnotwithstanding that proxies in
respect of such matters may have been receivedcfidieman of a meeting of stockholders may, iffds warrant, determine that a
nomination proposed to be made or an item of bssipeoposed to be introduced at such meeting wasraperly brought before the meeting
in accordance with the foregoing procedures (inalgidvhether the stockholder or beneficial ownegny, on whose behalf the nomination or
proposal is made solicited (or is part of a grougcl solicited) or did not so solicit, as the casgy be, proxies in support of such stockholsler’
nominee or proposal in compliance with such stotddrs representation as required by Section 2)0#&jcand if it be so determined, the
chairman of the meeting shall so declare to thetimgand that nomination or other business shatlibeegarded. Notwithstanding the
foregoing provisions of this Section 2.04, unlettgeowise required by law, if the stockholder doesappear in person or by proxy at the
meeting to present the nomination or proposed kssirsuch nomination or other business shall nttabsacted, notwithstanding that proxies
in respect of such vote may have been receivetidorporation.

() Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions ofgt$ection 2.04, a stockholder in addition shall plyrwith all applicable requirements of
the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations pigaied thereunder with respect to the matterfosit in this Section 2.04.

Section 2.05Notice of Meetingga) Except as otherwise required by statute, naieach annual or special meeting of the stocldrsld
shall be given to each stockholder of record esttitb vote at such meeting not less than ten dalymore than sixty days before the day on
which the meeting is to be held by delivering veritinotice thereof to such stockholder personallyyomailing such notice, postage prepaid,
addressed to such stockholder at the stockholgdessoffice address last shown in the records @fQbrporation or by transmitting notice
thereof to such stockholder by any other availabd¢hod. Every such notice shall state the timephacke of the meeting and, in case of a
special meeting, shall state briefly the purpokeseof.

(b) Except as otherwise required by statute, natfany meeting of stockholders shall not be rezpliio be given to any stockholders who
shall attend such meeting in person or by proxyloo shall waive such notice in writing or by electic transmission either before or after
such meeting. Notice of any adjourned meeting efstiockholders shall not be required to be giverepikwhen expressly required by statute.

Section 2.06Quorum.(a) At each meeting of the stockholders, exaspttherwise provided by statute, the Certificdtncorporation
or these By-Laws, the holders of record of a majaf the issued and outstanding shares of sto¢keoCorporation entitled to vote at such
meeting, present in person or represented by pahal| constitute a quorum for the transactionuibess.

(b) In the absence of a quorum a majority in irdeod the stockholders of the Corporation entitiedote, present in person or representec
by proxy or, in the absence of all such stockhaldany officer entitled to preside at, or act asefary of, such meeting, shall have the pow
adjourn the meeting from time to time, until stoclders holding the requisite amount of stock shalpresent or represented. At any such
adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be ptem@nbusiness may be transacted which might haga ransacted at the meeting as
originally called.

Section 2.070rganization At each meeting of the stockholders the ChairnfaheBoard or, in his or her absence, the Chiafdttive
Officer or, in the absence of the Chairman of tleaf8l and the Chief Executive Officer, the Lead Etoe or, in the absence of the Chairman o
the Board, the Chief Executive Officer and the LBactor, the Vice Chairman of the Board or, ie tibsence of the Chairman of the Board,
the Chief Executive




Officer, the Lead Director and the Vice Chairmanhef Board, the President or any Vice Presidennhdhe absence of all such officers, a
chairman chosen by a majority vote of the stockbiaantitled to vote thereat, present in persdmyqroxy, shall act as chairman, and the
Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Corporat, in the absence of the Secretary and alistes®t Secretaries, a person whom the
chairman of such meeting shall appoint shall actegsetary of the meeting and keep the minutesdtfier

Section 2.08Voting.(a) Except as otherwise provided by statute, theifiate of Incorporation or these Byws, at every meeting of tl
stockholders each stockholder shall be entitlash®vote, in person or by proxy, for each shareapftal stock of the Corporation registered in
such stockholder's name on the books of the Cotjoora

(i) on the date fixed pursuant to Section 8.0%heke By-Laws as the record date for the deternoimati stockholders entitled to vote
at such meeting; or

(ii) if no such record date shall have been fixeen the record date shall be at the close of basion the day next preceding the day
on which notice of such meeting is given.

(b) Persons holding stock in a fiduciary capacitgilsbe entitled to vote the shares so held. Irctse of stock held jointly by two or more
executors, administrators, guardians, conservatoustees or other fiduciaries, such fiduciariey mh@signate in writing one or more of their
number to represent such stock and vote the shkarkesld, unless there is a provision to the copirathe instrument, if any, defining their
powers and duties. (c) Persons whose stock is ptedigall be entitled to vote thereon until suclelsie transferred on the books of the
Corporation to the pledgee, and thereafter onlyptadgee shall be entitled to vote. (d) Any stoddbpoentitled to vote may do so in person or
by such stockholder’s proxy appointed by an instntin writing subscribed by such stockholder osbgh stockholder’s attorney thereunto
authorized, or by a telegram, cable or any othailavle method delivered to the secretary of theting; provided, however, that no proxy
shall be voted after three years from its dategssbaid proxy provides for a longer period. (ealhineetings of the stockholders, all matters
(except as otherwise provided by statute, the f@ete of Incorporation or these By-Laws) shalldezided by the vote of a majority in interest
of the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, pregeperson or by proxy, at such meeting, a quobging present.

Section 2.09Voting Procedures and Inspectors of Electida$.The Corporation shall, in advance of any meetihstockholders, appoint
one or more inspectors to act at the meeting arieraavritten report thereof. The Corporation magigieate one or more persons as alternate
inspectors to replace any inspector who fails toldoo inspector or alternate is able to act ateseting of stockholders, the person presiding &
the meeting shall appoint one or more inspectoextat the meeting. Each inspector, before emgenion the discharge of his or her duties,
shall take and sign an oath faithfully to exectiduties of inspector with strict impartiality aadcording to the best of his or her ability.

(b) The inspectors shall (i) ascertain the numbeshares outstanding and the voting power of e@igltetermine the shares represented at a
meeting and the validity of proxies and ballots) ¢ount all votes and ballots, (iv) determine arthin for a reasonable period a record of the
disposition of any challenges made to any detertioindy the inspectors, and (vertify their determination of the number of shares
represented at the meeting, and their count ofoddls and ballots. The inspectors may appointtairether persons or entities to assist the
inspectors in the performance of the duties ofitBpectors. (c) The date and time of the openinhthe closing of the polls for each matter
upon which the stockholders will vote at a meeshgll be announced at the meeting. No ballot, pori votes, nor any revocations thereof o
changes thereto, shall be accepted by the inspeafi@r the closing of the polls unless the Delanaourt of Chancery upon application by a
stockholder shall determine otherwise.

Section 2.10List of Stockholderga) It shall be the duty of the Secretary or otbfficer of the Corporation who shall have chargé®f
stock ledger to prepare and make, or cause todpaprd and made, at least ten days before eveyngeéthe stockholders, a complete lis
the stockholders entitled to vote thereat, arrangedphabetical order and showing the addresscii stockholder and the number of shares
registered in the name of each stockholder. Sstishiall be open during ordinary business houtle@xamination of any stockholder for any
purpose germane to the meeting for a period adfatlten days prior to the meeting, either on somebly accessible electronic network,
provided that the information required to gain asc® such list is provided with the notice of theeting, or during ordinary business hours at
the principal place of business of the Corporat{bh Such list shall be produced and kept at tine tnd place of the meeting during the whole
time thereof and may be




inspected by any stockholder who is present. (@ribe willful neglect or refusal of the directdosproduce such list at any meeting for the
election of directors they shall be ineligible &ection to any office at such meeting. (d) Thelktedger shall be conclusive evidence as to
who are the stockholders entitled to examine theksiedger and the list of stockholders requiredhiy Section 2.10 on the books of the
Corporation or to vote in person or by proxy at amgeting of stockholders.

ARTICLE IIl.
Board of Directors.

Section 3.01General PowersThe business, property and affairs of the Corpomaghall be managed by or under the direction ®@Bbarc
of Directors.

Section 3.02Number, Qualifications and Term of Offi¢a) The number of directors of the Corporation vatsball constitute the whole
Board of Directors shall be such number as fronetimtime shall be fixed by the Board of Directiorgiccordance with the Certificate of
Incorporation. (b) No person shall be elected adadar who has attained the age of 75. (c) Eacleidirshall hold office as set forth in the
Certificate of Incorporation.

Section 3.03.Election. At each meeting of the stockholders for the electibdirectors at which a quorum is present, eadttbr shall be
elected by the vote of the majority of the votestcprovided, that if the number of nominees exsdbhd number of directors to be elected,
based on nominations expected as of the recordalaseich meeting to be made by or at the direabiotie Board of Directors or to be brou
before the meeting by a stockholder who has giwita thereof or otherwise, the directors, not exiieg the authorized number of director
fixed by the Board of Directors in accordance vtith Certificate of Incorporation, receiving the aesst number of votes of the stockholders
entitled to vote thereon, present in person orroxy shall be the directors for the term as sehfn the Certificate of Incorporation. For
purposes of this Section 3.03, a majority of theegs@ast means that the number of shares votetd'fdirector must exceed the number of
shares voted “against” that director. The Nomirgaind Corporate Governance Committee (or compacainienittee of the Board) shall
establish procedures under which any director wshwit elected shall offer to tender his or hergmeaiion to the Board and under which such
committee and the Board shall consider and determimether to accept or reject the resignatiodfoifany cause, the Board of Directors shall
not have been elected at an annual meeting, thgybmalected thereafter at a special meeting ostiekholders called for that purpose in the
manner provided in these By-Laws.

Section 3.04Quorum and Manner of Actin@a) Except as otherwise provided by statute, th#ifi€ate of Incorporation or these Byaws,
a majority of the directors at the time in offideai constitute a quorum for the transaction ofilbess at any meeting and the affirmative actior
of a majority of the directors present at any nrgpét which a quorum is present shall be requioedhfe taking of any action by the Board of
Directors. (b) If one or more of the directors $hhal disqualified to vote at such meeting, thenrttguired quorum shall be reduced by one for
each such director so disqualified; provided, haevethat in no event shall the quorum as adjusteld$s than one third of the total number of
directors. (c) In the absence of a quorum at angtimg of the Board such meeting need not be held,majority of the directors present the
or, if no director be present, the Secretary mgguad such meeting from time to time until a quorshall be present. Notice of any adjourned
meeting need not be given. (d) From time to tirhe,independent directors may elect, from among thenber, a Lead Director who shall
perform such duties as shall be assigned to hineoby the Board of Directors.

Section 3.050ffices, Place of Meeting and Recoriihe Board of Directors may hold meetings, haveféineoor offices and keep the
books and records of the Corporation at such pagdaces within or without the State of Delawasdlee Board may from time to time
determine. The place of meeting shall be speciiefiked in the respective notices or waivers dficothereof, except as otherwise provide:
statute, the Certificate of Incorporation or thBgeLaws.

Section 3.06Annual MeetingThe Board of Directors shall meet for the purpoiserganization, the election of officers and thensaction
of other business, as soon as practicable followah annual election of directors.
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Such meeting shall be called and held at the @adetime specified in the notice or waiver of netibereof as in the case of a special meetinc
of the Board of Directors.

Section 3.07Regular MeetingsRegular meetings of the Board of Directors shalhélel at such places and at such times as the Bbait
from time to time by resolution determine. If argydixed for a regular meeting shall be a legald®} at the place where the meeting is to be
held, then the meeting which would otherwise be loel that day shall be held at said place at threedzour on the next succeeding business
day. Notice of regular meetings need not be given.

Section 3.08Special Meetings; Notic&pecial meetings of the Board of Directors shalhékel whenever called by the Chairman of the
Board, the Lead Director or the Chief Executivei€f or by any two of the directors. Notice of eacich meeting shall be mailed to each
director, addressed to him or her at his or hadeege or usual place of business, at least thage lefore the day on which the meeting is 1
held, or shall be sent to him or her at his orresidence or at such place of business by othdlableameans, or shall be delivered personally,
by telephone or by electronic transmission, narlétian two days (or such shorter period as theopesr persons calling such meeting may
deem necessary or appropriate in the circumstabedgje the day on which the meeting is to be Hetath such notice shall state the time anc
place of the meeting but need not state the puspthszeof except as otherwise herein expresslyigedy Notice of any such meeting need not
be given to any director, however, if waived by larmher in writing or otherwise, whether beforeafter such meeting shall be held, or if he or
she shall be present at such meeting.

Section 3.090rganization. At each meeting of the Board of Directors, the @han of the Board or, in his or her absence, tralLe
Director or, in the absence of each of them, thiefExecutive Officer, if the Chief Executive Oféicis then serving on the Board, or, in the
absence of each of them, the Vice Chairman of therdBor, in the absence of all such officers, aaor chosen by a majority of the directors
present shall act as chairman. The Secretary disior her absence an Assistant Secretary ongialbsence of the Secretary and all Assistant
Secretaries, a person whom the chairman of suckingeshall appoint shall act as secretary of suekting and keep the minutes thereof.

Section 3.100rder of Businesst all meetings of the Board of Directors businskall be transacted in the order determined byBthard.

Section 3.11Chairman of the Boardlhe Chairman of the Board shall, when present,geest all meetings of the Board of Directors and
at all meetings of the stockholders and shall lsgd additional powers and shall perform such &rrthuties as may from time to time be
assigned to him or her by the Board of DirectortherExecutive Committee.

Section 3.12Vice Chairman of the Boardhe Vice Chairman of the Board shall, in the absesfdhe Chairman of the Board, the Lead
Director and the President, if the President is therving on the Board, preside at all meetingh®Board of Directors, and, in the absence of
the Chairman of the Board, the President and ttae IBdrector, at all meetings of the stockholderd simall have such powers and shall pert
such further duties as may from time to time bégassl to him or her by the Board of Directors @ Executive Committee.

Section 3.13Removal of DirectorsAny director may be removed, with or without causteany time, by the affirmative vote of the hokler
of record of a majority of the issued and outstagditock entitled to vote for the election of ditces of the Corporation given at a special
meeting of the stockholders called and held forpihepose; and the vacancy in the Board caused Yoguoh removal may be filled by the
Board in the manner provided in the Certificaténaorporation.

Section 3.14ResignationAny director of the Corporation may resign at ainyet by giving written notice of his or her resigioatto the
Board of Directors or to the Chairman of the Boah&, Vice Chairman of the Board, the PresidenherSecretary of the Corporation. Such
resignation shall take effect at the date of reaafiguch notice unless a later time is speciffetdin; and, unless otherwise specified therein,
the acceptance of such resignation shall not bessecy to make it effective.
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Section 3.15VacanciesAny vacancy in the Board of Directors caused bythligasignation, removal, disqualification, an gase in the
number of directors, or any other cause may bedfily the remaining directors then in office aseh in the Certificate of Incorporation.
Each director so elected shall hold office as @ghfin the Certificate of Incorporation.

Section 3.16CompensatiornEach director, in consideration of his or her sggvas such, shall be entitled to receive from thgp@ration
such amount per annum or such fees for attenddrttieeators’ meetings, or both, as the Board okbliors shall from time to time determine,
together with reimbursement for the reasonable esg®incurred by him or her in connection withplkeeformance of his or her duties;
provided that nothing herein contained shall bestmed to preclude any director from serving thep@oation or its subsidiaries in any other
capacity and receiving proper compensation theeefor

ARTICLE IV.
Committees.

Section 4.01Executive Committeéa) The Board of Directors shall, by resolutiorr@solutions passed by a majority of the whole Bpard
appoint an Executive Committee to consist of nss fnan three nor more than eight members of tlaedBaf Directors, including the Chairm
of the Board, and shall designate one of the mesndeits chairman. Notwithstanding any limitatiantbe size of the Executive Committee,
the Committee may invite members of the Board tenakits meetings. In such case such invitees bbathtitled to vote on matters considerec
at such meetings and shall receive such fee, if@nghall be fixed by the Board of Directors focts attendance.

(b) Each member of the Executive Committee shdd bifice, so long as he or she shall remain acttire until the first meeting of the
Board of Directors held after the next annual ébecof directors and until his or her successaluly appointed and qualified. The chairman of
the Executive Committee or, in his or her absetieeChairman of the Board or a member of the Cotemithosen by a majority of the
members present shall preside at meetings of teeufive Committee and the Secretary or an Assi§aotetary of the Corporation, or such
other person as the Executive Committee shall fiore to time determine, shall act as secretarhefixecutive Committee.

(c) The Board of Directors, by action of the majpof the whole Board, shall fill vacancies in tBrecutive Committee.

Section 4.02Powers.During the intervals between the meetings of tharB@f Directors, the Executive Committee shalldhand may
exercise all the powers of the Board of Directarall cases in which specific directions shall hate been given by the Board of Directors;
neither the Executive Committee nor any other comemicreated under these By-Laws shall have thepowauthority to amend the
Certificate of Incorporation, adopt an agreemermnnefger or consolidation, recommend to the stoaeérslthe sale, lease or exchange of all ol
substantially all of the Corporation’s property as$ets, recommend to the stockholders a dissolafithe Corporation or a revocation of a
dissolution, or amend the By-Laws of the Corporgteind, unless the resolution, By-Laws, or Cedifécof Incorporation expressly so
provides, no such committee shall have the powautrority to declare a dividend, to authorizeitsiance of stock or to adopt a certificat
ownership and merger pursuant to Section 253 oG#eeral Corporation Law of Delaware.

Section 4.03Procedure; Meetings; Quorurithe Executive Committee shall fix its own rulepobcedure subject to the approval of the
Board of Directors, and shall meet at such timebkairsuch place or places as may be provided Hysiles. At every meeting of the Execut
Committee the presence of a majority of all the rbers shall be necessary to constitute a quorunthendffirmative vote of a majority of the
members present shall be necessary for the addpti@rof any resolution. In the absence of a quoat any meeting of the Executive
Committee such meeting need not be held, or a ihamfrthe members present thereat or, if no memsberpresent, the secretary of the
meeting may adjourn such meeting from time to timél a quorum be present.
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Section 4.04CompensationEach member of the Executive Committee shall b#leto receive from the Corporation such fe@rif/, as
shall be fixed by the Board of Directors, togetivith reimbursement for the reasonable expensesritipy him or her in connection with
the performance of his or her duties.

Section 4.050ther Board Committee$he Board of Directors may from time to time, bgakition passed by a majority of the whole
Board, designate one or more committees in additidghe Executive Committee, each committee to isbo$ two or more of the directors of
the Corporation. Any such committee, to the expenvided in the resolution or in the By-Laws of therporation, shall have and may exercis
the powers of the Board of Directors in the manag@rof the business and affairs of the Corporation.

A majority of all the members of any such committezy determine its action and fix the time and @latits meetings, unless the Board
of Directors shall otherwise provide. The Boardifectors shall have power to change the membeasipcommittee at any time, to fill
vacancies and to discharge any such committeesraitith or without cause, at any time.

Section 4.06AlternatesThe Board of Directors may, by resolution passed byajority of the whole Board, designate one orano
directors as alternateembers of any committee who may replace any alosefisqualified member at any meeting of the cotteaj providec
however, that in the absence of any such designafialternates the member or members of any caieeniiresent at any meeting and not
disqualified from acting, whether or not he, shéhay constitute a quorum, may unanimously appaother member to the Board to act at
meeting in the place of any absent or disqualifreimber.

Section 4.07Additional Committees he Board of Directors may from time to time crestieh additional committees of directors, offic
employees or other persons designated by it (oicambination of such persons) for the purpose wisatg the Board, the Executive
Committee and the officers and employees of the@mation in all such matters as the Board shalhdadvisable and with such functions and
duties as the Board shall by resolutions prescribe.

A majority of all the members of any such committesy determine its action and fix the time and @latits meetings, unless the Board
of Directors shall otherwise provide. The Boardifectors shall have power to change the membeasiptommittee at any time, to fill
vacancies and to discharge any such committeesraitith or without cause, at any time.

ARTICLE V.
Action by Consent or Telephone.

Section 5.01Consent of DirectorsAny action required or permitted to be taken at amggeting of the Board of Directors or of any
committee thereof may be taken without a meetiqyidr to such action a written consent theretsigaed by all members of the Board or of
such committee, as the case may be, and suchmeitesent is filed with the minutes of the procagdiof the Board or such committee.

Section 5.02Telephone MeetingMembers of the Board of Directors or any committesignated by the Board of Directors may
participate in a meeting of such Board or Commibigeneans of conference telephone or similar comaoations equipment by means of

which all persons participating in the meeting baar each other.
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ARTICLE VI.
Officers.

Section 6.01Number.The principal officers of the Corporation shalld€hief Executive Officer, a President, one or mMdiee President
(the number thereof and variations in title to leéedmined by the Board of Directors), a Treasuner & Secretary. In addition, there may be
such other or subordinate officers, agents and @epk as may be appointed in accordance with thaspns of Section 6.03. Any two or
more offices, except those of President and Segretay be held by the same person.

Section 6.02Election, Qualifications and Term of Offideach officer of the Corporation, except such offices may be appointed in
accordance with the provisions of Section 6.03|l fleaelected annually by the Board of Directord ahall hold office until his or her
successor shall have been duly elected and quildieuntil his or her death, or until he or shalshave resigned or shall have been remov
the manner herein provided.

Section 6.030ther OfficersThe Corporation may have such other officers, aggemd employees as the Board of Directors may deem
necessary including a Controller, one or more AastsControllers, one or more Assistant Treasumatsone or more Assistant Secretaries,
each of whom shall hold office for such period, énguch authority, and perform such duties as trerdBof Directors, the Chief Executive
Officer or the President may from time to time deti@e. The Board of Directors may delegate to atrygipal officer the power to appoint or
remove any such subordinate officers, agents ot@rees.

Section 6.04RemovalAny officer may be removed, either with or withaaiuse, by the vote of a majority of the whole Baafr®irectors
or, except in case of any officer elected by thammf Directors, by any committee or officer upgimom the power of removal may be
conferred by the Board of Directors.

Section 6.05ResignationAny officer may resign at any time by giving writt@otice to the Board of Directors, the Chief Exai
Officer or the President. Any such resignation Istakle effect at the date of receipt of such noticat any later time specified therein; and,
unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptahsech resignation shall not be necessary to ntaéective.

Section 6.06VacanciesA vacancy in any office because of death, resignatiemoval, disqualification or any other causalidte filled
for the unexpired portion of the term in the manmeascribed in these By-Laws for regular electioagpointment to such office.

Section 6.07Chief Executive OfficeThe Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation shsilibject to the provisions of these By-Laws and
the control of the Board of Directors, have dirgltarge of the business and affairs of the Corpmratile or she shall, in the absence of the
Chairman of the Board and the Lead Director, peeaidall meetings of the Board of Directors, if @igief Executive Officer is then serving on
the Board, and, in the absence of the ChairmaheoBbard, at all meetings of the stockholders,shral perform all duties incident to the
office of chief executive and such other dutieframs time to time may be assigned to him or hethg/Board of Directors. The Chief
Executive Officer shall report directly to the Bdaf Directors and shall have the right to delegatty of his or her powers to any other officer
or employee.

Section 6.08PresidentThe President shall have general direction of gerations of the Corporation, subject to the cdmtfehe Board
of Directors, the Executive Committee and/or thée€Bxecutive Officer of the Corporation. He or gfell have such additional powers and
shall perform such further duties as may from ttlméme be assigned to him or her by the Boardioé&ors, the Executive Committee or the
Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation.

Section 6.09Vice Presidentszach Vice President shall have such powers andmperfuch duties as the Board of Directors or the
Executive Committee may from time to time prescobas shall be assigned to him or her by the Gxetcutive Officer or the President.

Section 6.10Treasurer.The Treasurer shall have charge and custody ofpandsponsible for, all funds and securities ef@orporation,
and shall deposit all such funds to the credihef@orporation in such banks, trust
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companies or other depositaries as shall be sdléceccordance with the provisions of these By-&alwe or she shall disburse the funds of th
Corporation as may be ordered by the Board of Bars@r the Executive Committee, making proper vaus for such disbursements, and ¢
render to the Board of Directors or the stockhadethenever the Board may require him or her sipt@ statement of all his or her
transactions as Treasurer or the financial contititthe Corporation; and, in general, he or stadl glerform all the duties incident to the off

of Treasurer and such other duties as from tintarte may be assigned to him or her by the Boarfdiadctors, any Committee of the Board
designated by it so to act or the Chief Executivi&c€r or the President.

Section 6.11SecretaryThe Secretary shall record or cause to be recardedoks provided for the purpose the minutes efitteetings of
the stockholders, the Board of Directors, and @thmittees of which a secretary shall not have laggointed; shall see that all notices are
given in accordance with the provisions of theselBws and as required by law; shall be custodiasllaforporate records (other than
financial) and of the seal of the Corporation aed that the seal is affixed to all documents threetion of which on behalf of the Corporation
under its seal is duly authorized in accordancé thié provisions of these By-Laws; shall keep,arse to be kept, the list of stockholders as
required by Section 2.10, which includes the pdft@addresses of the stockholders and the nuwfarares held by them, respectively, and
shall make or cause to be made, all proper chahgesin, shall see that the books, reports, stateneertificates and all other documents anc
records required by law are properly kept and filet, in general, shall perform all duties incitienthe office of Secretary and such other
duties as may from time to time be assigned todrifmer by the Board of Directors, the Executive @dttee or the Chief Executive Officer or
the President.

Section 6.12Controller. The Controller shall be in charge of the books mewbrds of account of the Corporation and of igistical
records. He or she shall keep or cause to be &eptich office or offices as the Board of Directmiay from time to time designate, complete
and accurate accounts of all assets, liabilitiesgipts, disbursements and other transactionsedEthporation; shall cause regular audits of
books and records to be made; shall be resporfsiblee preparation and filing of all reports arufi@ns related to or based upon the books ar
records of the Corporation; shall render finanstatements at the annual meeting of stockholdecalled upon so to do, or at the request of
any director or the Board of Directors; shall remiethe Board of Directors such statistical repanid analyses as the Board from time to time
may require; and, in general, shall perform alldhées incident to the office of Controller ana&Bwther duties as from time to time may be
assigned to him or her by the Board of Directdrs, Executive Committee or the Chief Executive @ffior the President.

Section 6.13Salaries.The salaries of the principal officers of the Cagimn shall be fixed from time to time by the Boarf Directors or
an appropriate Committee of the Board, and norsuol officers shall be prevented from receivinglary by reason of the fact that he or she
is also a director of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VII.
Contracts, Checks, Drafts, Bank Accounts, Etc.

Section 7.01Execution of ContractdJnless the Board of Directors or the Executive Caitem shall otherwise determine, the Chief
Executive Officer, the President, any Vice Presiderthe Treasurer and the Secretary or any AsdiStacretary may enter into any contract ot
execute any contract or other instrument, the ei@tof which is not otherwise specifically proviiéor, in the name and on behalf of the
Corporation. The Board of Directors, or any comegttiesignated thereby with power so to act, exaeptherwise provided in these By-Laws,
may authorize any other or additional officer diicgfrs or agent or agents of the Corporation terimto any contract or execute and deliver
any instrument in the name and on behalf of thee@mtion, and such authority may be general orinedfto specific instances. Unless
authorized so to do by these By-Laws or by the BadiDirectors or by any such committee, no offi@mployee or agent shall have any
power or authority to bind the Corporation by aopttact or engagement or to pledge its credit eetaler it liable for any purpose or to any
amount.

Section 7.02Loans.No loan shall be contracted on behalf of the Capon, and no evidence of indebtedness shall bedssndorsed or
accepted in its name, unless authorized by thedBoiabirectors or Executive Committee or other cattee designated by the Board so to act
Such authority may be general or confined to
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specific instances. When so authorized, the officasfficers thereunto authorized may effect loand advances at any time for the Corpor:
from any bank, trust company or other institutionfrom any firm, corporation or individual, and feuch loans and advances may make,
execute and deliver promissory notes or other exiee of indebtedness of the Corporation, and, valugimorized as aforesaid, as security for
the payment of any and all loans, advances, indebts and liabilities of the Corporation, may mage, pledge hypothecate or transfer any
real or personal property at any time owned or bglthe Corporation, and to that end execute instnts of mortgage or pledge or otherwise
transfer such property.

Section 7.03Checks, Drafts, et@ll checks, drafts, bills of exchange or other asdi®r the payment of money, obligations, notexther
evidence of indebtedness, bills of lading, warekaeseipts and insurance certificates of the Cartpmr shall be signed or endorsed by such
officer or officers, agent or agents, attorney tboraeys, employee or employees, of the Corporashall from time to time be determined
resolution of the Board of Directors or Executiven@nittee or other committee designated by the Bearib act.

Section 7.04Deposits All funds of the Corporation not otherwise employnll be deposited from time to time to the creflithe
Corporation in such banks, trust companies or adkepsitaries as the Board of Directors or Exeeuiommittee or other committee
designated by the Board so to act may from tintémie designate, or as may be designated by anyeoffir officers or agent or agents of the
Corporation to whom such power may be delegateithéyBoard of Directors or Executive Committee drestcommittee designated by the
Board so to act and, for the purpose of such depaosifor the purposes of collection for the ac¢airthe Corporation, all checks, drafts, and
other orders for the payment of money which areapleyto the order of the Corporation may be endbassigned and delivered by any
officer, agent or employee of the Corporation osuich other manner as may from time to time begdaséd or determined by resolution of the
Board of Directors or Executive Committee or otb@mmittee designated by the Board so to act.

Section 7.05Proxies in Respect of Securities of Other CorporaiUnless otherwise provided by resolution adoptethleyBoard of
Directors or the Executive Committee or other cotteriso designated to act by the Board, the Chiettive Officer or the President or any
Vice President may from time to time appoint aoragy or attorneys or agent or agents of the Catjmor, in the name and on behalf of the
Corporation, to cast the votes which the Corporatiay be entitled to cast as the holder of stoaktloer securities in any other corporation,
association or trust any of whose stock or otheusges may be held by the Corporation, at mestioigthe holders of the stock or other
securities of such other corporation, associationust, or to consent in writing, in the name led Corporation as such holder, to any action b
such other corporation, association or trust, aagl imstruct the person or persons so appointed tietmanner of casting such votes or giving
such consent, and may execute or cause to be eddouthe name and on behalf of the Corporationuartér its corporate seal, or otherwise,
all such written proxies or other instruments ashshe may deem necessary or proper in the premise

ARTICLE VIII.
Books and Records.

Section 8.01Place.The books and records of the Corporation may bé &eguch places within or without the State ofddere as the
Board of Directors may from time to time determifie stock record books and the blank stock ceatiéi books shall be kept by the Secretar
or by any other officer or agent designated byBbard of Directors.

Section 8.02Addresses of StockholdeEsach stockholder shall furnish to the SecretarthefCorporation or to the transfer agent of the
Corporation an address at which notices of meetamgisall other corporate notices may be served opomailed to such stockholder, and if
stockholder shall fail to designate such addremgmarate notices may be served upon such stockhbydmail, postage prepaid, to such
stockholder at the post-office address last knawthé Secretary or to the transfer agent of thep@uattion or by transmitting a notice thereof tc
such stockholder at such address by other avaitabthod.

Section 8.03Record DatesThe Board of Directors may fix in advance a date,axceeding sixty days preceding the date of aegtimg
of stockholders, or the date for the payment of dimidend, or the date for the
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allotment of any rights, or the date when any cleamgconversion or exchange of capital stock of@bgporation shall go into effect, or a date
in connection with obtaining such consent, as ardedate for the determination of the stockholdgitled to notice of, and to vote at, any ¢
meeting or any adjournment thereof, or entitlece®ive payment of any such dividend, or to anyhallotment of rights, or to exercise the
rights in respect of any change, conversion or angh of capital stock of the Corporation, or toeghuch consent, and in each such case sucl
stockholders and only such stockholders as shatdmkholders of record on the date so fixed dhakntitled to notice of, or to vote at, such
meeting and any adjournment thereof, or to receayament of such dividend, or to receive such alsthof rights, or to exercise such rights ot
to give such consent, as the case may be, notaiittistg any transfer of any stock on the books efG@brporation after any such record date
fixed as aforesaid.

Section 8.04Audit of Books and AccouniBhe books and accounts of the Corporation shadiuoited at least once in each fiscal year by
independent public accountants of good standinggiaped by the Audit Committee (or comparable cottee) of the Board.

ARTICLE IX.
Shares and Their Transfer.

Section 9.01Certificates of Stockevery owner of stock of the Corporation shall bétkd to have a certificate certifying the numioér
shares owned by such stockholder in the Corporatimhdesignating the class of stock to which shetnes belong. Such certificate shall
otherwise be in such form as the Board of Direcstval prescribe from time to time, provided thet Board of Directors may provide by
resolution that some or all of any or all classesesies of stock of the Corporation shall be utifiesited shares. Notwithstanding the forego
each holder of uncertificated shares shall beledtitipon request, to a certificate representirdy sthares. Except as otherwise provided by
the rights and obligations of the holders of urifiedted shares and the rights and obligation$ieftiolders of certificated shares of the same
class and series shall be identical. Each cert#fiogpresenting shares shall be signed by the @haiof the Board or the Vice Chairman of the
Board or the President or a Vice President andthasurer or any Assistant Treasurer or the Segretaany Assistant Secretary of the
Corporation; provided, however, that where suclifagte is signed or countersigned by a transfgma or registrar the signatures of such
officers of the Corporation and the seal of theg@oation may be in facsimile form. In case anyafior officers who shall have signed, or
whose facsimile signature or signatures shall teen used on, any such certificate or certificabedl cease to be such officer or officers of
the Corporation, whether because of death, resamat otherwise, before such certificate or cerdifes shall have been delivered by the
Corporation, such certificate or certificates mayertheless be issued and delivered by the Coiporas though the person or persons who
signed such certificate or whose facsimile sigreatursignatures shall have been used thereon hamtased to be such officer or officers of
Corporation.

Section 9.02Record A record shall be kept of the name of the persom, 6r corporation owning the stock represente@égh certificate
for stock of the Corporation issued, the numbeshatres represented by each such certificate, andbtie thereof, and, in the case of
cancellation, the date of cancellation. The perfiam,or corporation in whose name shares of sgiakd on the books of the Corporation shal
be deemed the owner thereof for all purposes asdedhe Corporation.

Section 9.03Transfer of StocKTransfers of shares of the stock of the Corporaglmall be made only on the books of the Corporédtipn
the registered holder thereof, or by such hold&tterney thereunto authorized. If such sharesauksare represented by a certificate, upon the
surrender of the certificate for such shares tadbporation or its transfer agent, with an assignior power of transfer endorsed thereon or
delivered therewith, duly executed, and with suadopof the authenticity of the signature and ahauity to transfer, and of payment of
transfer taxes, as the Corporation or its agentsmeguire, the Corporation may issue a new cedtificor, upon request, evidence of the
equivalent uncertificated shares, to the persoitieghthereto, cancel the old certificate and rddbe transaction upon its books. Upon receipt
of proper transfer instructions from the holdeuntertificated shares, the Corporation shall casgeh uncertificated shares and issue new
equivalent uncertificated shares, or, upon suctdrd request, certificated shares, to the persoriezhtiiereto, and record the transaction t
its books.
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Section 9.04Transfer Agent and Registrar; Regulatiofibe Corporation shall, if and whenever the BoarBioéctors shall so determine,
maintain one or more transfer offices or agenaash in charge of a transfer agent designatedebBdlard of Directors, where the shares o
capital stock of the Corporation shall be diretthnsferable, and also if and whenever the Boafitgctors shall so determine, maintain one
or more registry offices, each in charge of a itegislesignated by the Board of Directors, whemhshares of stock shall be registered. The
Board of Directors may make such rules and regiatas it may deem expedient, not inconsistenttivébe By-Laws, concerning the issue,
transfer and registration of certificates for skavéthe capital stock of the Corporation.

Section 9.05Lost, Destroyed or Mutilated Certificatds. case of the alleged loss or destruction or thélation of a certificate
representing capital stock of the Corporation,\a pertificate or uncertificated shares may be idsanelace thereof, in the manner and upon
such terms as the Board of Directors may prescribe.

ARTICLE X.
Seal.

The Board of Directors shall provide a corporatd,sghich shall be in the form of a circle and $halar the name of the Corporation and
the words and figures: Incorporated 1967, Delaware.

ARTICLE XI.
Fiscal Year.

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall beginhat dpening of business on the Sunday nearest forshday of January and end at the
close of business on the Saturday nearest to ithe-finst day of December in each year, whethests8unday or Saturday, as the case may be
falls in December or in January.

ARTICLE XII.
Indemnification.

(a) The Corporation shall indemnify, to the fultext permitted by law, any person who was or iarypor is threatened to be made a
to any threatened, pending or completed actionasyroceeding, whether civil, criminal, admingtve or investigative (other than an action
by or in the right of the Corporation) by reasorttaf fact that the person is or was a directoiceffor employee of the Corporation or while a
director, officer or employee of the Corporatiomisvas serving at the request of the Corporatsa director, officer, employee or agent of
another corporation, partnership, joint ventunesttior other enterprise (each such person beiegreef to hereafter as an “Indemnite&ains
expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgmentgsfiand amounts paid in settlement actually argbresbly incurred by the person in
connection with such action, suit or proceedinthé person acted in good faith and in a mannepéhgon reasonably believed to be in or not
opposed to the best interests of the Corporatiath, &ith respect to any criminal action or procegdihad no reasonable cause to believe the
person’s conduct was unlawful. The terminationrof action, suit or proceeding by judgment, ordettiement, conviction, or upon a plea of
nolo contenderer its equivalent, shall not, of itself, createraqumption that the person did not act in goodhfaitd in a manner which the
person reasonably believed to be in or not opptsélte best interests of the Corporation, and, va#ipect to any criminal action or
proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe thatetison’s conduct was unlawful.

(b) The Corporation shall indemnify, to the fultemt permitted by law, any person who was or iarypor is threatened to be made a .
to any threatened, pending or completed actiongsyiroceeding by or in the right of the Corparatto procure a judgment in its favor by
reason of the fact that the person is or was aenhmitee against expenses (including attorneys) feesially and reasonably incurred by the
person in connection with the
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defense or settlement of such action, suit or prdicg if the person acted in good faith and in amea the person reasonably believed to be ir
or not opposed to the best interests of the Cotjporand except that no such indemnification shalmade in respect of any claim, issue or
matter as to which such person shall have beenlgéiuto be liable to the Corporation unless ang tmthe extent that the Court of Chancery
of Delaware or the court in which such action, suiproceeding was brought shall determine upoticaijon that, despite the adjudication of
liability but in view of all the circumstances dfet case, such person is fairly and reasonabljezhtd indemnity for such expenses which suct
Court of Chancery or such other court shall deecopér.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, except with resipto a proceeding to enforce rights to indematfan or advancement of expenses
under this Article XllI, the Corporation shall bejuéred to indemnify an Indemnitee under this Agilll in connection with an action, suit or
proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such persnly if such action, suit or proceeding (or phdreof) was authorized by the Board of
Directors.

(d) To the extent that an Indemnitee shall be sssfakon the merits or otherwise (including disrais an action without prejudice or the
settlement of an action without admission of ligjlin defense of any action, suit or proceediefgrred to in paragraphs (a) and (b), or in
defense of any claim, issue or matter thereinpn@miy action, suit or proceeding brought by an tmaigéee to enforce rights to indemnification
or advancement of expenses granted pursuant téticée XII, such person shall be indemnified the full extent permitted by law, against
expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually aasonably incurred by such person in connectiomwith.

(e) Any indemnification under paragraphs (a) andbless ordered by a court) shall be made bytmporation only as authorized in the
specific case upon a determination that indemnificaof the Indemnitee is proper in the circumstmnbecause such person has met the
applicable standard of conduct set forth in panalgi@) or (b), as applicable. Such determinatiail &tf¢ made (1) by the Board of Directors by
a majority vote of directors who were not partiestich action, suit or proceeding, even thoughttess a quorum, (2) by a committee of such
disinterested directors designated by a majoritg wd such directors, even though less than a quof8) if there are no disinterested directors
or the disinterested directors so direct, by indeleat legal counsel in a written opinion, or (4)tbg stockholders.

(f) Expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurrgdab Indemnitee in defending a civil, criminal, adistrative or investigative action, suit
or proceeding referred to in paragraphs (a) anglbll be paid by the Corporation in advance offitii@ disposition of such action, suit or
proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by obemalf of such Indemnitee to repay such amountsifiall ultimately be determined that suct
person is not entitled to be indemnified by theg@oation as authorized in this Article XII. Notwéttanding the foregoing, no advance shall be
made by the Corporation if a determination is reabty and promptly made (1) as to any person wluo ¥8as a director or officer of the
Corporation (i) by the Board of Directors by a miéjovote of disinterested directors, even thouggslthan a quorum, (ii) by a committee of
such disinterested directors designated by a ntajeoie of such directors, even though less thgnaum, or (iii) if there are no disinterested
directors, or the disinterested directors so difegindependent legal counsel in a written opinitbat, based upon the facts known to the B
of Directors, the committee or counsel at the tfmeh determination is made such director or offazgted in bad faith or in a manner that such
person did not believe to be in or not opposediéddest interests of the Corporation, or, with eesjpo any criminal proceeding, that such
director or officer believed or had reasonable edosbelieve such person’s conduct was unlawfud,(@p as to any Indemnitee who is not or
was not a director or officer of the Corporatiop,tbe Chief Executive Officer, the President or &fige President so authorized by the Chief
Executive Officer or the President, that, basedupe facts known to the Chief Executive Officéie President or such Vice President at the
time such determination is made such Indemnitesdaiotbad faith or in a manner that such persomdidelieve to be in or not opposed to the
best interests of the Corporation, or, with respeeiny criminal proceeding, that such person Betieor had reasonable cause to believe such
person’s conduct was unlawful, provided that sumtemnitee shall have the right to present a writfgmeal of any determination made by the
Chief Executive Officer, the President or such \leesident to the persons specified under claysef this paragraph (f), as determined by
Board of Directors. In no event shall any advaneenade in instances where the persons specifiegh whalise (1) or (2) of this paragraph
(f) reasonably determine that an Indemnitee deditedy breached such person’s duty to the Corparatiats stockholders.

(g) The rights granted pursuant to this Article Xhall not be deemed exclusive of any other rightshich those seeking indemnification
and advancement of expenses may be entitled ungidsyalaw, agreement, vote of
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stockholders or disinterested directors or otheewi®th as to action in such person’s official céiyaand as to action in another capacity while
holding such office. All rights granted pursuanthe Article XII shall vest at the time a persagcbmes an Indemnitee of the Corporation and
shall be deemed to be provided by a contract betreeCorporation and each Indemnitee who servesdh capacity at any time while this
Article XllI is in effect. Any repeal or modificatioof the provisions of this Article XII shall begepective only and shall not adversely affect
the rights of any Indemnitee in effect under thitidke XlI at the time of any act or omission ocdng prior to such repeal or modification.

(h) The Corporation may purchase and maintain arsee on behalf of any person who is or was an Imitem against any liability asser
against such person and incurred by such persanyirsuch capacity, or arising out of such persstgtus as such, whether or not the
Corporation would have the power to indemnify spehson against such liability under the provisiohthis Article XII.

(i) For purposes of this Article XlI, references‘tbe Corporation” shall include, in addition tcethesulting or surviving corporation, any
constituent corporation (including any constitueh& constituent) absorbed in a consolidation org®e which, if its separate existence had
continued would have had power and authority t@imdify its directors, officers, and employees ogrtg, so that any person who is or was a
director, officer or employee of such constituemtporation, or is or was serving at the requestuch constituent corporation as a director,
officer, employee or agent of another corporatfartnership, joint venture, trust or other entexgrishall stand in the same position under the
provisions of this Article XII with respect to tlesulting or surviving corporation as such persauld have with respect to such constituent
corporation if its separate existence had continued

() For purposes of this Article XlI, references‘ther enterprises” shall include employee beréins; references to “fineshall include
any excise taxes assessed on a person with reéematemployee benefit plan; and references to/lisgrat the request of the Corporation”
shall include any service as a director, officeemployee of the Corporation which imposes dutigsoo involves services by, such director,
officer or employee with respect to an employeeefieplan, its participants, or beneficiaries; anderson who acted in good faith and in a
manner such person reasonably believed to be iimttest of the participants and beneficiariearmeEmployee benefit plan shall be deemed t
have acted in a manner “not opposed to the beseisiis of the Corporation” as referred to in thigcde XII.

(k) The rights granted pursuant to, this Articld ¥hall, unless otherwise provided when authori@erhtified, continue as to a person who
has ceased to be an Indemnitee and shall inuhetbenefit of the heirs, executors and administsatbésuch a person.

() If any provision or provisions of this Articlll shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenéeable for any reason whatsoever (1) the
validity, legality and enforceability of the remaig provisions of this Article XII (including, withut limitation, all portions of any paragraphs
of this Article XII containing any such provisiohgld to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, theg not by themselves invalid, illegal or
unenforceable) shall not in any way be affecteninpaired thereby, and (2) to the fullest extentsilae, the provisions of this Article XII
(including, without limitation, all portions of aryaragraph of this Article XlI containing any syatovision held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable, that are not by themselves inviligdjal or unenforceable) shall be construed stwagve effect to the intent manifested by the
provision held invalid, illegal or unenforceable.

ARTICLE XIII.
Waiver of Notice.
Whenever any notice whatever is required to bergbsestatute, the Certificate of Incorporationtoege By-Laws, a waiver thereof in
writing, signed by the person or persons entittedaid notice, whether before or after the timeestéherein, shall be deemed equivalent

thereto.
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ARTICLE XIV.
Amendments.

These By-Laws may be altered, amended or repeal@dole or in part, and new By-Laws may be adopiredvhole or in part, by the
affirmative vote of the holders of record of a mi#joof the outstanding stock of the Corporatiorg®nt in person or represented by proxy anc
entitled to vote in respect thereof, given at amuah meeting or at any special meeting at which@gm shall be present, or by the affirmative
vote of a majority of the whole Board of Directgisen at any meeting. Any By-Law made, altered, iaaeel or repealed by the Board of
Directors shall be subject to alteration, amendroemépeal by vote of stockholders as provided abov

ARTICLE XV.
Forum for Adjudication of Disputes

Unless the Corporation consents in writing to thlection of an alternative forum, the sole and esigke forum for (i) any derivative action
or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporat{@hany action asserting a claim of breach oidaiary duty owed by any director or offic
or other employee of the Corporation to the Corpaneor its stockholders, (iii) any action assegtanclaim against the Corporation or any
director or officer or other employee of the Colttn arising pursuant to any provision of the Delee General Corporation Law or the
Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation or thdsgLaws (in each case as they may be amendedtfroento time), or (iv) any action
asserting a claim against the Corporation or argcthr or officer or other employee of the Corpimragoverned by the internal affairs doctr
shall be the Delaware Court of Chancery (or, iffleaware Court of Chancery does not have jurigaticthe federal district court for the
District of Delaware).

(The remainder of this page is left blank intentilby)
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Exhibit 10.6D

THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE
DEFERRED INCOME PLAN FOR TEXTRON EXECUTIVES

(RESTATEMENT EFFECTIVE JANUARY 3, 2010)

The Deferred Income Plan for Textron Executives (flan”) is hereby amended, effective January0152 by adding a new
Appendix C, to read in its entirety as attachectteer

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Textron Inc. has caused thigagment to be executed by its duly authorized effic

TEXTRON INC.

Dated: December 12, 2014 By /s/ Cheryl H. Johnsao
Cheryl H. Johnso
Executive Vice President, Human Resoul




DEFERRED INCOME PLAN FOR TEXTRON EXECUTIVES
APPENDIX C - - BEECHCRAFT SUB-ACCOUNTS

Effective January 1, 2015, the 2013 Beechcraft Ex@&avings and Deferred Compensation Plan (thectReaft Plan”) is frozen to new
deferrals and merged into the Plan. As a resudtioh merger, Beechcraft Plan balances (valued afieket close on December 31, 2014) shal
be balances under the Plan and shall be subjéiee terms of the Plan, except as otherwise proviidéis Appendix C.

1. Participation and Beechcraft Sub-accountEach individual who had an account under the Baaéhelan immediately before the
merger shall become a Participant immediately dftemerger. The balance of each affected Partitpaccount immediately after the
merger shall equal his account under the Beechetaftimmediately before the merger (valued aftarket close on December 31, 2014)
(“Beechcraft Sub-account”). Each Participant’'s Bexaft Sub-account balance shall be accountecefrarately from any other balance.

2. Vesting. Effective immediately after the merger, each BeegfttGSub-account shall be fully vested.
3. Investment Measures.

a. Initial Allocation. After the merger, each Beechcraft Sub-account balahall be adjusted for investment gains and $pdsesed on
the Moody’s Account or the Stock Unit Account, la¢ same time and in the same manner as other RlzouAts. Each Beechcraft
Sub-account balance shall be allocated to the Msolscount or the Stock Unit Account in accordamgth elections made by the
affected Participants before the merger. If ancaéfe Participant did not file an election before tieadline established by the Plan’s
administrator, his Beechcraft Sub-account shallllxated to the Moody’s Account.

b. Changing Investment AllocatioAfter the merger, the rules in Section 3.05 ofRten for transferring Account balances shall ajpp
transferred Beechcraft Sub-account balances. Aoagiyd a Participant shall not be permitted to apathe investment allocation for
his Beechcraft Sub-account balances until aftdrdseSeparated From Service; and after a Sepafation Service, a Participant may
transfer amounts from the Stock Unit Account toMmody’s Account, but not from the Moody’s Accouatthe Stock Unit Account.

4. Time and Form of Payment.Beechcraft Sub-account balances shall be paiceatrtte and in the form prescribed by the Beechéklin
and the affected Participant’s payment electioreffiect on December 31, 2014. The Plan’s admirnistraay modify the timing of benefit
payments to the extent that it determines is apatepto simplify plan administration; provided tle timing of benefit payments shall
not be changed in a way that would violate a reznént of IRC Section 409A.

5. Beneficiary DesignationsEffective January 1, 2015, the Beneficiary for aiegant’'s Beechcraft Sub-account shall be deteediin
accordance with Article VI of the Plan (based om Barticipant’s designation for benefits underRlan or the default prescribed by
Section 6.02 of the Plan). Beneficiary designatimagle under the Beechcraft Plan shall not appér &fecember 31, 2014.




EXHIBIT 12.1

TEXTRON INC.
MANUFACTURING GROUP
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF INCOME TO FIXED CHARGES
(unaudited)
(In millions, except ratio)

Twelve Months
Ended
January 3, 201

Fixed charges

Interest expense $ 148
Estimated interest portion of rer 40
Total fixed charge $ 188
Income:
Income from continuing operations before incomes $ 853
Fixed charge 188
Eliminate pretax income of Finance grc (21)
Adjusted income $ 1,020
Ratio of income to fixed charg: 5.43

* Includes interest expense on all third-party inddhess, except for interest related to unrecogriaetienefits,
which is included in income tax expense.




EXHIBIT 12.2

TEXTRON INC.
INCLUDING ALL MAJORITY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF INCOME TO FIXED CHARGES
(unaudited)
(In millions, except ratio)

Twelve Months
Ended
January 3, 201

Fixed charges

Interest expense $ 191
Estimated interest portion of rer 40
Total fixed charge $ 231
Income:
Income from continuing operations before income $ 853
Fixed charge 231
Adjusted income $ 1,084
Ratio of income to fixed charg: 4.69

* Includes interest expense on all third-party inddbess, except for interest related to unrecogriaetienefits,
which is included in income tax expense.




Exhibit 21

Certain Subsidiaries of Textron Inc.*
(Unless indicated otherwise, all entities listed are wholly-owned.)

* Other subsidiaries, which considered in the aggregate do not constitute a significant subsidiary, are omitted from this list.

Name Jurisdiction
TEXTRON INC. Delaware
Avco Corporation Delaware
Avco Rhode Island (2002) Inc. Delaware
Overwatch Systems, Ltd. Delaware
Medical Numerics, Inc. Virginia
Textron Systems Corporation Delaware
Textron Systems Rhode Island (2001) Inc. Delaware
United Industrial Corporation Delaware
AAI Corporation Maryland
AAI Aerosonde Pty Ltd. Australia
Aerosonde Pty Ltd. Australia
AAl Services Corporation Maryland
ESL Defence (Holdings) Ltd. England
ESL Defence Limited England
Bell Helicopter KK Japan
Bell Helicopter Textron Inc. Delaware
Bell Helicopter Rhode Island Inc. Delaware
Bell Helicopter Services Inc. Delaware
Bell Helicopter Asia (Pte) Ltd. Singapore
Bell Helicopter Korea Inc. Delaware
Bell Technical Services Inc. Delaware

B/K Navigational Equipment sro

Czech Republic

Bell Helicopter Prague , a.s. (67%; 33% - Bell Helicopter Services Inc.)

Czech Republic

Aviation Service servis letal, doo, Ljubljana Slovenia
Klauke Polska Sp. z 0.0. Poland
Edwards Rotorcraft Solutions Inc Delaware
McTurbine Inc. Texas
SkyBOOKS Inc. Delaware
Cadillac Gage Textron Inc. Michigan
Greenlee Textron Inc. Delaware
HD Electric Company lllinois
Sherman & Reilly Holdings, Inc. Delaware
Sherman & Reilly , Inc. Tennessee
Jacobsen Professional Lawn Care Inc. Delaware
Kautex Inc. Delaware
McCord Corporation Michigan
Kautex of Georgia Inc. Massachusetts
MillenWorks California
Textron Airland, LLC Delaware
Textron Atlantic LLC Delaware
E-Z-GO Canada Limited Canada
Kautex Poland Sp. z.0.0 Poland
Klauke Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H. Austria
Textron Acquisition Limited England
Doncaster Citation Service Centre Limited England
Ransomes Investment LLC Delaware
Ransomes America Corporation Delaware
Cushman Inc. Delaware
Ransomes Inc. Wisconsin
STE Holding Inc. Wisconsin
Ransomes Limited England
Ransomes Jacobsen Limited England
Rotor Blades Limited England
Textron Ground Support Equipment UK Limited England
Textron Limited England
Greenlee Communications Limited England
Klauke UK Limited England
Kautex Textron (UK) Limited England
Textron International Holding, S.L. Spain

Bell Helicopter Supply Center B.V.

Netherlands
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Name Jurisdiction
Textron International Holding, S.L. (continued from prior page) Spain
Bell Helicopter Supply Center B.V. (continued from prior page) Netherlands
Bell Helicopter Textron Canada Limited/Limitée Canada
Bell Helicopter Canada International Inc. Canada
Cessna Zurich Citation Service Center GmbH Switzerland
Kautex Textron CVS Limited England
Kautex Textron Ibérica, S.L. Spain
Cessna Spanish Citation Service Center SL (99.96875%; 0.03125% - Textron International Holding, | Spain
SL)
Kautex Craiova srl (99.9835%; 0.0165% - Textron International Holding, SL) Romania
Kautex Textron do Brasil Ltda. (99.9%; 1 share - Textron International Holding, S.L.) Brazil
Kautex Textron Portugal — Produtos Plasticos, Ldas. Portugal
Textron Capital B.V. Netherlands
Kautex Textron GmbH & Co. K.G. (94.82%; 5.18% - Textron International Holding, S.L.) Germany
Cessna Disseldorf Citation Service Center GmbH Germany
Gustav Klauke GmbH (94.9%; 5.1% - Textron International Holding, S.L.) Germany
Textron Iberia, SL Spain
Kautex (Changchun) Plastics Technology Co., Ltd. PRC
Textron Germany Holding GmbH Germany
Kautex Corporation Nova Scotia
Kautex Textron Benelux B.V.B.A. (99.9%; 1 share — Kautex Textron Ibérica, S.L.) Belgium

Kautex Textron Bohemia spol. s.r.o.

Czech Republic

Kautex Japan KK

Japan

Kautex Shanghai GmbH Germany
Kautex (Chongqing) Plastic Technology Co., Ltd. PRC
Kautex (Guangzhou) Plastic Technology Co., Ltd. PRC
Kautex (Shanghai) Plastic Technology Co., Ltd. PRC

Kautex Textron de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. (99.98%; 0.02% - Textron International Mexico

Holding, S.L.)

Kautex Textron Management Services Company de Puebla, S. de R.L. de C.V. (98%; | Mexico

2% - Textron International Holding, S.L.)

LLC Klauke RUS (99.99%; 0.01% - Textron International Holding, SL)

Russian Federation

Klauke Slovakia sro (99.98%; 0.02% - Textron International Holding, SL)

Slovakia

Textron China Holdings S.R.L. (99.9576%; 0.04244% - Textron International Holding, S.L.) | Barbados
Cessna Consulting (Shenyang) Co., Ltd. PRC
Textron Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. PRC
Textron Motors GmbH Germany
Textron France Holding S.A.R.L. (99.9%; 1 share — Textron France E.U.R.L.) France
Cessna Citation European Service Center S.A.S. (99.9%; 1 share — Textron France E.U.R.L.) France
Klauke France SARL France
Textron France E.U.R.L. France
Ransomes Jacobsen France S.A.S. France
Textron Aviation Inc. Kansas
Beech Holdings, LLC Delaware
Beech Enterprises Holding, LLC Delaware
Beech Enterprises, LLC Delaware
Beechcraft Holdings, LLC Delaware
Beechcraft Corporation Kansas
Arkansas Aerospace, Inc. Arkansas
Beechcraft Defense Company, LLC Delaware
HBC, LLC Kansas
Hawker Beechcraft (Bermuda) Ltd. Bermuda
Hawker Beech de Mexico S de RL de CV (>99%; <1% - HBC, LLC) Mexico
Hawker Beechcraft Global Customer Support, LLC Kansas
Hawker Beechcraft Global Customer Support Holding, LLC Delaware
Beechcraft New Zealand New Zealand
King Atmosphere General & Industrial Services and Project Management, LLC Iraq
Hawker Beechcraft Quality Support Company Kansas
Beechcraft Domestic Service Company Kansas
Beechcraft Aviation Company Kansas
Beechcraft International Delivery Corporation Kansas
Beechcraft International Service Company Kansas
Beechcraft Australia Pty Limited Australia
Beechcraft Austria GmbH Austria
Beechcraft (Beijing) Consulting Company, Ltd. PRC
Beechcraft Germany GmbH Germany
Beechcraft India Private Limited (99%; 1% - Beechcraft International Holding LLC) India




Beechcraft International Holding LLC | Delaware |
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Name Jurisdiction
Beechcraft International Service Company (continued from prior page) Kansas
Beechcraft International Holding LLC (continued from prior page) Delaware
Beechcraft Service Company UK Limited England
Beechcraft Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore
Hawker Beech International Services de Mexico S de RL de CV (>99%; <1% - HBC, Mexico
LLC)
Hawker Beechcraft Argentina SA (95%; 5% - Arkansas Aerospace, Inc.) Argentina
Hawker Beechcraft do Brasil Assessoria e Intermediacao de Negocios Ltda. (99%; 1% | Brazil
- Beechcraft International Holding LLC)
Hawker Beechcraft International Service Company Spain SL Spain
LLC Hawker Beechcraft International RSA (99%; 1% - Beechcraft International Russian Federation
Holding LLC)
Hawker Beechcraft Finance Corporation Delaware
Hawker Beechcraft Holding, Inc. Kansas
Hawker Beechcraft Notes Company Delaware
Travel Air Insurance Company, Ltd. Kansas
Travel Air Insurance Company (Kansas) Kansas
Cessna Aircraft Company Kansas
Cessna Aircraft Rhode Island Inc. Delaware
Cessna Mexico S de RL de CV (99.97%; 0.03% - Citation Parts Distribution International, Inc.) Mexico
Cessna Service Direct L.L.C. Kansas
Citation Parts Distribution International, Inc . Kansas
CitationShares Sales, Inc. Delaware
CitationShares Management, L.L.C. Delaware
Textron China Inc. Delaware
Textron Far East Pte. Ltd. Singapore
Klauke Textron (Jiangsu) Electrical Connection Technology Co., Ltd. PRC
Textron India Private Limited (99.9%; 1 share — Textron Inc.) India
Textron Fastening Systems Inc. Delaware
Textron Financial Corporation Delaware
Cessna Finance Corporation Kansas
Textron Finance Holding Company Delaware
Cessna Finance Export Corporation Delaware
Textron Aviation Finance Corporation Delaware
Textron Fluid and Power Inc. Delaware
Textron Global Services Inc. Delaware
Textron International Inc. Delaware
Textron International Mexico, S de RL de CV (99%; 1% - Textron Atlantic LLC) Mexico
Textron IPMP Inc. Delaware
Textron Innovations Inc. Delaware
Textron Management Services Inc. Delaware
Textron Realty Corporation Delaware
Textron Rhode Island Inc. Delaware
Textron Specialized Vehicles Inc. Delaware
MillenWorks Themed Technologies California
Textron Motors North America Inc. Delaware
TUG Technologies Corporation Delaware
Textron Systems Canada Inc. Ontario
Opto-Electronics Inc. Ontario
TRAK International, Inc. Delaware
TRU Simulation & Training Inc. Delaware
OPINICUS Simulation and Training Services, LLC Delaware
ProFlight, LLC California
TRU Simulation & Training Canada Inc. Ontario
Westminster Insurance Company Vermont
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Exhibit 2%

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking

We consent to the incorporation by reference infthewing Registration Statements: Form S-8 No3-397690 pertaining to the Textt
Savings Plan and the Textron Canada Savings Plam 5-8 No. 333-124723 pertaining to the 1999 Ldegn Incentive Plan, Form &-
No. 333144977 pertaining to the 2007 Long-Term Incen®an, and Form S-3 No. 3337664 pertaining to the automatic shelf regisin
of common stock, preferred stock, senior debt seéesitand subordinated debt securities of Textran of our reports dated February 25, 2
with respect to the Consolidated Financial Statémand schedule of Textron Inc. and the effectisenef internal control over financ
reporting of Textron Inc. included in this Annuagport (Form 10-K) for the year ended January 35201

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 25, 2015




Exhibit 24

POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned, Textron Inc. (“Textron”) a Delaware corporation, and the undersigned directors and officers
of Textron, do hereby constitute and appoint E. Robert Lupone, Elizabeth C. Perkins, Jayne M. Donegan and
Ann T. Willaman, and each of them, with full powers of substitution, their true and lawful attorneys and agents
to do or cause to be done any and all acts and things and to execute and deliver any and all instruments and
documents which said attorneys and agents, or any of them, may deem necessary or advisable in order to
enable Textron to comply with the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any requirements
of the Securities and Exchange Commission in respect thereof, in connection with the filing of Textron’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 3, 2015, including specifically, but without
limitation, power and authority to sign the names of the undersigned directors and officers in the capacities
indicated below and to sign the names of such officers on behalf of Textron to such Annual Report filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, to any and all amendments to such Annual Report, to any
instruments or documents or other writings in which the original or copies thereof are to be filed as a part of or
in connection with such Annual Report or amendments thereto, and to file or cause to be filed the same with
the Securities and Exchange Commission; and each of the undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that
such attorneys and agents, and each of them, shall do or cause to be done hereunder and such attorneys
and agents, and each of them, shall have, and may exercise, all of the powers hereby conferred.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Textron has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed and delivered in
its name and on its behalf by the undersigned duly authorized officer and its corporate seal affixed, and each
of the undersigned has signed his or her name thereto, as of the 25th day of February, 2015.

TEXTRON INC.

SEAL By: /s/ Scott C. Donnelly
Scott C. Donnelly
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

ATTEST:

/s/ E. Robert Lupone

E. Robert Lupone

Executive Vice President, General Counsel,
Secretary and Chief Compliance Officer




/s/ Scott C. Donnelly

Scott C. Donnelly

Chairman, President, Chief
Executive Officer and Director
(principal executive officer)

/s/ Kathleen M. Bader

Kathleen M. Bader
Director

/sl R. Kerry Clark

R. Kerry Clark
Director

/sl James T. Conway

James T. Conway
Director

/s/ Ivor J. Evans

Ivor J. Evans
Director

/s/ Lawrence K. Fish

Lawrence K. Fish
Director

/s/ Paul E. Gagné

Paul E. Gagné
Director

/s/ Dain M. Hancock

Dain M. Hancock
Director

/s/ Lord Powell of Bayswater KCMG

Lord Powell of Bayswater KCMG
Director

/sl Lloyd G. Trotter

Lloyd G. Trotter
Director

/s/ James L. Ziemer

James L. Ziemer
Director

/s/ Frank T. Connor

Frank T. Connor

Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)

/s/ Mark S. Bamford

Mark S. Bamford
Vice President and Corporate Controller
(principal accounting officer)




Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Scott C. Donnelly, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Textron Inc. certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Textron Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2015 /s/ Scott C. Donnelly

Scott C. Donnelly
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Frank T. Connor, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Textron Inc. certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Textron Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2015 /s/ Frank T. Connor

Frank T. Connor
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

TEXTRON INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Textron Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended January 3, 2015 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the Date hereof (the “Report”), |, Scott C. Donnelly, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 25, 2015 /sl Scott C. Donnelly
Scott C. Donnelly
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

TEXTRON INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Textron Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended January 3, 2015 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the Date hereof (the “Report”), I, Frank T. Connor, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 25, 2015 /sl Frank T. Connor
Frank T. Connor
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




